كليـــــة العلوم السملالية - مراكش MARRAKECH السملالية - مراكش FACULTÉ DES SCIENCES SEMLALIA - MARRAKECH

THÈSE

présentée à la Faculté des Sciences Semlalia pour obtenir le grade de :

Docteur

CED : Sciences Techniques et Ingénierie : Spécialité : Mathématiques et Applications

Cohomologie des formes différentielles co-invariantes et sous-groupes abéliens sans torsion de groupes de Lie.

par :

Mehdi NABIL

(Master : Géométrie, Modélisation Géométrique et Optimisation de Formes)

Soutenue le 9 octobre 2020 devant la commission d'examen :

Président	M'HAMMED EL KAHOUI	Université Cadi Ayyad, Marrakech
Rapporteurs	Aziz El Kacimi Alaoui	Université Polytechnique Hauts-de-France
	CAMILLE LAURENT GENGOUX	Université de Lorraine
Encadrant	ABDELHAK ABOUQATEB	Université Cadi Ayyad, Marrakech
Co- $Encadrant$	Mohamed Boucetta	Université Cadi Ayyad, Marrakech
Examinateurs	HAMID ABCHIR	Université Hassan II, Casablanca
	AZZOUZ AWANE	Université Hassan II, Casablanca

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank professor Abdelhak Abouqateb for his great instruction and overall involvement in the preparation of this thesis, which would not have been possible without his constant effort and important suggestions. I'm also grateful to professor Abouqateb for his encouragement during my graduation years, when it was mostly needed, my passion for topology and geometry was to a large extent influenced by his dedication to the subject, and the knowledge I acquired while attending his lectures was the first stepping stone toward my current expertise in these matters.

I equally thank my co-advisor, professor Mohamed Boucetta for taking an active part in the process, his remarks and contributions were vital for the continuity of this thesis, I also thank him for his devotion to keeping the field of pure mathematics in Morocco alive by organizing a monthly seminar, providing an ideal environment where mathematicians in geometry, topology and algebra from all over the country can bond and collaborate.

I convey my vast appreciation to professor M'hammed El Kahoui for taking interest in this work and honoring this dissertation as chairman of the assessment commitee.

Greetings goes as well to Professors Aziz El Kacimi Alaoui, Camille Laurent Gengoux and Seddik Ouakkas for taking the time to carefully inspect the details of this thesis and kindly reporting on it. Special thanks to Professor Aziz El Kacimi for casting light on various questions and for proposing some prospects for future research.

Huge thanks to Professors Hamid Abchir and Azzouz Awane for clearing their schedule in order to assist to the thesis defense as members of the examining committee, especially in this difficult period of epidemic.

I seize this opportunity to also thank Oumaima Tibssirte, who has been a very supportive friend and teammate throughout this whole period, and has never hesitated to provide her help, I wish her all the best luck and success in her thesis.

Finally, I dedicate this thesis as well as any future success to my parents, for their unconditional love and support, for always believing in me and selflessly assisting me in every decision with every possible resource. I cannot mention enough reasons the more I try, mere words cannot express a lifetime of gratitude. In this respect I consider this thesis to be theirs as much as it is mine and I hope to be at the height of their expectations.

Contents

1	Ger	neral Introduction	1
	1.1	Part 1: Cohomology of Co-invariant Differential Forms	1
	1.2	Part 2: Maximal Abelian Torsion-free Subgroups of Lie Groups	4
	1.3	Perspectives	5
		1.3.1 Isometric Actions on Pseudo-Riemannian Manifolds	6
		1.3.2 Existence of compact Clifford-Klein Forms	6
		1.3.3 Links Between the Cohomologies of Divergence forms and Co-invariant	
		forms	6
		1.3.4 The invariants $p(G)$ and $q(G)$ in more general situations	7
2	Coh	nomology of co-invariant Differential forms	9
	2.1	Introduction	9
	2.2	Group Actions on Vector Spaces	11
	2.3	Action of a Finite Group on a Compact Manifold	13
	2.4	Action by Isometries on a compact manifold	14
	2.5	Group Actions on Noncompact Manifolds	19
	2.6	Properties of Co-invariant Cohomology	26
		2.6.1 Homotopy Invariance	26
		2.6.2 Mayer-Vietoris sequence	26
	2.7	Examples with infinite dimensional co-invariant cohomology $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	29
		2.7.1 The Hyperbolic Torus	29
3	On	a type of maximal abelian torsion free	
	subgroups of connected Lie groups 3		35
	3.1	Introduction and statement of main results	35
	3.2	Generalities on $p(G)$ and $q(G)$	36
	3.3	Finite cover of Lie groups	41
	3.4	The case of an exponential Lie group	43
	3.5	The case of a nilpotent Lie group	45

A	Gro	up Actions, Fiber Bundles and Classifying Bundles	55
	A.1	Group Actions	55
	A.2	Fiber bundles, Vector bundles and Principal bundles	57
	A.3	Operations on Fiber bundles	60
	A.4	Classifying bundles	61
B	De	Rham Cohomology	63
	B.1	Differential Complexes and Cohomology	63
	B.2	Generalities on De Rham Cohomology	64
	B.3	Harmonic forms on compact manifolds	68
С	C Lattices of Nilpotent Lie groups		71
	C.1	Generalities on Lattices of Topological Groups	71
	C.2	Generalities on Nilpotent Lie Groups	74
	C.3	Lattices of Nilpotent Lie Groups	75

Summary

The first part of this thesis focuses on the theme of group actions on smooth manifolds and cohomology. Our contribution was to introduce a new cohomology attached to group actions on smooth manifolds called *"Cohomology of co-invariant differential forms"*. More precisely, let M be a manifold endowed with an action of a group Γ , we are interersted in studying the graded vector space spanned by $\omega - \gamma^* \omega$ where ω is a differential form with compact support and $\gamma \in \Gamma$. The results of this part are the subject of [1].

In the second part of this thesis, we introduce and study two new invariants associated to any connected Lie group. More precisely, given a connected Lie group G we define p(G) as the maximal integer p such that \mathbb{Z}^p is isomorphic to a discrete subgroup of G, likewise we define q(G) to be the maximal integer q for which \mathbb{R}^q is isomorphic to a closed subgroup of G. Our study concerns connected nilpotent Lie groups and the relations of these two invariants with a well-known algebraic invariants, namely the rank of the fundamental group $\pi_1(G)$ and $\mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{g})$, i.e the maximum among the dimensions of abelian subalgebras of the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} of G. The full extent of these results are presented in [3].



General Introduction

In this chapter

1.1 Tart 1. Conomology of Co-mivariant Differ-	
ential Forms	
1.2 Part 2: Maximal Abelian Torsion-free Sub-	
groups of Lie Groups	
1.3 Perspectives	

This chapter provides the main guidelines by which we proceed throughout this document. The first two sections contain the technical layout and statements of the central results, these will be discussed with further details in Chapters 2 and 3. The final part of this chapter is dedicated to the discussion of open questions and problems that were raised during the period of preparation of this thesis and which may take part in future research plans.

1.1 Part 1: Cohomology of Co-invariant Differential Forms

The first part of the thesis, which is the topic of Chapter 2, is for the most part an exposition of the article entitled "Cohomology of Co-invariant Differential Forms" that was published in "Journal of Lie Theory". In this work, we introduce a new complex $\Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma}$ that is attached to an action by diffeomorphisms of a group Γ on a smooth manifold M and which consists of co-invariant differential forms i.e compactly supported forms ω that

can be expressed as a finite sum $\omega = \sum_i \omega_i - \gamma_i^* \omega_i$ with $\omega_i \in \Omega_c(M)$ and $\gamma_i \in \Gamma$. The reason for this specific labeling is that in many situations, co-invariant differential forms share a complementary relationship with invariant differential forms i.e differential forms ω on Msatisfying $\omega = \gamma^* \omega$ for any $\gamma \in \Gamma$, for instance when M is a compact manifold and Γ is a finite group, then it is shown that $\Omega(M) = \Omega(M)_{\Gamma} \oplus \Omega(M)^{\Gamma}$ where $\Omega(M)^{\Gamma}$ denotes the complex of invariant forms on M. The main goal of the article was to prove that in more general settings, the same behavior is still preserved at the cohomology level. We start with the case of an isometric action on a compact Riemannian manifold as a natural generalization of finite group actions, here is a statement of the main results of this part:

THEOREM 1.1.0.1. Let Γ be a group acting by isometries on a compact oriented Riemannian manifold M. Then the map $\Phi : \mathrm{H}^p(\Omega(M)_{\Gamma}) \oplus \mathrm{H}^p(\Omega(M)^{\Gamma}) \longrightarrow \mathrm{H}^p(M)$ given by the expression $\Phi([\omega]_{\Gamma} \oplus [\eta]^{\Gamma}) = [\omega + \eta]$ is an isomorphism satisfying:

$$\Phi(\mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega(M)_{\Gamma})) = \mathrm{H}^{p}(M)_{\Gamma} \quad and \quad \Phi(\mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega(M)^{\Gamma})) = \mathrm{H}^{p}(M)^{\Gamma}.$$
(1.1)

In particular if $\rho(\Gamma) \subset \text{Isom}(M)^0$ then $H^p(M) \simeq H^p(\Omega(M)^{\Gamma})$.

The proof of this Theorem relies on the theory of harmonic forms on compact manifolds presented in Appendix B. As a consequence, we get another proof of the following classic result:

COROLLARY 1.1.0.1. Let G be a compact connected Lie group with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . Let $H(\mathfrak{g})$ denote the Lie algebra cohomology of \mathfrak{g} , then $H^p(G) \simeq H^p(\mathfrak{g})$.

The next step in the article was to discuss the relationship between the cohomologies of invariant and co-invariant differential forms in the context of properly discontinuous actions, the motivation for this choice is that this type of group actions represents the natural extension of finite group actions into the non-compact framework (in fact, in the compact case properly discontinuous actions are exactly finite group actions). Let Γ be a group acting properly discontinuous by diffeomorphisms on a smooth manifold M, as it is the case with finite group actions, one is able in this setting to define the *average* $m(\omega)$ of a compactly supported differential form ω by the expression $m(\omega) = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma^* \omega$, note that this does make sense since the previous sum is finite when ω is restricted to any relatively compact subset of M and therefore results in a smooth Γ -invariant form on M, moreover it can be shown that supp $m(\omega)/\Gamma$ is compact i.e $m(\omega)$ has Γ -compact support. In summary we get a linear map $m : \Omega_c(M) \longrightarrow \Omega(M)_{\Gamma_c}^{\Gamma}$ where $\Omega(M)_{\Gamma_c}^{\Gamma}$ is the complex of Γ -invariant differential forms on M with Γ -compact support.

PROPOSITION 1.1.0.1. Let Γ be a group acting properly discontinuously on a smooth

manifold *M*. The average map $m : \Omega_c(M) \longrightarrow \Omega(M)_{\Gamma_c}^{\Gamma}$ is surjective and ker $(m) = \Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma}$. In order to prove this Proposition, we made use of the following technical Lemma which gives the existence of a special type of functions:

LEMMA 1.1.0.1 (CUTOFF FUNCTIONS). Let Γ be a discrete group acting properly discontinously on a smooth manifold M. There exists a positive function $\phi: M \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ which is \mathscr{C}^{∞} such that for any compact $B \subset M/\Gamma$, $\operatorname{supp}(\phi) \cap \pi^{-1}(B)$ is compact. Furthermore we have:

$$\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \phi \circ \gamma = 1. \tag{1.2}$$

The function $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M)$ is called a Γ -cutoff function.

Here is the statement of the main Theorem of this part:

THEOREM 1.1.0.2. Let Γ be a group that acts properly discontinuously on a manifold M. Then we have the following short exact sequence:

$$0 \to \Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma} \xrightarrow{\iota} \Omega_c(M) \xrightarrow{m} \Omega(M)_{\Gamma c}^{\Gamma} \to 0, \qquad (1.3)$$

which in turn gives rise to a long exact cohomology sequence:

$$\cdots \to \mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega_{c}(M)_{\Gamma}) \xrightarrow{\iota} \mathrm{H}^{p}_{c}(M) \xrightarrow{m} \mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega(M)_{\Gamma_{c}}^{\Gamma}) \xrightarrow{\delta} \mathrm{H}^{p+1}(\Omega_{c}(M)_{\Gamma}) \to \dots$$
(1.4)

Moreover, the connecting homomorphism $\delta : \mathrm{H}^p(\Omega(M)_{\Gamma_c}^{\Gamma}) \longrightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p+1}(\Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma})$ is given by the expression:

$$\delta([\omega]^{\Gamma}) = [\mathrm{d}\phi \wedge \omega]_{\Gamma},$$

for any cutoff function $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M)$.

To end the paragraph, it is worth to mention that the Cohomology of co-invariant differential forms, has been developed as a kind of generalization of the *Cohomology of divergence forms* introduced in [4] by Pr. A. Abouqateb in order to resolve some problems of group actions on manifolds where the Lie group structure is absent i.e actions of topological groups or when the Lie algebra does not provide much information about the action of the Lie group, this happens for instance when one considers the action of a discrete Lie group on a manifold, in which case the Lie algebra of the group is trivial.

1.2 Part 2: Maximal Abelian Torsion-free Subgroups of Lie Groups

In this part, we give a brief review of the paper "On a type of Maximal Abelian Torsion-free subgroups of Connected Lie groups" that were recently published in the scientific journal "Abhandlungen aus dem Mathematischen Seminar der Universität Hamburg". The complete context of the presented statements as well as their full proofs can be consulted with more details in Chapter 3. In this article, we introduce two integers p(G) and q(G) that are naturally associated to a connected Lie group G and which measure to some extent the maximal size of abelian torsion-free Lie subgroups of G, namely:

 $p(G) = \max\{p \in \mathbb{N}, \mathbb{Z}^p \text{ is isomorphic to a discrete subgroup of } G\}.$

 $q(G) = \max\{q \in \mathbb{N}, \mathbb{R}^q \text{ is isomorphic to a closed subgroup of } G\}.$

Before proceeding to the main study, the first step was to make sure that these integers are non-trivial (nonzero for a large class of Lie groups) and well-defined (are indeed integers and not infinite), this is provided by the following result:

PROPOSITION 1.2.0.1. Let G be a noncompact connected Lie group. Then:

$$1 \le q(G) \le p(G) \le \dim(G/K),$$

where K is a maximal compact subgroup of G. In particular p(G) is finite.

The next Proposition summarizes some general properties of the integers p(G) and q(G): **PROPOSITION 1.2.0.2.** Let G be a connected Lie group. We have the following properties:

1. Assume that $G = G_1 \times G_2$ for some connected Lie groups G_1 and G_2 , then:

 $p(G) = p(G_1) + p(G_2)$ and $q(G) = q(G_1) + q(G_2)$.

2. Let $\tilde{G} \xrightarrow{\pi} G$ be a finite cover of Lie groups, then $p(\tilde{G}) = p(G)$ and $q(\tilde{G}) = q(G)$.

It should be noted that 2 does not hold for an infinite cover of Lie groups (for more details, see Examples 3.3.0.2 and 3.3.0.3). The remaining part shifts from the general case into more specific situations and illustrates how the integers p(G) and q(G) may differ significantly depending on the nature of the Lie group G. It also points to the relationship that these invariants may share with the abelian dimension $\mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{g})$ of the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} of G i.e the maximal dimension of an abelian subalgebra of the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . Here is an example when this occurs:

PROPOSITION 1.2.0.3. Let G be an exponential Lie group. Then:

$$p(G) = q(G) = \mathcal{M}(g)$$

Simply connected nilpotent Lie groups represents an important class of exponential Lie groups and one may naturally ask whether a general nilpotent Lie group G exhibits the same behavior from the perspective of the integer p(G) and q(G). The first results in this direction are stated as follows:

PROPOSITION 1.2.0.4. Let G be a linear connected nilpotent Lie group, then:

 $p(G) = q(G) = \mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{g}) - \operatorname{rank}(\pi_1(G)).$

THEOREM 1.2.0.1. Let G be a connected nilpotent Lie group, then:

$$q(G) = \mathcal{M}(g) - \operatorname{rank}(\pi_1(G)).$$

To this end it may seem that the same result may hold for any connected nilpotent Lie group, but this turns out to be false and the we provided a counter-example to this situation by considering a connected nilpotent Lie group G such that $p(G) \neq q(G)$ (for more details, see Example 3.5.0.1). In fact, it is shown by the analogue Theorem for p(G) in the case of a general nilpotent Lie group is not as easily stated:

THEOREM 1.2.0.2. Let G be a connected nilpotent Lie group and denote \mathfrak{g} its Lie algebra. Then:

$$p(G) = \dim(\mathfrak{n}_0) - \operatorname{rank}(\pi_1(G)),$$

where \mathfrak{n}_0 is of maximal dimension among all 2-step nilpotent Lie subalgebras \mathfrak{n} of \mathfrak{g} such that the Lie group $(\mathfrak{n}, *)$ admits a lattice Γ satisfying $[\Gamma, \Gamma] \subset \ker(\exp_G) \subset \Gamma$.

1.3 Perspectives

The results obtained during the course of this thesis raise many open questions and a handful of situations remain to be explored in the future. We state here a set of problems, some of which are already part of the literature, that we think are approachable using our methods and might be central topic of discussion in upcoming works.

1.3.1 Isometric Actions on Pseudo-Riemannian Manifolds

Let (M,g) be a compact manifold endowed with a Pseudo-Riemannian metric g and let Γ be a group acting on M by Pseudo-Riemannian isometries. PROBLEM 1. Can we formulate an analogue of Theorem 1.1.0.1 in this situation ? What happens in the Lorentzian case ?

In constrast to the Riemannian case, Pseudo-Riemannian structures do not always exist in general and relies on a number of topological requirements that the manifold must satisfy, for instance a Lorentzian metric exists on a compact manifold M if and only if Madmits a nowhere vanishing vector field i.e its Euler class must vanish. These constraints alone make the question more challenging and looking for either answer is a topic that deserves to be addressed.

1.3.2 Existence of compact Clifford-Klein Forms

Let *G* be a Lie group and *H* a connected Lie subgoup. If Γ is any discrete subgroup of *G* acting properly discontinuously and freely on the homogeneous space *G*/*H*, the double quotient $\Gamma \setminus G/H$ is a smooth manifold locally modeled on *G*/*H* called a Clifford-Klein form of *G*/*H*. We say that $\Gamma \subset G \supset H$ is a *Clifford-Klein triplet*, if furthermore the double quotient $\Gamma \setminus G/H$ is compact we say that the triplet $\Gamma \subset G \supset H$ is compact. Clifford-Klein forms has been studied by many authors (see [29, 39, 40, 41] for instance).

PROBLEM 2. Can we use the results of Theorem 1.1.0.2 in the context of homegeneous space in order to study the existence problem of compact Clifford-Klein forms. Will this approach lead to some topological obstructions ?

1.3.3 Links Between the Cohomologies of Divergence forms and Co-invariant forms

Let G be a Lie group with Lie algebra g acting on smooth manifold M by diffeomorphisms, and let Γ be a subgroup of G. In [4], Pr. A. Abouqateb introduced the complex of divergence forms $C_{\mathfrak{g}}(M)$ which consists of differential forms $\omega \in \Omega_c(M)$ that can be written as a finite sum $\omega = \sum_i L_{X_i} \eta_i$ with $X_i \in \mathfrak{g}$ and $\eta_i \in \Omega_c(M)$. When the Lie group G is connected, it is straightforward to check that $\Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma} \subset C_{\mathfrak{g}}(M)$, and this inclusion in turn induces a homomorphism $\iota: H^p(\Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma}) \longrightarrow H^p_{\mathfrak{g}}(M)$ between the cohomologies of the complexes involved. PROBLEM 3. Study the homomorphism $\iota: H^p(\Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma}) \longrightarrow H^p_{\mathfrak{g}}(M)$ in general and in the case when Γ is a lattice of the Lie group G.

1.3.4 The invariants p(G) and q(G) in more general situations

The computation of the integers p(G) and q(G) for a general Lie group G is a difficult problem, but restricting the nature of the Lie group G could make it more approachable as more results concerning the structure of the Lie group become available, this is for instance what has been shown in Theorems 1.2.0.1, 1.2.0.2 and Propositions 1.2.0.3, 1.2.0.4:

PROBLEM 5. Can we prove a similar set of results or generalizations of the previous results for p(G) and q(G) when G is a connected solvable or semisimple Lie group? What can be said about transformation groups (for instance the isometry group of a manifold)?

CHAPTER 1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION



Cohomology of co-invariant Differential forms

In this chapter

2.1	Introduction	9
2.2	Group Actions on Vector Spaces	11
2.3	Action of a Finite Group on a Compact	
	Manifold	13
2.4	Action by Isometries on a compact manifold	14
2.5	Group Actions on Noncompact Manifolds .	19
2.6	Properties of Co-invariant Cohomology	26
2.7	Examples with infinite dimensional co-	
	invariant cohomology	29

2.1 Introduction

The main goal of this chapter is to introduce a cohomological invariant attached to a group action on a manifold, and which can be used to look for obstructions of the existence of certain types of group actions. This new invariant is in a broad sense a generalization of the cohomology of divergence forms (introduced in [4]) when the acting group fails to be a Lie group (or is discrete in which case its Lie algebra is trivial). This usage of cohomology to study group actions has become quite frequent, examples of this practice may be found in [31], [39], [40] and [41] for instance. We start by fixing some notations. Let V be a vector space and $\varphi : \Gamma \times V \longrightarrow V$ an action of group Γ on V by linear isomorphisms, put $\varphi(\gamma, v) := \gamma \cdot v$. Denote by V^{Γ} the vector subspace of V consisting of Γ -invariant vectors and V_{Γ} the vector subspace of Γ -co-invariant vectors, i.e. the vector subspace given by:

$$V_{\Gamma} = \operatorname{span}\{v - \gamma . v, v \in V, \gamma \in \Gamma\}.$$

Let M be a smooth n-dimensional manifold. We denote by Diff(M) the group of diffeomorphisms of *M*. Let $\rho: \Gamma \to \text{Diff}(M)$ be an action of a group Γ on *M* by diffeomorphisms. For an *r*-form ω on *M* and an element $\gamma \in \Gamma$, we denote $\gamma^* \omega$ the pull-back of ω by the diffeomorphism $\rho(\gamma)$. This gives rise to a linear action $(\gamma, \omega) \longrightarrow (\gamma^{-1})^* \omega$ of the group Γ on both $\Omega^{r}(M)$ and $\Omega^{r}_{c}(M)$ to which corresponds a space of Γ -invariant r-forms $\Omega^{r}(M)^{\Gamma}$ and a space of Γ -co-invariant r-forms $\Omega_c^r(M)_{\Gamma}$. It is easy to check that the graded vector spaces $\Omega(M)^{\Gamma} := \bigoplus_{r} \Omega^{r}(M)^{\Gamma}$ and $\Omega_{c}(M)_{\Gamma} := \bigoplus_{r} \Omega_{c}^{r}(M)_{\Gamma}$ are stable under the usual de Rham differential and hence define two cohomologies $H(\Omega(M)^{\Gamma})$ and $H(\Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma})$. To avoid confusion, the cohomology class of a closed differential form ω on M will be written $[\omega]_{\Gamma}$ in $\mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega_{c}(M)_{\Gamma}), [\omega]^{\Gamma}$ in $\mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega(M)^{\Gamma})$ and simply $[\omega]$ in $\mathrm{H}^{p}(M)$. The cohomology $\mathrm{H}(\Omega(M)^{\Gamma})$ also known as the cohomology of invariant forms has been studied by many authors (for instance see [22, 35, 46]), however the cohomology $H(\Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma})$, which we call cohomology of Γ -coinvariant forms, is to our knowledge new and constitutes our main object of study. In order to study a smooth action of a group Γ on a manifold M, we will exhibit relationships relating the differential complexes $\Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma}$, $\Omega(M)^{\Gamma}$ and $\Omega_c(M)$ in various situations, this allows to illustrate the interplay between their respective cohomologies by means of direct sum decompositions or exact sequences, depending on the case of study which maybe viewed as obstructions for the existence of certain types of group actions (Isometric actions or properly discontinuous actions for instance). We note that this method of proceeding is similar to the one that can be found in the article of Morita [39] in which he used a cohomology to find an obstruction for the existence of Clifford-Klein forms.

This chapter is organized in the following manner: We start by some general results of linear group actions on vector spaces which will be useful for the development that will follow. We then address the main problem of the chapter in three parts. The first part is concerned with the action of a finite group Γ on a compact manifold M, in this context we

show that $\Omega(M) = \Omega(M)_{\Gamma} \oplus \Omega(M)^{\Gamma}$, and as a consequence, we get that:

$$\mathbf{H}^{p}(M) \simeq \mathbf{H}^{p}(\Omega(M)_{\Gamma}) \oplus \mathbf{H}^{p}(\Omega(M)^{\Gamma}).$$
(2.1)

The action of the group Γ on $\Omega(M)$ given by the pull-back operation induces a linear action of Γ on the cohomology of M, hence it gives rise to the vector subspaces $H(M)^{\Gamma}$ and $H(M)_{\Gamma}$ of H(M). We prove that:

$$\mathrm{H}^{p}(M)^{\Gamma} \simeq \mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega(M)^{\Gamma}) \text{ and } \mathrm{H}^{p}(M)_{\Gamma} \simeq \mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega(M)_{\Gamma}).$$
 (2.2)

The second part of this chapter is an extension of the first in which we widen our context in order to include isometric actions of an arbitrary group Γ on a compact orientable Riemannian manifold M, the goal is to show that the relations (2.1) and (2.2) still holds in this new setting, this can be interpreted as an obstruction for the existence of Riemannian isometric actions. This part makes use of Hodge theory of harmonic forms (Appendix B). We conclude by applying our results to get a new proof of a well-known theorem on Lie algebra cohomology (see [19], Theorem III, p.163). Finally the third section studies the case of a properly discontinuous action of a group Γ on a smooth manifold M that is not necessarily compact, this again is another generalization of a finite action already seen in the first section. The main result of this part is a long exact sequences relating the cohomologies $H(\Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma}), H_c(M)$ and $H(\Omega(M)^{\Gamma})$ generalizing (2.1) to this situation, the involved operators are defined and studied at the beginning of the paragraph. We then derive some consequences of this result. It is interesting to compare this exact sequence to the one found in [4, Theorem 5.3].

2.2 Group Actions on Vector Spaces

Let *V* be a vector space and Γ a group acting on *V* by linear isomorphisms.

PROPOSITION 2.2.0.1. Suppose that V is finite dimensional and that Γ acts orthogonally on V with respect to a scalar product, then we have the following decomposition:

$$V = V_{\Gamma} \stackrel{\perp}{\oplus} V^{\Gamma}. \tag{2.3}$$

Proof. For all $v \in V^{\Gamma}$, $w \in V$ and $\gamma \in \Gamma$, we have:

$$\langle v, w - \gamma w \rangle = \langle v, w \rangle - \langle \gamma^{-1}v, w \rangle = \langle v, w \rangle - \langle v, w \rangle = 0.$$

Thus V^{Γ} and V_{Γ} are orthogonal subspaces of *V*. Now fix $v \in (V_{\Gamma} \oplus V^{\Gamma})^{\perp}$, since $v \in (V_{\Gamma})^{\perp}$ then for every $\gamma \in \Gamma$, $w \in V$ we have:

$$\langle v - \gamma v, w \rangle = \langle v, w - \gamma^{-1} w \rangle = 0$$

This gives that $v = \gamma v$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$ i.e $v \in V^{\Gamma}$, but $v \in (V^{\Gamma})^{\perp}$ as well hence v = 0. We conclude that $(V_{\Gamma} \oplus V^{\Gamma})^{\perp} = 0$, this leads to the desired result.

As a consequence of this result, we get the following:

COROLLARY 2.2.0.1. Let Γ be a finite group acting linearly on a finite dimensional vector space V, then:

$$V = V_{\Gamma} \oplus V^{\Gamma}. \tag{2.4}$$

Proof. From an arbitrary scalar product \langle , \rangle_0 on V, one can define a Γ -invariant scalar product \langle , \rangle by setting for all $v, w \in V$:

$$\langle v,w\rangle = \sum_{\gamma\in\Gamma} \langle \gamma v,\gamma w\rangle_0$$

Now formula (2.4) is a consequence of Proposition 2.2.0.1.

The preceding result remains true for any vector space V, not necessarily finite dimensional, provided that the group Γ is finite. In order to prove this fact, we consider the linear map $m: V \longrightarrow V$ given by:

$$\mathbf{m}(v) = \frac{1}{|\Gamma|} \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma v \tag{2.5}$$

where $|\Gamma|$ is the cardinal of Γ . Then m has the following properties:

PROPOSITION 2.2.0.2. Let Γ be a finite group acting linearly on a vector space V. The map $m: V \longrightarrow V$ defined in (2.5) is a linear projection with $Im(m) = V^{\Gamma}$ and $ker(m) = V_{\Gamma}$.

Proof. First, observe that for all $v \in V$ and $\alpha \in \Gamma$, $\alpha m(v) = m(v)$. Indeed:

$$\alpha \mathbf{m}(v) = \frac{1}{|\Gamma|} \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} (\alpha \gamma) v = \frac{1}{|\Gamma|} \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma v = \mathbf{m}(v).$$

It follows that $m(v) \in V^{\Gamma}$ for all $v \in V$ and thus $Im(m) \subset V^{\Gamma}$. Conversely if $w \in V^{\Gamma}$, it is clear that w = m(w), hence $V^{\Gamma} \subset Im(m)$. Next notice that since $m(v) \in V^{\Gamma}$ then $m^{2}(v) = m(v)$ i.e

m is a linear projection. It is only left to prove that ker(m) = V_{Γ} , for all $v \in V$ and $\gamma \in \Gamma$, formula (2.5) gives that $m(v - \gamma v) = 0$, thus $V_{\Gamma} \subset \text{ker}(m)$. Conversely, fix $v \in \text{ker}(m)$ and define for every $\gamma \in \Gamma$, $v_{\gamma} = \frac{1}{|\Gamma|}(v - \gamma v) \in V_{\Gamma}$. We get that:

$$\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} v_{\gamma} = v - \frac{1}{|\Gamma|} \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma v = v - \mathbf{m}(v) = v.$$

Thus $v \in V_{\Gamma}$, which means that ker(m) $\subset V_{\Gamma}$ hence the equality.

In view of the decomposition $V = \text{ker}(m) \oplus \text{Im}(m)$, we obtain: **COROLLARY 2.2.0.2.** Let Γ be a finite group acting linearly on a vector space V. Then:

$$V = V_{\Gamma} \oplus V^{\Gamma}. \tag{2.6}$$

2.3 Action of a Finite Group on a Compact Manifold

In this section, M is a compact manifold and Γ a finite group. The goal is to express the relationship between the invariant and co-invariant forms relative to the action of Γ on M.

PROPOSITION 2.3.0.1. Let Γ be a finite group acting by diffeomorphisms on a compact manifold M. Then we have the following properties:

- 1. $\Omega(M) = \Omega(M)_{\Gamma} \oplus \Omega(M)^{\Gamma}$.
- 2. The map $\Phi: \mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega(M)^{\Gamma}) \oplus \mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega(M)_{\Gamma}) \longrightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p}(M), \ \Phi([\omega]^{\Gamma} \oplus [\eta]_{\Gamma}) = [\omega + \eta] \text{ is an isomorphism. Moreover:}$

$$\Phi(\mathrm{H}^p(\Omega(M)^{\Gamma}) = \mathrm{H}^p(M)^{\Gamma} \text{ and } \Phi(\mathrm{H}^p(\Omega(M)_{\Gamma}) = \mathrm{H}^p(M)_{\Gamma}.$$

Proof. In view of Corollary 2.2.0.2, we obtain 1. by taking $V = \Omega(M)$ and the linear action given by the pull-back operation. If instead we take $V = H^p(M)$, we obtain the vector space decomposition $H^p(M) = H^p(M)_{\Gamma} \oplus H^p(M)^{\Gamma}$. It follows from 1. that the map Φ is indeed an isomorphism, moreover since the cohomology class of a closed Γ -invariant form on M is also Γ -invariant we get that $\Phi(H^p(\Omega(M)^{\Gamma})) \subset H^p(M)^{\Gamma}$. Conversely let $m : \Omega(M) \longrightarrow \Omega(M)$ be the average map given by (2.5) and choose $[\omega] \in H^p(M)^{\Gamma}$ i.e $[\omega] = [\gamma^* \omega]$ for any $\gamma \in \Gamma$, then clearly $m(\omega)$ is a closed Γ -invariant form on M satisfying $[\omega] = [m(\omega)] = \Phi[m(\omega)]^{\Gamma}$, it follows that $\Phi(H^p(\Omega(M)^{\Gamma})) = H^p(M)^{\Gamma}$. On the other hand it is clear that $H^p(M)_{\Gamma} \subset \Phi(H^p(\Omega(M)_{\Gamma}))$. Since M is compact it has finite dimensional cohomology and since:

$$\dim \mathrm{H}^{p}(M) = \dim \mathrm{H}^{p}(M)^{\Gamma} + \dim \mathrm{H}^{p}(M)_{\Gamma} = \dim \mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega(M)^{\Gamma}) + \dim \mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega(M)_{\Gamma}),$$

we get that $\dim H^p(M)_{\Gamma} = \dim H^p(\Omega(M)_{\Gamma})$ thus $\Phi(H^p(\Omega(M)_{\Gamma})) = H^p(M)_{\Gamma}$.

In particular if Γ is a finite group that acts on a compact manifold M by diffeomorphisms, we have dim $\mathrm{H}^p(\Omega(M)_{\Gamma}) \leq \dim \mathrm{H}^p(M)$ and dim $\mathrm{H}^p(\Omega(M)^{\Gamma}) \leq \dim \mathrm{H}^p(M)$ hence all the involved cohomologies are finite dimensional.

2.4 Action by Isometries on a compact manifold

Let M be a compact manifold and Γ a group. Recall that when Γ is a finite group acting on M, then M admits a Γ -invariant Riemannian metric. A natural generalization of the preceding situation is then to consider Γ acting by isometries on the manifold M. Fix a Riemannian metric \langle , \rangle on M and let $G := \text{Isom}(M, \langle , \rangle)$ be the isometry group of (M, \langle , \rangle) . Let $\rho : \Gamma \longrightarrow \text{Diff}(M)$ be an action of the group Γ on M by Riemannian isometries, this means that $\rho(\Gamma) \subset \text{Isom}(M, \langle , \rangle)$. We then denote G^0 the identity component of the isometry group G. The goal of this paragraph is to give an extension of the results presented in (2.1) and (2.2) to this new setting, and on the other hand, use those results to find topological obstructions for the existence of isometric actions. We start by showing that the induced action of Γ on the cohomology of M is in fact equivalent to a finite group action, to do this we need this key lemma which can be found in [20]:

LEMMA 2.4.0.1. Let (M, \langle , \rangle) be a Riemannian manifold. Any isometry $\varphi \in G^0$ in the identity component is homotopic to Id_M .

Denote $\Gamma_0 = \rho(\Gamma)/\rho(\Gamma) \cap G^0$, this is clearly a group since $\rho(\Gamma) \cap G^0 \triangleleft \rho(\Gamma)$, moreover Γ_0 is finite, this is due to the compactness of the isometry group *G*. Denote $[\gamma]$ the equivalence class of an element γ in $\rho(\Gamma)$.

PROPOSITION 2.4.0.1. The action $\Gamma_0 \times H^p(M) \longrightarrow H^p(M)$ given by $([\gamma], [\omega]) \mapsto [\gamma^* \omega]$ is well-defined, furthermore:

$$\mathbf{H}^{p}(M)_{\Gamma} = \mathbf{H}^{p}(M)_{\Gamma_{0}} \quad and \quad \mathbf{H}^{p}(M)^{\Gamma} = \mathbf{H}^{p}(M)^{\Gamma_{0}}.$$
(2.7)

Proof. Take two elements γ_1 and γ_2 in Γ satisfying $[\gamma_1] = [\gamma_2]$. This meanss $\gamma_2 = \gamma_0 \gamma_1$ for

some element $\gamma_0 \in \rho(\Gamma) \cap G^0$. Hence for all $[\omega] \in H^p(M)$, the preceding lemma gives that:

$$[\gamma_{2}^{*}\omega] = [\gamma_{1}^{*}(\gamma_{0}^{*}\omega)] = \gamma_{1}^{*}[\gamma_{0}^{*}\omega] = \gamma_{1}^{*}[\omega] = [\gamma_{1}^{*}\omega].$$

This shows that the action depends only on the equivalence class in question, it is thus well-defined. Now (2.7) follows from $[\gamma^*\omega] = [\omega]$ for any $\gamma \in \rho(\Gamma) \cap G^0$.

In view of (2.2.0.2) and the last proposition, we conclude that:

COROLLARY 2.4.0.1. Let M be a compact Riemannian manifold and Γ a group that acts on M by Riemannian isometries. Then:

$$\mathrm{H}^{p}(M) = \mathrm{H}^{p}(M)_{\Gamma} \oplus \mathrm{H}^{p}(M)^{\Gamma}.$$

Furthermore if $\rho(\Gamma) \subset \text{Isom}(M)^0$ then $H^p(M)_{\Gamma} = 0$.

We dedicate the rest of the paragraph to show that the results (2.1) and (2.2) are still available in a more general setting. The claims and proofs presented here relies on the theory of harmonic forms on compact oriented Riemannian manifolds, the notations and main results can be consulted in Appendix B. In what follows (M, \langle , \rangle) denotes a compact oriented Riemannian manifold with Riemannian volume element dV.

LEMMA 2.4.0.2. For any $\gamma \in \text{Isom}(M)$, we have $*\gamma^* = \text{deg}(\gamma)\gamma^* * \text{ where deg}(\gamma)$ is the degree of γ (equal to 1 if γ is orientation preserving and -1 otherwise).

Proof. Fix an orthonormal frame $\mathscr{R} = \{E_1, \ldots, E_n\}$ on an open subset $U \subset M$ with dual co-frame $\{\varepsilon^1, \ldots, \varepsilon^n\}$. We claim that $\{\gamma^* \varepsilon^1, \ldots, \gamma^* \varepsilon^n\}$ is the dual co-frame of the orthonormal frame $\mathscr{R}_{\gamma} = \{\gamma_* E_1, \ldots, \gamma_* E_n\}$ defined on $\gamma^{-1}U$, indeed this is a result of the following computation:

$$(\gamma^*\varepsilon^i)(\gamma_*E_j)(x) = \varepsilon^i_{\gamma x}(T_x\gamma((\gamma_*E_j)_x)) = \varepsilon^i_{\gamma x}(E_j(\gamma x)) = \delta_{ij}.$$

It follows that $(\gamma^* \varepsilon_I, \gamma^* \varepsilon_J) = \delta_{IJ}$ where $I = \{i_1 < \cdots < i_p\}$ and $\varepsilon_I = \varepsilon^{i_1} \land \cdots \land \varepsilon^{i_p}$. Next consider two *p*-forms ω and η , and write $\omega = \sum_I f_I \varepsilon_I$ and $\eta = \sum_J g_J \varepsilon_J$ on *U*. Then:

$$(\gamma^*\omega,\gamma^*\eta) = \gamma^*\left(\sum_I f_I g_I\right) = \gamma^*(\omega,\eta).$$

Denote $\sigma = \gamma^{-1}$, since $\gamma^*(dV) = \deg(\gamma)dV$, the preceding relation gives that:

$$\omega \wedge (\deg(\gamma)\gamma^*(*\eta)) = \deg(\gamma)\gamma^*(\sigma^*\omega \wedge *\eta) = \deg(\gamma)\gamma^*(\sigma^*\omega, \eta)\gamma^*(dV) = (\omega, \gamma^*\eta)dV.$$

The result then follows from the definition of the Hodge-* operator.

COROLLARY 2.4.0.2. Any $\gamma \in \text{Isom}(M)$ induces an isometry γ^* on $(\Omega(M), \langle, \rangle)$, more precisely if ω and η are differential forms on M then:

$$\langle \gamma^* \omega, \gamma^* \eta \rangle = \langle \omega, \eta \rangle.$$

Proof. In view of the preceding Lemma, we have:

$$\int_{M} \gamma^{*} \omega \wedge * \gamma^{*} \eta = \deg(\gamma) \int_{M} \gamma^{*} \omega \wedge \gamma^{*}(*\eta) = \deg(\gamma) \int_{M} \gamma^{*}(\omega \wedge *\eta) = \deg(\gamma)^{2} \int_{M} \omega \wedge *\eta.$$

Since $\deg(\gamma)^2 = 1$, we obtain that $\langle \gamma^* \omega, \gamma^* \eta \rangle = \langle \omega, \eta \rangle$.

COROLLARY 2.4.0.3. For all $\gamma \in \Gamma$, we have $\gamma^* \delta = \delta \gamma^*$ and $\gamma^* \Delta = \Delta \gamma^*$. In particular, for any harmonic form ω on M, $\gamma^* \omega$ is also harmonic.

Proof. Let $\eta \in \Omega^p(M)$ et $\gamma \in \Gamma$, we have by the preceding lemma:

$$\delta(\gamma^*\eta) = (-1)^{n(p+1)+1} * d(*\gamma^*\eta) = (-1)^{n(p+1)+1}\gamma^*(*d*\eta) = \gamma^*(\delta\eta).$$

This shows that $\gamma^* \delta = \delta \gamma^*$. Now $\gamma^* \Delta = \Delta \gamma^*$ follows from $\Delta = d\delta + \delta d$.

A consequence of Corollary 2.4.0.3 is that the induced linear action of Γ on $\Omega(M)$ restricts to the space $\mathscr{H}(M)$ of harmonic forms on M, let $\mathscr{H}(M)_{\Gamma}$ (resp. $\mathscr{H}(M)^{\Gamma}$) denote the corresponding graded vector space of Γ -co-invariant (resp. Γ -invariant) harmonic forms.

THEOREM 2.4.0.1 (HODGE DECOMPOSITION FOR $\Omega(M)_{\Gamma}$ and $\Omega(M)^{\Gamma}$).

Let $\rho: \Gamma \longrightarrow \text{Isom}(M)$ be an action by isometries of a group Γ on a compact oriented Riemmannian manifold M. Then:

- 1. $\Omega^p(M)_{\Gamma} = \mathbf{d}(\Omega^{p-1}(M)_{\Gamma}) \stackrel{\perp}{\oplus} \delta(\Omega^{p+1}(M)_{\Gamma}) \stackrel{\perp}{\oplus} \mathcal{H}^p(M)_{\Gamma}.$
- 2. $\Omega^p(M)^{\Gamma} = \mathrm{d}(\Omega^{p-1}(M)^{\Gamma}) \stackrel{\perp}{\oplus} \delta(\Omega^{p+1}(M)^{\Gamma}) \stackrel{\perp}{\oplus} \mathcal{H}^p(M)^{\Gamma}.$
- 3. $\mathscr{H}^p(M) = \mathscr{H}^p(M)_{\Gamma} \stackrel{\perp}{\oplus} \mathscr{H}^p(M)^{\Gamma}.$

Proof. By Corollary 2.4.0.2 the group Γ acts by isometries on $\mathcal{H}(M)$ and since $\mathcal{H}^p(M)$ is a finite dimensional vector space, then 3. follows from Proposition 2.2.0.1. The decomposition in 1. is straightforward, indeed choose $\omega \in \Omega^p(M)$ and use B.3.0.1 to write $\omega = d\alpha + \delta\beta + \eta$

where $\alpha \in \Omega^{p-1}(M)$, $\beta \in \Omega^{p+1}(M)$ and $\eta \in \mathcal{H}^p(M)$. Then:

$$\omega - \gamma^* \omega = d(\alpha - \gamma^* \alpha) + \delta(\beta - \gamma^* \beta) + (\eta - \gamma^* \eta).$$

This proves the claim. For 2. let $\omega \in \Omega^p(M)^{\Gamma}$, again by B.3.0.1 we can write $\omega = d\alpha + \delta + \eta$ with $\alpha \in \Omega^{p-1}(M)$, $\beta \in \Omega^{p+1}(M)$ and $\eta \in \mathcal{H}^p(M)$. For any $\gamma \in \Gamma$ we have that:

$$0 = \omega - \gamma^* \omega = \mathbf{d}(\alpha - \gamma^* \alpha) + \delta(\beta - \gamma^* \beta) + (\eta - \gamma^* \eta).$$

Uniqueness of the Hodge decomposition gives that $d\alpha = \gamma^* d\alpha$, $\delta\beta = \gamma^* \delta\beta$ and $\eta = \gamma^* \eta$ therefore $\eta \in \mathscr{H}^p(M)^{\Gamma}$. Next we prove that α and β can be chosen Γ -invariant, more precisely we show that we can write $\alpha = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2$, $\beta = \beta_1 + \beta_2$ with $\alpha_1 \in \Omega^{p-1}(M)^{\Gamma}$, $\beta_1 \in \Omega^{p+1}(M)^{\Gamma}$ and such that $d\alpha_2 = 0$, $\delta\beta_2 = 0$. In order to do so let $\alpha = d\mu + \delta\nu + \lambda$ and $\beta = d\hat{\mu} + \delta\hat{\nu} + \hat{\lambda}$ be the Hodge decompositions of α and β respectively, then for any $\gamma \in \Gamma$:

$$d(\alpha - \gamma^* \alpha) = d\delta(\nu - \gamma^* \nu)$$
 and $\delta(\beta - \gamma^* \beta) = \delta d(\hat{\mu} - \gamma^* \hat{\mu})$.

This implies that $d\delta(v - \gamma^* v) = 0$ and $\delta d(\hat{\mu} - \gamma^* \hat{\mu}) = 0$. Therefore:

$$\langle \delta(v - \gamma^* v), \delta(v - \gamma^* v) \rangle = \langle v - \gamma^* v, d\delta(v - \gamma^* v) \rangle = 0$$

Thus $\delta v - \gamma^* \delta v = 0$ for any $\gamma \in \Gamma$ and hence $\delta v \in \Omega^{p-1}(M)^{\Gamma}$. In a similar way we can show that $d\hat{\mu} \in \Omega^{p+1}(M)^{\Gamma}$. Put $\alpha_1 = \delta v$, $\alpha_2 = d\mu + \lambda$, $\beta_1 = d\hat{\mu}$ and $\beta_2 = \delta \hat{v} + \hat{\lambda}$. We get that:

$$\omega = \mathbf{d}(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2) + \delta(\beta_1 + \beta_2) + \eta = \mathbf{d}\alpha_1 + \delta\beta_1 + \eta,$$

such that $\alpha_1 \in \Omega^{p-1}(M)^{\Gamma}$, $\beta_1 \in \Omega^{p+1}(M)^{\Gamma}$ and $\eta \in \mathscr{H}^p(M)^{\Gamma}$. This completes the proof. \Box

We can now state and prove the main theorem of this paragraph:

THEOREM 2.4.0.2. Let Γ be a group acting by isometries on a compact oriented Riemannian manifold M. Then the map $\Phi : \operatorname{H}^p(\Omega(M)_{\Gamma}) \oplus \operatorname{H}^p(\Omega(M)^{\Gamma}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{H}^p(M)$ given by the expression $\Phi([\omega]_{\Gamma} \oplus [\eta]^{\Gamma}) = [\omega + \eta]$ is an isomorphism satisfying:

$$\Phi(\mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega(M)_{\Gamma})) = \mathrm{H}^{p}(M)_{\Gamma} \quad and \quad \Phi(\mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega(M)^{\Gamma})) = \mathrm{H}^{p}(M)^{\Gamma}.$$
(2.8)

In particular if $\rho(\Gamma) \subset \text{Isom}(M)^0$ then $H^p(M) \simeq H^p(\Omega(M)^{\Gamma})$.

Proof. From the first two decompositions of Theorem 2.4.0.1 we get that there exists an

isomorphism:

$$\Phi_1: \mathrm{H}^p(\Omega(M)_{\Gamma}) \oplus \mathrm{H}^p(\Omega(M)^{\Gamma}) \longrightarrow \mathscr{H}^p(M)_{\Gamma} \oplus \mathscr{H}^p(M)^{\Gamma \overset{(3)}{=}} \mathscr{H}^p(M),$$

and $\Phi = \Phi_1 \circ j$ where $j : \mathscr{H}^p(M) \longrightarrow \mathrm{H}^p(M)$ is the isomorphism in Corollary B.3.0.1. It is clear that $j(\mathscr{H}^p(M)_{\Gamma}) = \mathrm{H}^p(M)_{\Gamma}$ and $j(\mathscr{H}^p(M)^{\Gamma}) = \mathrm{H}^p(M)^{\Gamma}$ therefore we get (2.8). Finally if $\rho(\Gamma)$ is contained in the identity component of $\mathrm{Isom}(M)$ then from Corollary 2.4.0.1 we get that $\mathrm{H}^p(M)_{\Gamma} = 0$ and thus $\mathrm{H}^p(\Omega(M)_{\Gamma}) = 0$ as desired. \Box

The first point of Proposition 2.3.0.1 however, does not generalize to this case, this is best illustrated in the following example:

EXAMPLE 2.4.0.1. Let \mathbb{T}^n be the n-dimensional torus which we view as the quotient $\mathbb{R}^n/\mathbb{Z}^n$ with natural projection $\pi : \mathbb{R}^n \longrightarrow \mathbb{T}^n$. Choose a generator $a = (a_1, \ldots, a_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ of \mathbb{T}^n this means that $\mathbb{T}^n = \overline{\langle \pi(a) \rangle}$ or equivalently that the real numbers $1, a_1, \ldots, a_n$ are \mathbb{Q} -linearly independant. Denote $\gamma \in \text{Diff}(\mathbb{T}^n)$ the group multiplication by $\pi(a)$ and $\rho : \mathbb{Z} \longrightarrow \text{Diff}(\mathbb{T}^n)$ the corresponding \mathbb{Z} -action, i.e $\rho(n) = \gamma^n$. Clearly $\rho(\mathbb{Z}) \subset \text{Isom}(\mathbb{T}^n, \langle , \rangle)$ for any (bi-)invariant Riemannian metric \langle , \rangle on \mathbb{T}^n .

Since γ has dense orbits in \mathbb{T}^n then $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^n)^{\mathbb{Z}} = \mathbb{R}$. Furthermore since γ is orientation preserving any function $g \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^n)_{\mathbb{Z}}$ must satisfy I(g) = 0 where $I : \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^n) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ is the operator given by the expression $I(g) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^n} g(x) dx$. It is easy to check that:

$$\mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^n) = \ker(I) \oplus \mathbb{R}.$$

We say that $a \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is a Liouville vector if there exists A > 0 such that for any $\tau > 0$ there exists $m_{\tau} \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ satisfying:

$$|1 - e^{2\pi i \langle m_\tau, a \rangle}| \ge \frac{A}{|m_\tau|^\tau}.$$

When $a \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is a Liouville vector, A. El Kacimi and H. Hmili in [?, Theorem 1.4] used Fourier series to construct an infinite family $\{g_k, k \in \mathbb{N}^*\}$ of smooth functions on \mathbb{T}^n satisfying $I(g_k) = 0$ and such that the equation $f - \gamma^* f = g_k$ doesn't have a solution. In particular we obtain that $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^n)_{\mathbb{Z}} \subsetneq \ker(I)$ and therefore $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^n) \neq \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^n)_{\mathbb{Z}} \oplus \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^n)^{\mathbb{Z}}$ in this case. As an application, we give new proofs of the following known results:

PROPOSITION 2.4.0.2. Let G be a compact connected Lie group acting smoothly on a compact orientable manifold M. Then:

$$\mathrm{H}^p(M) \simeq \mathrm{H}^p(\Omega(M)^G).$$

Proof. Let \langle , \rangle be any Riemannian metric on M and denote $\rho : G \longrightarrow \text{Diff}(M)$ the action of the group G on M. Let $x \in M$ and X, Y two smooth vector fields on M. The map $G \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ given by $g \mapsto \langle T_x \rho(g)(X_x), T_x \rho(g)(Y_x) \rangle_{gx}$ is smooth, we put:

$$\langle\langle X_x, Y_x\rangle\rangle_x := \int_G \langle \mathrm{T}_x \rho(g)(X_x), \mathrm{T}_x \rho(g)(Y_x)\rangle_{gx}^0 \mathrm{d}g$$

This defines a *G*-invariant Riemannian metric $\langle \langle , \rangle \rangle$ on *M* i.e $\rho(G) \subset \text{Isom}(M, \langle \langle , \rangle \rangle)$. Since *G* is connected and ρ is continuous, $\rho(G)$ is contained in the identity component of $\text{Isom}(M, \langle \langle , \rangle \rangle)$, hence $\text{H}^p(\Omega(M)_G) = 0$ and thus $\text{H}^p(M) \simeq \text{H}^p(\Omega(M)^G)$.

COROLLARY 2.4.0.4. Let G be a compact connected Lie group with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . Let $H(\mathfrak{g})$ denote the Lie algebra cohomology of \mathfrak{g} , then $H^p(G) \simeq H^p(\mathfrak{g})$.

Proof. The homomorphism $\rho: G \longrightarrow \text{Diff}(G), g \mapsto \ell_g$ where ℓ_g denotes the left multiplication on G defines a smooth isometric action on G with respect to any left invariant Riemannian metric \langle , \rangle on G. Thus by Proposition 2.4.0.2, $H^p(G) \simeq H^p(G)^G \simeq H^p(\mathfrak{g})$. \Box

2.5 Group Actions on Noncompact Manifolds

We turn now to the study of the action of a group on a manifold which is not necessarily compact in contrast to the preceding situations. In what follows, we set a group Γ acting properly discontinuously on a smooth manifold M. When the manifold M is compact, the group Γ must be finite, therefore properly discontinuous actions are a natural extension of finite actions on compact manifolds. A main goal in this paragraph is therefore to give an analogue to the decomposition (2.1) in the current situation. As a matter of fact, the process of averaging described in the compact case still makes sense in the case of properly discontinuous actions. Indeed, the average map $m: \Omega_c(M) \longrightarrow \Omega(M)^{\Gamma}$ given by the expression $m(\omega) = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma^* \omega$ is well-defined and linear. Note that this map is not a projection contrary to the compact case since $\Omega(M)^{\Gamma}$ may contain differential forms which are not compactly supported. In fact, m is not even surjective, to see this it is sufficient to consider the case when Γ is a finite group acting on a noncompact manifold M, we obtain that for any $\omega \in \Omega_c(M)$, the average form $m(\omega)$ is compactly supported. However, up to reducing its range we can show that *m* can be made surjective. The key to proceed lies in the following important lemma, which was originally proved in [?] in the case of a properly discontinuous and free action:

LEMMA 2.5.0.1 (CUTOFF FUNCTIONS). Let Γ be a discrete group acting properly discontinously on a smooth manifold M. There exists a positive function $\phi : M \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ which is \mathscr{C}^{∞} such that for any compact $B \subset M/\Gamma$, $\operatorname{supp}(\phi) \cap \pi^{-1}(B)$ is compact. Furthermore we have:

$$\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \phi \circ \gamma = 1. \tag{2.9}$$

The function $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M)$ is called a Γ -cutoff function.

Proof. Set a locally finite cover $\mathcal{V} := \{V_n, n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ of M/Γ by relatively compact open subsets. There exists a locally finite open cover $\mathcal{W} := \{W_n, n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ of M/Γ such that W_n is a relatively compact subset and $\bar{V}_n \subset W_n$. To see this, denote $J_1 = \{i \in \mathbb{N}, \bar{V}_1 \cap V_i \neq \emptyset\}$. Since \bar{V}_1 is compact and \mathcal{V} is a locally finite cover of M/Γ , we obtain that J_1 is finite and moreover:

$$ar{V}_1 \subset igcup_{j \in J_1} V_j \ ext{ et } \ ar{V}_1 \cap igcup_{j \notin J_1} V_j = arnothing.$$

Thus we can find a relatively compact open set W_1 containing \overline{V}_1 such that:

$$W_1 \subset \bigcup_{j \in J_1} V_j \ ext{ et } \ W_1 \cap \bigcup_{j \notin J_1} V_j = arnothing.$$

Hence the family $\mathcal{W}_1 = \{W_1\} \cup \{V_j, j \ge 2\}$ is a locally finite cover of M/Γ by relatively compact open sets. Repeating this process on the family \mathcal{W}_1 , we obtain by induction the desired open cover. Next we show that there exists relatively compact open subsets U_n and O_n of M satisfying $\pi(U_n) = V_n$, $\pi(O_n) = W_n$ and $\overline{U}_n \subset O_n$. Indeed, we start with any pair of relatively compact open subsets \hat{U}_n and \hat{O}_n of M such that $\pi(\hat{U}_n) = V_n$ and $\pi(\hat{O}_n) = W_n$. Since $V_n \subset W_n$ then $\hat{U}_n \subset \bigcup_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma \cdot \hat{O}_n$. We then put:

$$U_n = \hat{O}_n \cap \bigcup_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma^{-1} \cdot \hat{U}_n.$$

Thus U_n is a relatively compact open subset of M and it is clear that $\pi(U_n) \subset V_n$. Conversely let $x \in V_n$, we can write $x = \pi(a)$ for some $a \in \hat{U}_n$. Since $\hat{U}_n \subset \bigcup_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma \cdot \hat{O}_n$ we can find $\gamma \in \Gamma$ such that $\gamma^{-1}a \in \gamma^{-1}\hat{U}_n \cap \hat{O}_n$ and from $\pi(\gamma^{-1}a) = x$ we get that $x \in \pi(U_n)$. Next for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ define $S_n = \{\gamma \in \Gamma, \overline{U}_n \cap \gamma \cdot \hat{O}_n \neq \emptyset\}$ which is a finite set since Γ acts properly discontinuously on M. Since $\overline{V}_n \subset W_n$, then $\overline{U}_n \subset \bigcup_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma \cdot \hat{O}_n$ and we deduce that:

$$U_n \subset \bigcup_{\gamma \in S_n} \gamma \cdot \hat{O}_n := O_n.$$

After this tedious construction, we can begin the proof of the lemma. Let $g_n \in \mathscr{C}_c^{\infty}(M)$ such that $0 \leq g_n \leq 1$, $\operatorname{supp}(g_n) \subset O_n$ and $g_n = 1$ on U_n , next put $g = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} g_n$. We claim that the function g is well-defined, positive and smooth. Indeed, choose any relatively compact open subset $U \subset M$ and let $J = \{n \in \mathbb{N}, \overline{U} \cap O_n \neq \emptyset\}$. Since \mathcal{W} is a locally finite cover of M/Γ then $(O_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a locally finite cover of M and thus the set J is finite. Hence:

$$g_{|U} = \sum_{j \in J} g_{j|U} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(U).$$

This shows that *g* is a well-defined smooth function on *M*. Let $B \subset M/\Gamma$ be a compact subset and put $I = \{n \in \mathbb{N}, \pi^{-1}(B) \cap O_n \neq \emptyset\}$. Since $\pi(O_n) = W_n$ then:

$$I \subset \{n \in \mathbb{N}, \pi^{-1}(B) \cap \pi^{-1}(W_n) \neq \emptyset\} \subset \{n \in \mathbb{N}, B \cap W_n \neq \emptyset\}$$
 which is finite.

Thus $\pi^{-1}(B) \cap \operatorname{supp}(g) \subset \pi^{-1}(B) \cap \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} O_n = \pi^{-1}(B) \cap \bigcup_{i \in I} O_i$. It is clear that $\bigcup_{i \in I} O_i$ is relatively compact, and therefore $\pi^{-1}(B) \cap \operatorname{supp}(g)$ is compact. Next let $x \in M$, then $\pi(x) \in V_n$ for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$. This means that there exists $\gamma \in \Gamma$ such that $\gamma x \in U_n$ and thus $g(\gamma x) > 0$. Hence $\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} g(\gamma x) > 0$. Finally put:

$$\phi = \frac{g}{\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} g \circ \gamma}$$

This gives that $\operatorname{supp}(\phi) = \operatorname{supp}(g)$ and $\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \phi \circ \gamma = 1$.

REMARK 2.5.0.1. When M/Γ is compact, writing $\operatorname{supp}(\phi) = \operatorname{supp}(\phi) \cap \pi^{-1}(M/\Gamma)$ shows that any cutoff function ϕ on M must be compactly supported.

We say that a Γ -invariant form ω on M has Γ -compact support if $(\text{supp } \omega)/\Gamma$ is compact. We denote $\Omega(M)_{\Gamma c}^{\Gamma}$ the space of Γ -invariant forms on M with Γ -compact support, it is a differential subalgebra of $\Omega(M)$.

REMARK 2.5.0.2. For any $\omega \in \Omega_c(M)$ the average form $m(\omega)$ has Γ -compact support. Indeed, it is clear that $\operatorname{supp} m(\omega) \subset \bigcup_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma \cdot \operatorname{supp}(\omega)$, hence $\pi(\operatorname{supp} m(\omega)) \subset \pi(\operatorname{supp} \omega)$ which is a compact subset of M/Γ . In other words $m(\omega) \in \Omega(M)_{\Gamma_c}^{\Gamma}$.

PROPOSITION 2.5.0.1. Let Γ be a group acting properly discontinuously on a smooth manifold M. The average map $m : \Omega_c(M) \longrightarrow \Omega(M)_{\Gamma_c}^{\Gamma}$ is surjective and ker $(m) = \Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma}$.

Proof. Let $\eta \in \Omega(M)_{\Gamma_c}^{\Gamma}$ and choose a Γ-cutoff function $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M)$. Denote $K := \pi(\operatorname{supp} \eta)$, since $\operatorname{supp}(\eta)$ is Γ-invariant we obtain that $\operatorname{supp}(\eta) = \pi^{-1}(K)$, furthermore K is a compact

set. It follows that the form $\omega = \phi \eta$ has compact support in *M*, thus:

$$m(\omega) = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma^* \omega = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma^* (\phi \eta) = \left(\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma^* \phi \right) \eta = \eta.$$

This shows that *m* is surjective. On the other hand, given $\alpha \in \Gamma$ and $\omega \in \Omega_c(M)$, we have:

$$m(\omega-\alpha^*\omega)=\sum_{\gamma\in\Gamma}\gamma^*\omega-\sum_{\gamma\in\Gamma}\gamma^*\alpha^*\omega=\sum_{\gamma\in\Gamma}\gamma^*\omega-\sum_{\gamma\in\Gamma}\gamma^*\omega=0.$$

Hence $\Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma} \subset \ker(m)$. Conversely let $\omega \in \ker(m)$, for any $\gamma \in \Gamma$ define $\omega_{\gamma} := \phi_{\gamma}\omega - \gamma^*(\phi_{\gamma}\omega)$ with $\phi_{\gamma} := \phi \circ \gamma^{-1}$. It is clear that $\omega_{\gamma} \in \Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma}$, we claim that $\omega_{\gamma} = 0$ except for a finite family $A \subset \Gamma$. To see this put $K = \pi(\operatorname{supp} \omega)$, then K is compact subset of M/Γ and thus by Lemma 2.5.0.1, the subset $\operatorname{supp}(\phi) \cap \pi^{-1}(K) = \bigcup_{\gamma \in \Gamma}(\operatorname{supp}(\phi) \cap \gamma \cdot \operatorname{supp} \omega)$ is compact. Next put $A := \{\gamma \in \Gamma, (\operatorname{supp} \phi \cap \pi^{-1}(K)) \cap \gamma \cdot \operatorname{supp} \omega \neq \emptyset\}$, since Γ acts properly discontinuous on the manifold M we obtain that A is a finite subset of Γ , Moreover it is straightforward to check that $A = \{\gamma \in \Gamma, \operatorname{supp} \phi \cap \gamma \cdot \operatorname{supp} \omega \neq \emptyset\}$. Hence for $\alpha \in \Gamma \setminus A$, it follows that:

$$\operatorname{supp}(\phi_{\alpha}\omega) \subset (\alpha^{-1}\operatorname{supp} \phi) \cap \operatorname{supp} \omega = \alpha^{-1}(\operatorname{supp} \phi \cap \alpha \operatorname{supp} \omega) = \phi.$$

Consequently $\phi_{\alpha}\omega = 0$ and thus $\omega_{\alpha} = 0$ for all $\alpha \in \Gamma \setminus A$. As a result:

$$\sum_{\gamma \in A} \omega_{\gamma} = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \omega_{\gamma} = \left(\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \phi_{\gamma}\right) \omega - \phi\left(\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma^* \omega\right) = \omega - \phi m(\omega) = \omega.$$

In summary $\omega = \sum_{\gamma \in A} \omega_{\gamma} \in \Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma}$. Thus $\ker(m) \subset \Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma}$.

This leads to the main Theorem of this paragraph:

THEOREM 2.5.0.1. Let Γ be a group that acts properly discontinuously on a manifold M. Then we have the following short exact sequence:

$$0 \to \Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma} \xrightarrow{\iota} \Omega_c(M) \xrightarrow{m} \Omega(M)_{\Gamma c}^{\Gamma} \to 0, \qquad (2.10)$$

which in turn gives rise to a long exact cohomology sequence:

$$\cdots \to \mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega_{c}(M)_{\Gamma}) \xrightarrow{\iota} \mathrm{H}^{p}_{c}(M) \xrightarrow{m} \mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega(M)_{\Gamma_{c}}^{\Gamma}) \xrightarrow{\delta} \mathrm{H}^{p+1}(\Omega_{c}(M)_{\Gamma}) \to \dots$$
(2.11)

Moreover, the connecting homomorphism $\delta : \mathrm{H}^p(\Omega(M)_{\Gamma_c}^{\Gamma}) \longrightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p+1}(\Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma})$ is given by the

expression:

$$\delta([\omega]^{\Gamma}) = [\mathbf{d}\phi \wedge \omega]_{\Gamma},$$

for any cutoff function $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M)$ (satisfying (2.9)).

Proof. The exactness of the sequence (2.10) easily follows from Propostion 2.5.0.1 in which case the cohomology sequence (2.11) is straightforward. In order to obtain the expression of the operator δ , fix a closed form $\omega \in \Omega^p(M)_{\Gamma_c}^{\Gamma}$. If we write $\delta([\omega]^{\Gamma}) = [\beta]_{\Gamma}$ then $\beta = d\alpha$ for some $\alpha \in \Omega_c^p(M)$ satisfying $m(\alpha) = \omega$. For $\alpha = \phi \omega$, we conclude that $\beta = d\phi \wedge \omega$.

REMARK 2.5.0.3. Consider a cutoff function $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M)$ (satisfying (2.9)). Then

$$\mathbf{d}\left(\sum_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}\in\boldsymbol{\Gamma}}\boldsymbol{\gamma}^{*}\boldsymbol{\phi}\right)=\sum_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}\in\boldsymbol{\Gamma}}\boldsymbol{\gamma}^{*}\mathbf{d}\boldsymbol{\phi}=\mathbf{0}.$$

It follows that $d\phi \in \Omega(M)_{\Gamma}$. When M/Γ is compact, we obtain that $d\phi \in \Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma}$ in this case we denote $[\theta]_{\Gamma} \in \mathrm{H}^1(\Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma})$ its cohomology class.

REMARK 2.5.0.4. In the exact sequence (2.11) we have $\ker(\iota) = \operatorname{Im}(\delta)$, hence the co-invariant classes of the form $[d\phi \wedge \omega]_{\Gamma}$ are exactly the classes of $\operatorname{H}(\Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma})$ which are exact in $\operatorname{H}_c(M)$. We give some consequences of the preceding exact sequence:

COROLLARY 2.5.0.1. Let Γ be a group acting properly discontinuously on a smooth manifold M. Then $\mathrm{H}^{0}(\Omega_{c}(M)_{\Gamma}) = 0$ and if M is compact, the mapping $\iota : \mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega_{c}(M)_{\Gamma}) \longrightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p}_{c}(M)$ is injective and the map $m : \mathrm{H}^{p}_{c}(M) \longrightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega(M)^{\Gamma})$ is surjective.

Proof. Let $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M)$ be a cutoff function satisfying (2.9). Let $[f]_{\Gamma} \in \mathrm{H}^{0}(\Omega_{c}(M)_{\Gamma})$ i.e a constant function satisfying $\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma^{*} f = 0$. If M is noncompact, then f = 0 since it is constant and compactly supported. If M is compact, then Γ must be finite since it acts properly discontinuously on M thus $\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma^{*} f = |\Gamma| f = 0$, hence f = 0. If M is compact then Γ is finite we can choose $\phi = 1/|\Gamma|$ as a cutoff function. Let $\delta : \mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega(M)_{\Gamma_{c}}^{\Gamma}) \longrightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p+1}(\Omega_{c}(M)_{\Gamma})$ be the connecting homomorphism in the cohomology sequence (2.11), from the previous remark we get that $\delta([\omega]^{\Gamma}) = [\mathrm{d}\phi \wedge \omega]_{\Gamma} = 0$ for every closed form $\omega \in \Omega(M)_{c}^{\Gamma}$. We conclude that ι is injective et m is surjective.

PROPOSITION 2.5.0.2. Let Γ be a group acting properly discontinuously on a noncompact connected manifold M. Then M/Γ is compact if and only if $\iota : \mathrm{H}^1(\Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma}) \longrightarrow \mathrm{H}^1_c(M)$ is not injective.

Proof. Let $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M)$ be a cutoff function. Assume M/Γ is compact, then $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}_{c}(M)$. Suppose that $[d\phi]_{\Gamma} = 0$, then we can find $\psi \in \Omega^{0}_{c}(M)_{\Gamma}$ such that $d\phi = d\psi$ and since M is connected the difference $\phi - \psi$ is constant with compact support, which implies that $\phi = \psi$ but this is impossible as $\phi \notin \Omega^{0}_{c}(M)_{\Gamma}$. We obtain that $[d\phi]_{\Gamma} \neq 0$, and since $\iota[d\phi]_{\Gamma} = [d\phi] = 0$ we conclude that ι is not injective.

Conversely if M/Γ is not compact, let $\omega \in \Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma}$ be a closed form such that $[\omega] = 0$. We can write $\omega = df$ for some $f \in \mathscr{C}_c^{\infty}(M)$. Since $dm(f) = m(\omega) = 0$ we obtain that m(f) is a constant function with Γ -compact support. If $m(f) \neq 0$ then we would have supp m(f) = M and consequently supp $m(f)/\Gamma = M/\Gamma$ which is noncompact, this leads to a contradiction. Thus m(f) = 0 i.e. $f \in \mathscr{C}_c^{\infty}(M)_{\Gamma}$ and therefore $[\omega]_{\Gamma} = 0$. We conclude that ι is injective. \Box

COROLLARY 2.5.0.2. Let M be a contractible smooth manifold, and Γ a group acting properly discontinuously on M. Then M/Γ is compact if and only if $H^1(\Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma}) \neq 0$. **COROLLARY 2.5.0.3.** Let M be a contractible manifold and $\rho : \Gamma \to \text{Diff}(M)$ be a properly

COROLLARY 2.5.0.3. Let *M* be a contractible manifold and $p: \Gamma \to DM(M)$ be a property discontinuous action with compact orbit space M/Γ . Then for any $1 \le p \le n$, we have

$$\mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega_{c}(M)_{\Gamma}) \simeq \mathrm{H}^{p-1}(\Omega(M)^{\Gamma}).$$

In particular, $\mathrm{H}^{1}(\Omega_{c}(M)_{\Gamma}) = \mathrm{Span}\{[\theta]_{\Gamma}\}.$

Let $\psi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M)$ be a cutoff function with respect to the action of Γ on M. Let U, V be open subsets of M and choose a partition of unity $\{\phi_U, \phi_V\}$ subordinate to $\{U, V\}$ then put:

$$\hat{\phi}_U = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma^*(\psi \phi_U), \ \hat{\phi}_V = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma^*(\psi \phi_V).$$

It is then straightforward to check that $\{\hat{\phi}_U, \hat{\phi}_V\}$ is a Γ -invariant partition of unity subordinate to $\{U, V\}$. As a consequence of Proposition 2.6.2.4 we get the following result:

COROLLARY 2.5.0.4. Let Γ be a group that acts properly discontinuously on a smooth manifold M by diffeomorphisms. For any Γ -invariant open subsets U,V of M, the long exact cohomology sequences (2.14) and (2.16) hold.

EXAMPLE 2.5.0.1 (CLIFFORD-KLEIN FORMS). Let G be a Lie group and $H \subset G$ a connected Lie subgoup. If Γ is any discrete subgroup of G acting properly discontinuously and freely on the homogeneous space G/H, the double quotient $\Gamma \setminus G/H$ is a smooth manifold locally modeled on G/H called a Clifford-Klein form of G/H. We say that $\Gamma \subset G \supset H$ is a Clifford-Klein triplet, if furthermore $\Gamma \setminus G/H$ is compact we say that the triplet $\Gamma \subset G \supset H$ is compact. Clifford-Klein forms has been studied by many authors (see [29] for instance).

For every compact Clifford-Klein form $\Gamma \backslash G/H$, by virtue of Theorem 2.5.0.1, we have a long exact sequence in cohomology:

$$\cdots \to \mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega_{c}(G/H)_{\Gamma}) \xrightarrow{\mathrm{H}(\iota)} \mathrm{H}^{p}_{c}(G/H) \xrightarrow{\mathrm{H}(m)} \mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega(G/H)^{\Gamma}) \xrightarrow{\delta} \mathrm{H}^{p+1}(\Omega_{c}(G/H)_{\Gamma}) \to \ldots$$

In particular, when H is a maximal compact subgroup of a connected Lie group G, the manifold G/H is then a contractible, which leads to:

$$\mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega_{c}(G/H)_{\Gamma}) \simeq \mathrm{H}^{p-1}(\Omega(G/H)^{\Gamma})$$

and when the action of Γ on G/H is free, we have $\mathrm{H}^p(\Omega_c(G/H)_{\Gamma}) \simeq \mathrm{H}^{p-1}(\Gamma \setminus G/H)$.

EXAMPLE 2.5.0.2. Let Σ_g be a connected compact Riemann surface of genus $g \ge 2$. The fundamental group of Σ_g can be identified with a discrete subgroup Γ_g of the projective group:

$$PSL(2,\mathbb{R}) = SL(2,\mathbb{R})/\{\pm I\},\$$

so that Σ_g is identified with the orbit space \mathbb{H}/Γ_g of the action of Γ_g on the Poincaré halfplane \mathbb{H} . This action is given by:

$$(A,z) \longmapsto \frac{az+b}{cz+d}, \quad A = \left(\begin{array}{cc} a & b \\ c & d \end{array} \right)$$

for every $z \in \mathbb{H}$ and any matrix $A \in SL(2, \mathbb{R})$. The 2-cohomology space of Γ_g -co-invariant forms on \mathbb{H} is then isomorphic to the 1-cohomology space of Σ_g , hence $\dim(\mathrm{H}^2(\Omega_c(\mathbb{H})_{\Gamma_g}) = 2g$.

EXAMPLE 2.5.0.3 (NILMANIFOLDS). A compact nilmanifold is the quotient of a simply connected nilpotent Lie group G by a discrete subgroup $\Gamma \subset G$ such that G/Γ is compact (one can see [45] for details). The simplest example being the n-dimensional torus viewed as the natural quotient of \mathbb{R}^n by \mathbb{Z}^n .

The cohomology of Γ -invariant forms on G can naturally be identified with the cohomology of G/Γ and a famous theorem of Nomizu (see [42]) asserts that the cohomology $H(G/\Gamma)$ of the nilmanifold is isomorphic to $H(\mathfrak{g})$ the cohomology of the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{g} = \text{Lie}(G)$. It follows from Corollary 2.5.0.3 that for every p = 1, ..., n,

$$\mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega(G)^{\Gamma}) \simeq \mathrm{H}^{p}(\mathfrak{g}) \text{ and } \mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega_{c}(G)_{\Gamma}) \simeq \mathrm{H}^{p-1}(\mathfrak{g}).$$

In particular, for the usual action by translations of \mathbb{Z}^n on \mathbb{R}^n , we obtain that:

$$\dim \mathrm{H}^p(\Omega_c(\mathbb{R}^n)_{\mathbb{Z}^n}) = C_n^{p-1}.$$

2.6 Properties of Co-invariant Cohomology

In this paragraph we give some basic properties of co-invariant cohomology.

2.6.1 Homotopy Invariance

Let M and N be smooth manifolds and Γ a group acting on both M and N by diffeomorphisms. Let $f_i: M \longrightarrow N$ be a smooth Γ -equivariant map with i = 0, 1, then $f_i^* \circ \gamma^* = \gamma^* \circ f_i^*$ for any $\gamma \in \Gamma$ and it follows that $f_i^*(\Omega(N)_{\Gamma}) \subset \Omega(M)_{\Gamma}$. If furthermore the map f_i is proper then $f_i^*(\Omega_c(N)_{\Gamma}) \subset \Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma}$. Let $F: M \times \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow N$ be a smooth homotopy between f_0 and f_1 and $K: \Omega(N) \longrightarrow \Omega(M)$ the corresponding chain homotopy given by (B.3) recall that:

$$K \circ d + d \circ K = f_1^* - f_0^*.$$

For any $\gamma \in \Gamma$ and $(x,t) \in M \times \mathbb{R}$ put $\gamma \cdot (x,t) := (\gamma x, t)$, this defines an action by diffeomorphisms of the group Γ on $M \times \mathbb{R}$. In the case where F is Γ -equivariant, then it is easy to see that $K \circ \gamma^* = \gamma^* \circ K$ and therefore $K(\Omega^p(N)_{\Gamma}) \subset \Omega^{p-1}(M)_{\Gamma}$, if moreover F is a proper homotopy then $K(\Omega^p_c(N)_{\Gamma}) \subset \Omega^{p-1}_c(M)_{\Gamma}$. As a result, we get the following proposition:

PROPOSITION 2.6.1.1. Let Γ be a group acting on smooth manifolds M and N by diffeomorphisms. Let $f, g: M \longrightarrow N$ be Γ -equivariant smooth maps and suppose $F: M \times \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow N$ is a Γ -equivariant homotopy sending f to g. Then the cohomology maps:

$$f^*, g^* : \mathrm{H}^p(\Omega(N)_{\Gamma}) \longrightarrow \mathrm{H}^p(\Omega(M)_{\Gamma}),$$

induced by the pullback operation are equal. If F is a proper homotopy, the maps f and g are proper as well and $f^*, g^* : \mathrm{H}^p(\Omega_c(N)_{\Gamma}) \longrightarrow \mathrm{H}^p(\Omega_c(M)_{\Gamma})$ are also equal.

2.6.2 Mayer-Vietoris sequence

Let Γ be a group acting on a smooth manifold M by diffeomorphisms. Let $U, V \subset M$ be open subsets and consider the Mayer-Vietoris exact sequence:

$$0 \longrightarrow \Omega(U \cup V) \stackrel{r}{\longrightarrow} \Omega(U) \oplus \Omega(V) \stackrel{j}{\longrightarrow} \Omega(U \cap V) \longrightarrow 0,$$

where $r(\omega) = (\omega_{|U}, \omega_{|V})$ and $J(\omega, \eta) = \eta_{|U \cap V} - \omega_{|U \cap V}$. Assume now that *U* and *V* are Γ -invariant, it is easy to check that for any $\gamma \in \Gamma$, $r \circ \gamma^* = \gamma^* \circ r$ and $J \circ \gamma^* = \gamma^* \circ J$, consequently:

$$r(\Omega(U \cup V)_{\Gamma}) \subset \Omega(U)_{\Gamma} \oplus \Omega(V)_{\Gamma}, \quad J(\Omega(U)_{\Gamma} \oplus \Omega(V)_{\Gamma}) \subset \Omega(U \cap V)_{\Gamma}.$$

This allows to obtain the following sequence:

$$0 \longrightarrow \Omega(U \cup V)_{\Gamma} \xrightarrow{r_{\Gamma}} \Omega(U)_{\Gamma} \oplus \Omega(V)_{\Gamma} \xrightarrow{J_{\Gamma}} \Omega(U \cap V)_{\Gamma} \longrightarrow 0, \qquad (2.12)$$

where r_{Γ} and j_{Γ} are the restriction corresponding to *r* and *j* respectively.

PROPOSITION 2.6.2.1. Let Γ be a group that acts by diffeomorphisms on a smooth manifold M and let $\{U,V\}$ be Γ -invariant open subsets of M. Assume that there exists a Γ invariant partition of unity $\{\phi_U, \phi_V\}$ subordinate to $\{U,V\}$. Then (2.12) is an exact sequence.

Proof. It is clear that r_{Γ} is injective, let $\alpha \in \Omega(U \cap V)_{\Gamma}$ which can be expressed as a finite sum $\alpha = \sum_{i} \alpha_{i} - \gamma_{i}^{*} \alpha_{i}$ with $\alpha_{i} \in \Omega(U \cap V)$ and $\gamma_{i} \in \Gamma$. Since *j* is a surjective map then we can write $\alpha_{i} = \omega_{i} - \eta_{i}$ such that $\omega_{i} \in \Omega(U)$ and $\eta_{i} \in \Omega(V)$. It follows that $\alpha = J_{\Gamma}(\omega, \eta)$ with:

$$\omega = \sum_{i} \omega_{i} - \gamma_{i}^{*} \omega_{i} \text{ and } \eta = \sum_{i} \eta_{i} - \gamma_{i}^{*} \eta_{i}.$$
(2.13)

Thus J_{Γ} is surjective. On the other hand we clearly have $\operatorname{Im}(r_{\Gamma}) \subset \ker(J_{\Gamma})$, conversely choose $\omega \in \Omega(U)_{\Gamma}$ and $\eta \in \Omega(V)_{\Gamma}$ such that $\omega = \eta$ on $U \cap V$ i.e $(\omega, \eta) \in \ker(J_{\Gamma})$ and write:

$$\omega = \sum_{i} \omega_i - \gamma_i^* \omega_i$$
 and $\eta = \sum_{j} \eta_j - \gamma_j^* \eta_j$.

Since ker(*j*) = Im(*r*), then $\omega = \alpha_{|U}$ and $\eta = \alpha_{|V}$ for some $\alpha \in \Omega(U \cup V)$. It is clear that $\phi_U \omega_i$ and $\phi_V \eta_i$ define global forms on $U \cup V$. Thus by Γ -invariance of ϕ_U and ϕ_V we get that:

$$\alpha = \phi_U \alpha + \phi_V \alpha = \sum_i (\phi_U \omega_i) - \gamma_i^* (\phi_U \omega_i) + \sum_j (\phi_V \eta_j) - \sigma_j^* (\phi_V \eta_j) \in \Omega(U \cup V)_{\Gamma}.$$

It follows that $(\omega, \eta) = r_{\Gamma}(\alpha)$. This ends the proof.

PROPOSITION 2.6.2.2. Let M be a smooth manifold, Γ a group acting on M by diffeomorphisms and $U, V \subset M$ arbitrary open subsets. Assume that there exists a Γ -invariant partition of unity $\{\phi_U, \phi_V\}$ subordinate to $\{U, V\}$. Then the short exact sequence (2.12) in-

duce the following long exact cohomology sequence:

$$\cdots \to \mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega(U \cup V)_{\Gamma}) \xrightarrow{r_{\Gamma}} \mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega(U)_{\Gamma}) \oplus \mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega(V)_{\Gamma}) \xrightarrow{j_{\Gamma}} \mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega(U \cap V)_{\Gamma}) \xrightarrow{\partial} \mathrm{H}^{p+1}(\Omega(U \cup V)_{\Gamma}) \xrightarrow{r_{\Gamma}} \dots$$

$$(2.14)$$

where $\partial: \mathrm{H}^p(\Omega(U \cap V)_{\Gamma}) \longrightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p+1}(\Omega(U \cup V)_{\Gamma})$ denote the connecting homomorphism.

For any open subset $W \subset M$ we can view $\Omega_c(W)$ as the subcomplex of forms $\omega \in \Omega_c(M)$ such that $\operatorname{supp}(\omega) \subset W$. Recall that the short Mayer-Vietoris sequence for compact supports is given by:

$$0 \longrightarrow \Omega_c(U \cap V) \stackrel{\iota}{\longrightarrow} \Omega_c(U) \oplus \Omega_c(V) \stackrel{\rho}{\longrightarrow} \Omega_c(U \cup V) \longrightarrow 0,$$

where ι and ρ are given by $\iota(\omega) = (\omega, -\omega)$ and $\rho(\omega, \eta) = \omega + \eta$. It is easy to see that $\iota \circ \gamma^* = \gamma^* \circ \iota$ and $\rho \circ \gamma^* = \gamma^* \circ \rho$. Thus we get the following sequence:

$$0 \longrightarrow \Omega_c(U \cap V)_{\Gamma} \xrightarrow{\iota_{\Gamma}} \Omega_c(U)_{\Gamma} \oplus \Omega_c(V)_{\Gamma} \xrightarrow{\rho_{\Gamma}} \Omega_c(U \cup V)_{\Gamma} \longrightarrow 0,$$
(2.15)

where ι_{Γ} and ρ_{Γ} are the restriction maps corresponding to ι and ρ respectively.

PROPOSITION 2.6.2.3. Assume that there exists a Γ -invariant partition of unity $\{\phi_U, \phi_V\}$ subordinate to $\{U, V\}$. Then (2.15) is an exact sequence.

Proof. Following the proof of Proposition 2.6.2.1 we can show in a similar way that ι_{Γ} is injective, ρ_{Γ} is surjective and $\operatorname{Im}(\iota_{\Gamma}) \subset \ker(\rho_{\Gamma})$. Conversely let $\omega \in \Omega_c(U)_{\Gamma}$ and $\eta \in \Omega_c(V)_{\Gamma}$ such that $\omega + \eta = 0$ on $U \cup V$. Since $\ker(\rho) = \operatorname{Im}(\iota)$ we can find $\alpha \in \Omega_c(U \cap V)$ such that $\omega = \alpha$ and $\eta = -\alpha$. Now ϕ_U and ϕ_V are Γ -invariant, $\operatorname{supp}(\phi_U) \subset U$ and $\operatorname{supp}(\phi_V) \subset V$, therefore we get that $\phi_V \omega, \phi_U \eta \in \Omega_c(U \cap V)_{\Gamma}$ and it follows that:

$$\alpha = \phi_U \alpha + \phi_V \alpha = \phi_V \omega - \phi_U \eta \in \Omega_c (U \cap V)_{\Gamma}.$$

Thus $(\omega, \eta) = \iota_{\Gamma}(\alpha)$, this ends the proof.

PROPOSITION 2.6.2.4. Let M be a smooth manifold, Γ a group acting on M by diffeomorphisms and $U, V \subset M$ arbitrary open subsets. Assume that there exists a Γ -invariant partition of unity $\{\phi_U, \phi_V\}$ subordinate to $\{U, V\}$. Then the short exact sequence (2.15) induce the following long exact cohomology sequence:

$$\cdots \to \mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega_{c}(U \cap V)_{\Gamma}) \xrightarrow{\iota_{\Gamma}} \mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega_{c}(U)_{\Gamma}) \oplus \mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega_{c}(V)_{\Gamma}) \xrightarrow{\rho_{\Gamma}} \mathrm{H}^{p}(\Omega_{c}(U \cup V)_{\Gamma}) \xrightarrow{\partial} \mathrm{H}^{p+1}(\Omega_{c}(U \cap V)_{\Gamma}) \xrightarrow{\iota_{\Gamma}} \dots$$

$$(2.16)$$

where $\partial: \mathrm{H}^p(\Omega_c(U \cup V)_{\Gamma}) \longrightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p+1}(\Omega_c(U \cap V)_{\Gamma})$ denote the connecting homomorphism.

2.7 Examples with infinite dimensional co-invariant cohomology

The goal of this part is to show that without additional hypothesis on the nature of a group action on a smooth manifold (for instance being properly discontinuous or an isometric action), the co-invariant cohomology is not well-behaved in general. To illustrate this we give examples in which the co-invariant cohomology is actually infinite-dimensional on a compact smooth manifold contrary to the de Rham cohomology.

2.7.1 The Hyperbolic Torus

Let $A \in SL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ such that tr(A) > 2. It is easy to check that $A = PDP^{-1}$ with $P \in GL(2, \mathbb{R})$ and $D = diag(\lambda, \lambda^{-1})$. Clearly $\lambda > 0$ and $\lambda \neq 1$. Hence it makes sense to set $D^t = diag(\lambda^t, \lambda^{-t})$ and define $A^t = PD^tP^{-1}$ for any $t \in \mathbb{R}$. Next we define the Lie group homomorphism:

$$\phi: \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{R}^2), \ t \mapsto A^t$$

The hyperbolic torus \mathbb{T}_A^3 is the smooth manifold defined as $(\mathbb{R}^2 \rtimes_{\phi} \mathbb{R})/(\mathbb{Z}^2 \rtimes_{\phi} \mathbb{Z})$. The natural projection $\mathbb{R}^2 \rtimes_{\phi} \mathbb{R} \xrightarrow{p} \mathbb{R}$ induce a fiber bundle structure $\mathbb{T}_A^3 \xrightarrow{p} \mathbb{S}^1$ with fiber type \mathbb{T}^2 such that p[x, y, t] = [t]. If (1, a) and (1, b) are the eigenvectors of A respectively associated to the eigenvalues λ and λ^{-1} then:

$$v = (1, a, 0), w = (1, b, 0) \text{ and } e = (0, 0, -\log(\lambda)^{-1}),$$

forms a basis of $\mathfrak{g} = \operatorname{Lie}(\mathbb{R}^2 \rtimes_{\phi} \mathbb{R})$, and we can check that:

$$[v,w]_{\mathfrak{g}_3} = 0, \ [e,v]_{\mathfrak{g}_3} = -v, \ \text{and} \ [e,w]_{\mathfrak{g}_3} = w.$$
 (2.17)

Denote X, Y and Z the left invariant vector fields on $\mathbb{R}^2 \rtimes_{\phi} \mathbb{R}$ associated to v, w and e respectively, then $\{X, Y, Z\}$ defines a parallelism on \mathbb{T}_3^A , a direct calculation leads to:

$$X = \lambda^t \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + a \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \right), \quad Y = \lambda^{-t} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + b \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \right) \text{ and } Z = -\log(\lambda)^{-1} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}.$$
 (2.18)

Now denote α , β and θ the dual forms associated to X, Y and Z respectively. It is clear that the vector fields X and Y of \mathbb{T}_A^3 are tangent to the fibers of the fiber bundle $\mathbb{T}_A^3 \xrightarrow{p} \mathbb{S}^1$, and that $\theta = -(\log \lambda)p^*(\sigma)$ where σ is the invariant volume form on \mathbb{S}^1 satisfying $\int_{\mathbb{S}^1} \sigma = 1$.
Suppose in what follows that the eigenvalue λ of A is irrational, then from the relation:

$$A\begin{pmatrix}1\\a\end{pmatrix}=\lambda\begin{pmatrix}1\\a\end{pmatrix}$$

we deduce that $a \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q}$. This remark leads to:

PROPOSITION 2.7.1.1. The orbits of the vector field X defined in (2.18) are dense in the fibers of the fiber bundle $\mathbb{T}_A^3 \xrightarrow{p} \mathbb{S}^1$. In particular for any $f \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}_A^3)$, X(f) = 0 is equivalent to $f = p^*(\phi)$ for some $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^1)$.

Proof. We shall identify \mathbb{S}^1 with \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z} . Fix $[t] \in \mathbb{S}^1$ and consider the diffeomorphism:

$$\Phi_t: \mathbb{T}^2 \longrightarrow p^{-1}[t], \ [x, y] \mapsto [x, y, t].$$

Then define the vector field \hat{X} on \mathbb{T}^2 given by:

$$\hat{X}_{[x,y]} = T_{[x,y,t]}\phi_t^{-1}(X_{[x,y,t]}) = \lambda^t \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + a\frac{\partial}{\partial y}\right).$$

Since a is irrational we get that the family $\{1,a\}$ is Q-linearly independent and thus the orbits of \hat{X} are dense in \mathbb{T}^2 , consequently the orbits of \hat{X} are dense in $p^{-1}[t]$, this proves the assertion since t is arbitrary.

Put $M = \mathbb{T}_A^3$. It is straightforward to check that:

$$d\alpha = -\alpha \wedge \theta, \ d\beta = \beta \wedge \theta, \ d\theta = 0$$

and that $L_X \alpha = -\theta$ and $L_X \beta = L_X \theta = 0$ thus $L_X (\alpha \land \beta \land \theta) = 0$. The vector field X induce a discrete action $\rho : \mathbb{Z} \longrightarrow \text{Diff}(M)$ given by $\rho(n)(x) = \phi_n^X(x)$. For convenience, denote $\gamma := \rho(1)$.

CALCULATING $\mathrm{H}^{0}(\Omega(M)_{\rho})$: Choose $f \in \Omega^{0}(M)_{\rho}$ such that df = 0, then f is a constant function equal to $g - \gamma^{*}g$ for some $g \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M)$. Consequently we obtain that:

$$\int_{M} f \alpha \wedge \beta \wedge \theta = \int_{M} (g - \gamma^{*}g) \alpha \wedge \beta \wedge \theta = \int_{M} g \alpha \wedge \beta \wedge \theta - \int_{M} \gamma^{*}(g \alpha \wedge \beta \wedge \theta) = 0$$

Thus f = 0 and we conclude that $H^0(\Omega(M)_{\rho}) = 0$.

CALCULATING H¹($\Omega(M)_{\rho}$): We prove that H¹($\Omega(M)_{\rho}$) is infinite dimensional. In order to do

so, we prove that the map $p^*: \Omega^1(\mathbb{S}^1) \longrightarrow \mathrm{H}^1(\Omega(M)_\rho)$ is well-defined and injective or equivalently we show that $p^*(\Omega^1(\mathbb{S}^1)) \subset \mathrm{Z}^1(\Omega(M)_\rho)$ and $p^*(\Omega^1(\mathbb{S}^1)) \cap \mathrm{B}^1(\Omega(M)_\rho) = 0$. An element $\eta \in p^*(\Omega^1(\mathbb{S}^1))$ can always be written as $\eta = p^*(\phi)\theta$ where $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^\infty(\mathbb{S}^1)$. Since $L_X\theta = 0$ and $X(p^*\phi) = 0$ then $L_X\eta = 0$ and thus $\eta = (\phi_t^X)^*\eta$. Therefore we get that:

$$\eta = \int_0^1 (\phi_t^X)^* \eta dt = -p^*(\phi) \int_0^1 (\phi_t^X)^* (L_X \alpha) dt = p^*(\phi) \alpha - \gamma^* (p^*(\phi) \alpha).$$

Moreover observe that $d\eta = 0$, hence we deduce that $p^*(\Omega^1(\mathbb{S}^1)) \subset Z^1(\Omega(M)_\rho)$. Now assume that $\eta = d(g - \gamma^*g)$ then clearly $X(g - \gamma^*g) = 0$ and $Z(g - \gamma^*g) = p^*(\phi)$, thus according to Proposition 2.7.1.1, there exists $\psi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^1)$ such that $g - \gamma^*g = p^*\psi$. By induction we can show that for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $g = \rho(n)^*g + np^*\psi$ which then leads to:

$$|p^*\psi| \le \frac{1}{n}|g - \rho(n)^*g| \le \frac{2}{n}||g||_{\infty} \underset{n \to +\infty}{\longrightarrow} 0.$$

Hence $p^*\psi = g - \gamma^*g = 0$ and so $\eta = 0$. Thus $p^*(\Omega^1(\mathbb{S}^1)) \cap B^1(\Omega(M)_\rho) = 0$.

CALCULATING $\mathrm{H}^2(\Omega(M)_{\rho})$: We will show that $p^*(\Omega^1(\mathbb{S}^1)) \wedge \beta \subset \mathrm{H}^2(\Omega(M)_{\rho})$. To do this, we fix a 2-form $\eta = p^*(\phi)\theta \wedge \beta$ with $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^1)$. We can easily check that $d\eta = 0$, moreover from the previous calculations and the fact that $L_X\beta = 0$ we get that $\beta = \gamma^*\beta$, therefore:

$$p^*(\phi)\theta \wedge \beta = (p^*\phi\alpha \wedge \beta) - \gamma^*(p^*(\phi)\alpha \wedge \beta).$$

Hence $p^*(\Omega^1(\mathbb{S}^1)) \wedge \beta \subset \mathbb{Z}^2(\Omega(M)_{\rho})$. Now assume that $\eta = d(\omega - \gamma^* \omega)$, in order to proceed we need the following lemma:

LEMMA 2.7.1.1. Let $f \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(T^3_A)$ then for every $s \in \mathbb{R}$ we have the following formula:

$$Z((\phi_s^X)^*(f)) = -s(\phi_s^X)^*(X(f)) + (\phi_s^X)^*(Z(f)).$$
(2.19)

In particular $Z(\gamma^* f) = -X(\gamma^* f) + \gamma^*(Z(f))$ and $i_Z \circ \gamma^* = -\gamma^* \circ i_X + \gamma^* \circ i_Z$.

Proof. For any $(x, y, t) \in \mathbb{R}^3$, a straightforward computation gives that:

$$\begin{split} Z\big((\phi_s^X)^*(f)\big)(x,y,t) &= -\frac{1}{\log\lambda} d(f \circ \phi_s^X)_{(x,y,t)}(0,0,1) \\ &= -\frac{1}{\log\lambda} \frac{d}{du}_{|u=0} (f \circ \phi_s^X)(x,y,t+u) \\ &= -\frac{1}{\log\lambda} \frac{d}{du}_{|u=0} f(s\lambda^{t+u} + x, as\lambda^{t+u} + y, t+u) \\ &= -\frac{1}{\log\lambda} (df)_{\phi_s^X(x,y,t)} (s\log(\lambda)\lambda^t, as\log(\lambda)\lambda^t, 1) \\ &= -s(df)_{\phi_s^X(x,y,t)} (\lambda^t, a\lambda^t, 0) - \frac{1}{\log\lambda} (df)_{\phi_s^X(x,y,t)} (0,0,1) \\ &= -s(X(f) \circ \phi_s^X)(x,y,t) + (Z(f) \circ \phi_s^X)(x,y,t). \end{split}$$

Which achieves the proof.

COROLLARY 2.7.1.1. Let $f \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M)$ and assume that $f = \gamma^* f$. Then X(f) = 0 and consequently $f = p^* \psi$ with $\psi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^1)$.

Proof. Since $f = \gamma^* f$ we get that for every $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, $f = (\gamma^n)^*(f)$ thus the preceding lemma gives that:

$$Z(f) = -nX(f) + (\gamma^n)^*(Z(f)).$$

Consequently we obtain that for every $n \in \mathbb{Z}$:

$$|X(f)| \le \frac{1}{n} \left(\|Z(f)\|_{\infty} + \|(\gamma^n)^* (Z(f))\|_{\infty} \right) \le \frac{2}{n} \|Z(f)\|_{\infty},$$

which leads to X(f) = 0 and achieves the proof.

From $\eta = d(\omega - \gamma^* \omega)$ and [X, Y] = 0 we get that $i_X i_Y (d\omega) = \gamma^* (i_X i_Y d\omega)$ and therefore according to Corollary 2.7.1.1 we can write $i_X i_Y d\omega = p^* \psi$ for some $\psi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^1)$. On the other hand we get from Lemma 2.7.1.1 that:

$$p^*\phi - i_X i_Y(d\omega) = \gamma^*(i_Z i_Y d\omega) - i_Z i_Y d\omega.$$

It follows that $p^*(\phi - \psi) = \gamma^*(i_Z i_Y d\omega) - i_Z i_Y d\omega$, as before we can prove that $p^*(\phi - \psi) = 0$, so we deduce that $p^*\phi = p^*\psi = i_X i_Y(d\omega)$. Now if we write $\omega = f\alpha + g\beta + h\theta$, then we get

Γ		1
L		L

that $p^*\phi = X(g) - Y(f)$. From $X(p^*\phi) = Y(p^*\phi) = 0$ we get that for every $s \in \mathbb{R}$:

$$s^{2}p^{*}\phi = \int_{0}^{s} \int_{0}^{s} (\phi_{t}^{X})^{*} (\phi_{u}^{Y})^{*} (p^{*}\phi) du dt$$

$$= \int_{0}^{s} \int_{0}^{s} (\phi_{t}^{X})^{*} (\phi_{u}^{Y})^{*} (X(g)) du dt - \int_{0}^{s} \int_{0}^{s} (\phi_{t}^{X})^{*} (\phi_{u}^{Y})^{*} (Y(f)) du dt$$

$$= \int_{0}^{s} (\phi_{t}^{X})^{*} X \left(\int_{0}^{s} (\phi_{u}^{Y})^{*} (g) du \right) dt - \int_{0}^{s} (\phi_{u}^{Y})^{*} Y \left(\int_{0}^{s} (\phi_{t}^{X})^{*} (f) dt \right) du$$

$$= (\phi_{s}^{X})^{*} \left(\int_{0}^{s} (\phi_{u}^{Y})^{*} (g) du \right) - \int_{0}^{s} (\phi_{u}^{Y})^{*} (g) du - (\phi_{s}^{Y})^{*} \left(\int_{0}^{s} (\phi_{t}^{X})^{*} (f) dt \right) + \int_{0}^{s} (\phi_{t}^{X})^{*} (f) dt.$$

It follows that:

$$s^{2}|p^{*}\phi| \leq 2\left\|\int_{0}^{s}(\phi_{u}^{Y})^{*}(g)du\right\|_{\infty} + 2\left\|\int_{0}^{s}(\phi_{t}^{X})^{*}(f)dt\right\|_{\infty} \leq 2|s|(\|g\|_{\infty} + \|f\|_{\infty})$$

Hence $|p^*\phi| \leq \frac{1}{s}(||g||_{\infty} + ||f||_{\infty}) \underset{s \to +\infty}{\longrightarrow} 0$. Thus $\eta = 0$ and $p^*(\Omega^1(\mathbb{S}^1)) \wedge \beta \cap B^2(\Omega(M)_{\rho}) = 0$, in particular this proves that $H^2(\Omega(M)_{\rho})$ is infinite dimensional.

CALCULATING $\mathrm{H}^{3}(\Omega(M)_{\rho})$: The elements of $\Omega^{3}(M)_{\rho}$ are of the form $(f - \gamma^{*}f)\alpha \wedge \beta \wedge \theta$ for some $f \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M)$. Put:

$$c = \frac{\int_M f \, \alpha \wedge \beta \wedge \theta}{\alpha \wedge \beta \wedge \theta}, \text{ then } \int_M (f - c) \alpha \wedge \beta \wedge \theta = 0.$$

Thus $(f-c)\alpha \wedge \beta \wedge \theta = d\omega$ and since $L_X(\alpha \wedge \beta \wedge \theta) = 0$ it follows that $(\gamma^* f - c)\alpha \wedge \beta \wedge \theta = d(\gamma^* \omega)$ and therefore:

$$(f - \gamma^* f) \alpha \wedge \beta \wedge \theta = d(\omega - \gamma^* \omega),$$

i.e $\mathrm{H}^3(\Omega(M)_\rho) = 0.$

CHAPTER 2. COHOMOLOGY OF CO-INVARIANT DIFFERENTIAL FORMS



On a type of maximal abelian torsion free subgroups of connected Lie groups

In this chapter

- 3.1 Introduction and statement of main results 35
- 3.3 Finite cover of Lie groups 41
- 3.4 The case of an exponential Lie group
- 3.5 The case of a nilpotent Lie group 45

3.1 Introduction and statement of main results

For an arbitrary Lie group G we can define the two integers:

 $p(G) = \max\{p \in \mathbb{N}, \mathbb{Z}^p \text{ is isomorphic to a discrete subgroup of } G\}.$

 $q(G) = \max\{q \in \mathbb{N}, \mathbb{R}^q \text{ is isomorphic to a closed subgroup of } G\}.$

The main purpose of this chapter is to find situations where it is possible to give explicit calculations of these invariants and relationships with other Lie algebra invariants. In [11] the authors were interested by the maximum among the dimensions of abelian sub-algebras of a given Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , so they introduced an integer $\mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{g})$ which they called the *maximal abelian dimension* of \mathfrak{g} and they had given explicit calculations of $\mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{g})$ for

some nilpotent Lie algebras. We shall see how $\mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{g})$ relates to p(G), q(G) in the case of an exponential Lie group G with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} and in the case of a nilpotent Lie group G.

Another problem closely related to our work is treated in [21] where the author introduced the notion of an envelope of an abelian subgroup of a Lie group, in mathematical terms given a Lie group G and an abelian subgroup A of G, an envelope of A in G is any connected abelian subgroup of G containing A. The author has shown that in general an envelope of an abelian subgroup might not exist and had given a counter-example in the nilpotent case, however he proved [21, Proposition 2 p. 142] that an abelian subgroup of a connected nilpotent linear Lie group always has an envelope. We inspect nilpotent Lie groups and give in Theorem 3.5.0.2 a result in the same spirit, showing where lies the difference between p(G) and q(G). Discrete cyclic subgroups of a Lie group G have also been studied from a theoretical measure point of view one can see [50] for details.

The chapter is organised as follows: in the first paragraph we give general results concerning p(G) and q(G) and we show that p(G) is finite for connected Lie groups. In the next section, we treat the effect of a finite cover on p(G), the following section specializes in describing the invariants p(G) and q(G) when G is an exponential Lie group, a class that includes simply connected nilpotent Lie groups. We then drop the simple connectedness condition and focalize on describing p(G) and q(G) for connected nilpotent Lie groups, this gives a way of comparing p(G) and q(G) in this case.

Acknowledgement

This work started with the natural question of whether a noncompact Lie group contains an infinite cyclic discrete subgroup. The authors wish to thank Aziz El Kacimi Alaoui for giving them a first proof of the Proposition 3.2.0.1.

3.2 Generalities on p(G) and q(G)

Let *G* be a Lie group. It is then clear that p(G) = q(G) = 0 when *G* is compact, so we will be interested throughout the whole paper by the non-compact case. We should note that \mathbb{Z}^p is isomorphic to a discrete subgroup of *G* means that we can find elements $\gamma_1, \dots, \gamma_p$ of *G* satisfying $\gamma_i \gamma_j = \gamma_j \gamma_i$ for all i, j such that the following map

$$\mathbb{Z}^p \to G, \ (m_1, \cdots, m_p) \mapsto \gamma_1^{m_1} \cdots \gamma_p^{m_p}$$

is injective and the generated group $\langle \gamma_1, \dots, \gamma_p \rangle$ is a discrete subgroup of G. Likewise, the abelian group \mathbb{R}^p is isomorphic to a closed subgroup of G means that there exists commuting one parameter subgroups $\exp(t_1X_1), \dots, \exp(t_pX_p)$ such that the following group homomorphism

$$\mathbb{R}^p \to G, \ (t_1, \cdots, t_p) \mapsto \exp(t_1 X_1) \cdots \exp(t_p X_p)$$

is a topological isomorphism onto a closed subgroup of *G*. When $H \subset G$ is a closed subgroup we have evidently $p(H) \leq p(G)$ and $q(H) \leq q(G)$.

PROPOSITION 3.2.0.1. Let G be a noncompact connected Lie group then:

$$1 \le q(G) \le p(G)$$
.

Proof. From [9, Theorem 6] or [6], there exists a compact subgroup $K \subset G$ and 1-parameter subgroups H_1, \ldots, H_p of G such that the map:

$$\phi: K \times H_1 \times \cdots \times H_p \longrightarrow G, \ (k, h_1, \dots, h_p) \mapsto kh_1 \dots h_p$$

is a diffeomorphism. Thus $G = K\bar{H}_1...\bar{H}_p$ where \bar{H}_i is the closure of H_i in G, and since the group G is noncompact there must exist some noncompact \bar{H}_i . Combining this with the fact that H_i is a 1-parameter subgroup we get that H_i must be closed in G and hence isomorphic to \mathbb{R} , which proves that $q(G) \ge 1$. For the right hand inequality, we observe that any Lie group imbedding $\psi : \mathbb{R}^q \longrightarrow G$ can be restricted to an injective homomorphism $\varphi : \mathbb{Z}^q \longrightarrow G$ with discrete image in G by setting $\varphi := \psi_{|\mathbb{Z}^q}$, thus $q \le p(G)$ and since q was arbitrary we get that $q(G) \le p(G)$.

The equality p(G) = 1 does occur, this is the case when G is isomorphic to \mathbb{R} , a non trivial situation when this occurs is illustrated in the following explicit calculation:

EXAMPLE 3.2.0.1 (Explicit calculation for the Affine group of \mathbb{R}).

Denote $G := Aff(\mathbb{R})^{\circ}$ the identity component of the affine group of \mathbb{R} , which can be defined as the matrix group:

$$\operatorname{Aff}(\mathbb{R})^{\circ} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} / a > 0, b \in \mathbb{R} \right\}$$

It is known that $\operatorname{Aff}(\mathbb{R})^{\circ} \simeq \mathbb{R}_{+}^{\times} \ltimes_{\rho} \mathbb{R}$ with $\rho : \mathbb{R}_{+}^{\times} \to \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{R})$, $\rho(a)(b) = a \cdot b$. For any injective homomorphism $\varphi : \mathbb{Z}^{2} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Aff}(\mathbb{R})^{\circ}$ we will show that $\varphi(\mathbb{Z}^{2})$ cannot be discrete in $\operatorname{Aff}(\mathbb{R})^{\circ}$. Denote $\gamma_{1} := \varphi(0, 1) = (a_{1}, b_{1})$ and $\gamma_{2} := \varphi(1, 0) = (a_{2}, b_{2})$. From the equality $\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2} = \gamma_{2}\gamma_{1}$, we get that:

$$b_1(a_2-1) = b_2(a_1-1).$$

By the injectivity of φ , it follows that $b_1 = 0$ if and only if $b_2 = 0$ (i.e $\gamma_1, \gamma_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{\times}_+$), similarly we have that $a_1 = 1$ if and only if $a_2 = 1$ (i.e $\gamma_1, \gamma_2 \in \mathbb{R}$). In either case, $\varphi(\mathbb{Z}^2)$ cannot be discrete in Aff(\mathbb{R})°. Therefore we can suppose that γ_1 and γ_2 are neither in \mathbb{R}^{\times}_+ nor \mathbb{R} i.e $a_1 \neq 1$, $a_2 \neq 1$ and $b_1b_2 \neq 0$. We can easily check that for all $n, m \in \mathbb{Z}$:

$$\varphi(n,m) = \gamma_1^n \gamma_2^m = \left(a_1^n a_2^m, \frac{b_1}{1-a_1}(1-a_1^n a_2^m)\right).$$

Since φ is injective we get that for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $m \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$, $a_1^n a_2^m \neq 1$ or in other terms that $\ln(a_1)/\ln(a_2) \neq n/m$ hence $\alpha := \ln(a_1)/\ln(a_2) \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q}$. Now $\mathbb{Z} + \alpha \mathbb{Z}$ is dense in \mathbb{R} , we can therefore choose non-stationary sequences $(p_n)_n$ and $(q_n)_n$ in \mathbb{Z} such that:

$$p_n + \alpha q_n = \frac{\ln(a_1^{p_n} a_2^{q_n})}{\ln(a_1)} \underset{n \to +\infty}{\longrightarrow} 0, \ thus \ \lim_{n \to +\infty} a_1^{p_n} a_2^{q_n} = 1.$$

If we put $A_n = \gamma_1^{p_n} \gamma_2^{q_n}$, we get that $(A_n)_n$ is a non-stationary sequence of $\varphi(\mathbb{Z}^2)$ which converges to I_2 , therefore $\varphi(\mathbb{Z}^2)$ cannot be discrete in $\operatorname{Aff}(\mathbb{R})^\circ$. We conclude that $\operatorname{p}(\operatorname{Aff}(\mathbb{R})^\circ) = 1$ and by Proposition 3.2.0.1, $\operatorname{q}(\operatorname{Aff}(\mathbb{R})^\circ) = 1$.

It is clear that the quantity q(G) is finite and in fact $q(G) \le \dim(G)$, however the finiteness of p(G) is not as clear so we address it in what follows.

PROPOSITION 3.2.0.2. Let G be a connected Lie group. Then:

$$1 \le q(G) \le p(G) \le \dim(G/K),$$

where K is a maximal compact subgroup of G. In particular p(G) is finite.

Proof. Let *K* be a maximal compact subgroup *G*, it is well-known that *K* exists and is unique up to conjugation since *G* has finitely many connected components, moreover the quotient space G/K is a contractible manifold. Let Γ be a discrete subgroup of *G* which is isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}^p , the natural action of Γ on G/K given by:

$$\Gamma \times G/K \longrightarrow G/K, \ (\gamma, [g]) \mapsto [\gamma g],$$

is properly discontinuous since K is compact. This action is also free, indeed since the action is properly discontinous, the isotropy groups Γ_x , $x \in G/K$ are finite hence trivial which follows from the fact that Γ is isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}^p which has no nontrivial finite subgroups. This gives that the natural projection $G/K \xrightarrow{\pi} \Gamma \setminus G/K$ is a covering of smooth manifolds, and since G/K is contractible we get that $\Gamma \setminus G/K$ is a classifying space for Γ (cf. [38]). Now since the group Γ is isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}^p and the *p*-dimensional torus \mathbb{T}^p is a classfying space for \mathbb{Z}^p , we obtain that $\Gamma \setminus G/K$ must be homotopy equivalent to \mathbb{T}^p and in particular they have the same de-Rham cohomology:

$$\mathrm{H}^{k}(\mathbb{T}^{p}) \cong \mathrm{H}^{k}(\Gamma \backslash G/K).$$

Now suppose by contradiction that we can choose $p > \dim(G/K)$, the preceding remark would give that $\mathrm{H}^p(\Gamma \backslash G/K) \cong \mathrm{H}^p(\mathbb{T}^p) \cong \mathbb{R}$, but this is clearly impossible since the double quotient $\Gamma \backslash G/K$ is a smooth manifold with $\dim(\Gamma \backslash G/K) = \dim(G/K)$ hence $\mathrm{H}^k(\Gamma \backslash G/K)$ must be trivial for any $k > \dim(G/K)$. Since p was arbitrary we get that $p(G) \leq \dim(G/K)$.

COROLLARY 3.2.0.1. Let G be a connected Lie group and C any compact subgroup of G. Then:

$$p(G) \le \dim(G) - \dim(C).$$

EXAMPLE 3.2.0.2. Choose a compact connected Lie group K and put $G = \mathbb{R}^p \times K$. Then it is clear that $p \le p(G) \le \dim(G/K)$, and so $p(G) = \dim(G/K)$ in this case.

EXAMPLE 3.2.0.3. Let $G = Aff(\mathbb{R})^{\circ}$ the identity component of the affine group of \mathbb{R} . It is clear that any compact subgroup of G is trivial thus $K = \{e_G\}$ is a maximal compact subgroup of the group G which means that $\dim(G/K) = \dim(G) = 2$, however p(G) = 1 according to Example 3.2.0.1. So $p(G) < \dim(G/K)$ in this case.

PROPOSITION 3.2.0.3. Let G_1 and G_2 be connected Lie groups and $G = G_1 \times G_2$, then:

$$\mathbf{q}(G) = \mathbf{q}(G_1) + \mathbf{q}(G_2).$$

Proof. It is clear that if A_i is a closed abelian subgroup of G_i isomorphic to \mathbb{R}^{q_i} for i = 1, 2 then the subgroup $A_1 \times A_2$ is closed in G and isomorphic to $\mathbb{R}^{q_1+q_2}$ thus $q_1 + q_2 \leq q(G)$ and therefore $q(G_1) + q(G_2) \leq q(G)$. Conversely, let A be a closed abelian subgroup of G isomorphic to \mathbb{R}^r , let $pr_i : G \longrightarrow G_i$ be the projection on the *i*-th component for i = 1, 2. Next, denote $A_i := pr_i(A)$ then its closure $\overline{A_i}$ in G_i is a closed connected abelian subgroup of G_i thus isomorphic to some $\mathbb{R}^{q_i} \times \mathbb{T}^{k_i}$, i = 1, 2. Clearly $A \subset \overline{A_1} \times \overline{A_2}$ and therefore:

$$r = \dim(A) \le q(\overline{A}_1 \times \overline{A}_2) = q_1 + q_2 \le q(G_1) + q(G_2).$$

We conclude that $q(G) \le q(G_1) + q(G_2)$.

An analogous claim for the discrete setting is more subtle, so before addressing it we need a lemma:

LEMMA 3.2.0.1. Let K be a compact Lie group and Γ be a discrete subgroup of $\mathbb{R}^p \times K$ isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}^r then $r \leq p$.

Proof. Let $\varphi : \mathbb{Z}^r \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^p \times K$ be an injective group homomorphism such that $\varphi(\mathbb{Z}^r) = \Gamma$ and denote $\operatorname{pr}_1 : \mathbb{R}^p \times K \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^p$ the first projection. Put $\psi := \operatorname{pr}_1 \circ \phi$, then:

$$\psi^{-1}(0) = \varphi^{-1}(\mathrm{pr}_1^{-1}(0)) = \varphi^{-1}(\Gamma \cap \{0\} \times K),$$

since $\Gamma \cap (\{0\} \times K)$ is finite and φ is injective we get that $\psi^{-1}(0)$ is a finite subgroup of \mathbb{Z}^r thus trivial, it follows that $\psi : \mathbb{Z}^r \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^p$ is injective. Next choose a sequence $(\gamma_n)_n$ in \mathbb{R}^p converging to 0, then $(\gamma_n)_n$ is contained in some compact neighborhood \overline{U} of 0 in \mathbb{R}^p . For any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, put $\gamma_n = \psi(g_n)$, we can write $\varphi(g_n) = (\gamma_n, k_n)$ for some $k_n \in K$, then (γ_n, k_n) belongs to $(\overline{U} \times K) \cap \Gamma$ which is finite since Γ is discrete in $\mathbb{R}^p \times K$, therefore $(\gamma_n, k_n)_n$ can only take finitely many values and it follows that the sequence $(\gamma_n)_n$ is stationary. We conclude that $\psi(\mathbb{Z}^r)$ is a discrete subgroup of \mathbb{R}^p isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}^r thus $r \leq p$.

PROPOSITION 3.2.0.4. Let G_1 and G_2 be connected Lie groups and $G = G_1 \times G_2$, then:

$$\mathbf{p}(G) = \mathbf{p}(G_1) + \mathbf{p}(G_2).$$

Proof. Let $\varphi_i : \mathbb{Z}^{p_i} \longrightarrow G_i$ i = 1, 2 be an injective homomorphism with discrete image then the map $\varphi : \mathbb{Z}^{p_1} \times \mathbb{Z}^{p_2} \longrightarrow G$ given by $\varphi(u_1, u_2) = (\varphi_1(u_1), \varphi_2(u_2))$ is an injective homomorphism with discrete image therefore $p_1 + p_2 \leq p(G)$ and since the p_1, p_2 were arbitrary we get that $p(G_1) + p(G_2) \leq p(G)$. Conversely, let $\varphi : \mathbb{Z}^r \longrightarrow G$ be an injective homomorphism with discrete image and put $\Gamma := \varphi(\mathbb{Z}^r)$. For i = 1, 2, define $H_i := \overline{pr_i(\Gamma)}$ where $pr_i : G \longrightarrow G_i$ is the projection on the *i*-th component and put $H := H_1 \times H_2$. It is clear that H_i is an abelian closed subgroup of G_i thus H is an abelian closed subgroup of G containing Γ . According to [51] each H_i is isomorphic to $\mathbb{R}^{q_i} \times \mathbb{Z}^{p_i} \times \mathbb{T}^{k_i} \times F_i$ where F_i is a finite abelian group, hence H is isomorphic to $\mathbb{R}^q \times \mathbb{Z}^p \times \mathbb{T}^k \times F$ with $q = q_1 + q_2, p = p_1 + p_2, k = k_1 + k_2$ and $F = F_1 \times F_2$. Consequently H can be realized as a closed subgroup of $\mathbb{R}^{p+q} \times \mathbb{T}^k \times F$ so by Lemma 3.2.0.1:

$$r \le p + q \le p_1 + p_2 + q_1 + q_2 \le p(G_1) + p(G_2).$$

Since the integer *r* was arbitrary we get that $p(G) \le p(G_1) + p(G_2)$.

3.3 Finite cover of Lie groups

In this paragraph we discuss the behavior of p(G) and q(G) with respect to some finite cover of Lie groups $\tilde{G} \xrightarrow{\pi} G$.

PROPOSITION 3.3.0.1. Let $\tilde{G} \xrightarrow{\pi} G$ be a finite cover of connected Lie groups. Then:

$$p(G) = p(\tilde{G}).$$

Proof. Write $F := \ker(\pi)$, then F is a finite central subgroup of \tilde{G} , i.e $F \subset Z(\tilde{G})$. We start by showing that $p(\tilde{G}) \leq p(G)$. Let $\varphi : \mathbb{Z}^p \longrightarrow \tilde{G}$ be an injective homomorphism with discrete image, define $\psi := \pi \circ \varphi$, we claim that ψ is injective. Indeed $\ker(\psi) = \varphi^{-1}(F)$ and since φ is injective and F is finite, $\varphi^{-1}(F)$ is a finite subgroup of \mathbb{Z}^p hence trivial and $\ker \psi = \{0\}$. To show that $\psi(\mathbb{Z}^p)$ is discrete in G it suffices to show that $V \cap \psi(\mathbb{Z}^p) = \{e_G\}$ for some neighborhood V of e_G in G. Since $\varphi(\mathbb{Z}^p)$ is discrete in \tilde{G} and F is finite then $\varphi(\mathbb{Z}^p) \cdot F$ is discrete in \tilde{G} , thus $U \cap (\varphi(\mathbb{Z}^p) \cdot F) = \{e_{\tilde{G}}\}$ for some open neighborhood U of $e_{\tilde{G}}$, put $V = \pi(U)$. Let $z \in V \cap \psi(\mathbb{Z}^p)$, we can find $u \in U$ and $y \in \varphi(\mathbb{Z}^p)$ such that $\pi(u) = \pi(y) = z$, then $u = y \cdot f$ and therefore $u = e_{\tilde{G}}$ and $y = f^{-1}$, consequently we obtain that $z = \pi(f^{-1}) = e_G$. We conclude that $\psi(\mathbb{Z}^p)$ is a discrete subgroup of G, choosing $p = p(\tilde{G})$ we get that $p(\tilde{G}) \leq p(G)$.

Conversely, we show that $p(G) \leq p(\tilde{G})$. Let $\varphi : \mathbb{Z}^p \longrightarrow G$ be an injective homomorphism such that $\varphi(\mathbb{Z}^p)$ is discrete in G. If $\{e_1, \ldots, e_p\}$ is the canonical basis of \mathbb{R}^p and write $\gamma_i := \varphi(e_i)$, then $\varphi(\mathbb{Z}^p) = \langle \gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_p \rangle$. Now choose $\tilde{\gamma}_1, \ldots, \tilde{\gamma}_p \in \tilde{G}$ such that $\pi(\tilde{\gamma}_i) = \gamma_i$, since $\gamma_i \gamma_j = \gamma_j \gamma_i$ and $\pi : \tilde{G} \longrightarrow G$ is a group homomorphism with ker $(\pi) = F$ we obtain that

$$\tilde{\gamma}_i \tilde{\gamma}_i = (\tilde{\gamma}_j \tilde{\gamma}_i) \cdot f_{ij}$$
 for some $f_{ij} \in F$.

Since F is finite we can find $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$ such that $f^k = e_{\tilde{G}}$ for every $f \in F$. We can check that for every $p \in \mathbb{N}$, $\tilde{\gamma}_i^p \tilde{\gamma}_j = \tilde{\gamma}_j \tilde{\gamma}_i^p f_{ij}^p$ thus $\tilde{\gamma}_i^k \tilde{\gamma}_j = \tilde{\gamma}_j \tilde{\gamma}_i^k$ and consequently $\tilde{\gamma}_i^k \tilde{\gamma}_j^k = \tilde{\gamma}_j^k \tilde{\gamma}_i^k$. Therefore we get an homomorphism $\tilde{\varphi} : \mathbb{Z}^p \longrightarrow G$ by setting $\tilde{\varphi}(e_i) := \tilde{\gamma}_i^k$, moreover if we define $\psi : \mathbb{Z}^p \longrightarrow G$ by $\psi(u) = \varphi(u)^k$ we get that ψ is an injective homomorphism, also ψ has a discrete image in G, this follows from $\psi(\mathbb{Z}^p) = \varphi(k\mathbb{Z} \times \cdots \times k\mathbb{Z})$, furthermore $\psi = \pi \circ \tilde{\varphi}$, in particular $\tilde{\varphi}$ is also injective. To show that $\tilde{\varphi}(\mathbb{Z}^p)$ is a discrete subgroup of \tilde{G} , let V be an evenly covered open neighborhood of e_G in G such that $V \cap \psi(\mathbb{Z}^p) = \{e_G\}$ and let U be an open neighborhood of $e_{\tilde{G}}$ in \tilde{G} such that the restriction $\pi_{|U} : U \longrightarrow V$ is a diffeomorphism.

Let $y \in U \cap \tilde{\varphi}(\mathbb{Z}^p)$ then it is clear that $\pi(y) \in V \cap \psi(\mathbb{Z}^p)$ and thus $\pi(y) = e_G$ or in other terms that $y \in F$. Consequently, $y^k = e_{\tilde{G}}$ but since y is also in $\tilde{\varphi}(\mathbb{Z}^p)$ we get that $y = e_{\tilde{G}}$. We conclude that $\tilde{\varphi}(\mathbb{Z}^p)$ is discrete in \tilde{G} , if we set p = p(G) then we get $p(G) \leq p(\tilde{G})$.

EXAMPLE 3.3.0.1. Let $PSL(2,\mathbb{R})$ be the projective special linear group, which is defined as:

$$PSL(2,\mathbb{R}) := SL(2,\mathbb{R})/\{\pm Id\};$$

this group cannot admit a discrete subgroup isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}^2 [27, Corollary 2.3.7]. This is equivalent to saying that $p(PSL(2,\mathbb{R})) = 1$. Hence, from Proposition 3.3.0.1 we obtain:

$$p(SL(2,\mathbb{R})) = 1,$$

although we knew that as a manifold $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ is diffeomorphic to $S^1 \times \mathbb{R}^2$.

We now show that the same result holds for the invariant q(G) as well.

PROPOSITION 3.3.0.2. Let $\tilde{G} \xrightarrow{\pi} G$ be a finite cover of Lie groups. Then $q(\tilde{G}) = q(G)$.

Proof. Denote $F := \ker \pi \subset \mathbb{Z}(\tilde{G})$ and consider the commutative diagram:



Then $\tilde{\psi}$ is an imbedding of Lie groups if and only if ψ is an imbedding of Lie groups. Indeed we have that $\ker(\psi) = \tilde{\psi}^{-1}(F)$, assume that $\psi : \mathbb{R}^q \longrightarrow \psi(\mathbb{R}^q)$ is an isomorphism of Lie groups, then $\tilde{\psi} : \mathbb{R}^q \longrightarrow \tilde{G}$ is injective. Let $(v_n)_n$ be a sequence in \mathbb{R}^q such that $(\tilde{\psi}(v_n))_n$ converges to $e_{\tilde{G}}$ then $(\psi(v_n))_n$ converges to e_G and since ψ is an isomorphism onto its image, it follows that $(v_n)_n$ converges to 0, thus $\tilde{\psi}$ is an isomorphism onto its image. Conversely, suppose that $\tilde{\psi} : \mathbb{R}^q \longrightarrow \tilde{\psi}(\mathbb{R}^q)$ is an isomorphism, then $\ker(\psi)$ is a finite subgroup of \mathbb{R}^q which is torsion-free, therefore $\ker(\psi) = \{0\}$. Let $(v_n)_n$ be a sequence in \mathbb{R}^q such that $(\psi(v_n))_n$ converges to e_G in G, since $\tilde{\psi} = \pi \circ \psi$ we can find $f_n \in F$ such that $(f_n \tilde{\psi}(v_n))_n$ converges to $e_{\tilde{G}}$. Thus $(f_n \tilde{\psi}(v_n))^k = \tilde{\psi}(kv_n)$ when k = |F| and since $(\tilde{\psi}(v_n)^k)_n$ converges to $e_{\tilde{G}}$ and $\tilde{\psi}$ is an isomorphism onto its image, it follows that $(kv_n)_n$ converges to 0 in \mathbb{R}^q and therefore the sequence $(v_n)_n$ converges to 0 in \mathbb{R}^q and ψ is an isomorphism onto its image.

In particular this implies that $q(\tilde{G}) \leq q(G)$, on the other hand if $\psi : \mathbb{R}^q \longrightarrow G$ is an imbedding of Lie groups put $A = \psi(\mathbb{R}^q)$ and $\mathfrak{a} = \text{Lie}(A)$ then the restriction $\exp_{G|\mathfrak{a}} : (\mathfrak{a}, +) \longrightarrow A$ is an isomorphism. Now define $\tilde{\psi} : \mathbb{R}^q \longrightarrow \tilde{G}$ by the formula:

$$\tilde{\psi}(v) = \exp_{\tilde{G}} \circ (\pi')^{-1} \circ (\exp_{G|\mathfrak{a}})^{-1} \circ \psi(v).$$

It is straightforward to check that $\tilde{\psi}$ is a Lie group homomorphism satisfying $\pi \circ \tilde{\psi} = \psi$ thus by the preceding remarks $\tilde{\psi}$ is a Lie group imbedding and we conclude that $q(G) \leq q(\tilde{G})$. \Box

The following examples show that Propositions 3.3.0.1 and 3.3.0.2 are not true for an infinite covering of Lie groups $\tilde{G} \xrightarrow{\pi} G$:

EXAMPLE 3.3.0.2. An obvious counter-example is the case of $\tilde{G} = \mathbb{R}$ and $G = \mathbb{S}^1$, it is clear that $p(\tilde{G}) = q(\tilde{G}) = 1$ and p(G) = q(G) = 0.

The next example illustrates a situation where the claim of Proposition 3.3.0.2 does hold and Proposition 3.3.0.1 does not:

EXAMPLE 3.3.0.3. Take $\tilde{G} := \widetilde{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$ the universal cover of $G := SL(2, \mathbb{R})$. It is well known that $\pi_1(SL(2, \mathbb{R})) = \mathbb{Z}$ which can be identified with a central subgroup of \tilde{G} , namely ker(π). Let $\Gamma := \langle \gamma \rangle$ be any discrete subgroup of G isomorphic to \mathbb{Z} and put $\tilde{\Gamma} := \pi^{-1}(\Gamma)$. Clearly $\tilde{\Gamma}$ is a discrete subgroup of \tilde{G} (it is the inverse image of a discrete subgroup by the covering map). Moreover if we choose $\gamma_1 \in \tilde{G}$ such that $\pi(\gamma_1) = \gamma$, then:

$$\tilde{\Gamma} = \langle \gamma_1 \rangle \cdot \ker(\pi) = \{ \gamma_1^n \gamma_2^m, n, m \in \mathbb{Z} \},\$$

where γ_2 is any generator of $\ker(\pi) \simeq \mathbb{Z}$, in particular $\tilde{\Gamma}$ is abelian. To conclude we show that $\tilde{\Gamma}$ is torsion-free, indeed if $\gamma_1^n \gamma_2^m = e$ then $e = \pi(\gamma_1^n \gamma_2^m) = \gamma^n$ and since Γ is torsion-free we get that n = 0 and hence $\gamma_2^m = e$, again since $\ker(\pi)$ is torsion-free m = 0. In summary we conclude that \tilde{G} admits a discrete subgroup isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}^2 , this means that $p(\tilde{G}) \ge 2$ while according to Example 3.3.0.1, p(G) = 1 = q(G).

In contrast, the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ only admits 1-dimensional abelian subalgebras and therefore the dimension of closed connected abelian subgroups of both G and \tilde{G} cannot exceed 1, in particular using Proposition 3.2.0.2, $q(G) = q(\tilde{G}) = 1$.

3.4 The case of an exponential Lie group

Let *G* be a Lie group with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . We say that *G* is exponential when the exponential map $\exp : \mathfrak{g} \longrightarrow G$ is a diffeomorphism. In particular, *G* is a simply connected and contractible Lie group.

LEMMA 3.4.0.1. Let G be an exponential Lie group and let $\alpha, \beta : \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow G$ be 1-parameter subgroups of G such that $\alpha(1) = \beta(1)$. Then $\alpha = \beta$.

Proof. If we write $\alpha(t) = \exp(tX)$ and $\beta(t) = \exp(tY)$, then the condition $\alpha(1) = \beta(1)$ is equiv-

alent to $\exp(X) = \exp(Y)$ which gives that X = Y since the group *G* is exponential, and so we conclude that $\alpha = \beta$.

LEMMA 3.4.0.2. Let G be an exponential Lie group and let $X, Y \in \mathfrak{g}$. Then [X, Y] = 0 if and only if $\exp(X)\exp(Y) = \exp(Y)\exp(X)$.

Proof. Define the 1-parameter subgroups α and β on G given by:

$$\alpha(t) = \exp(Y)\exp(tX)\exp(-Y)$$
 and $\beta(t) = \exp(tX)$.

Then $\exp(X)\exp(Y) = \exp(Y)\exp(X)$ is equivalent to $\alpha(1) = \beta(1)$ which by the preceding lemma gives that $\alpha = \beta$, i.e for every $t \in \mathbb{R}$:

$$\exp(Y)\exp(tX)\exp(-Y) = \exp(tX),$$

hence $\exp(Y)\exp(tX) = \exp(tX)\exp(Y)$. Now applying this reasoning a second time we get that for every $t, s \in \mathbb{R}$:

$$\exp(tX)\exp(sY) = \exp(sY)\exp(tX),$$

which is equivalent to [X, Y] = 0. The converse is straightforward.

Since the exponential map is a diffeomorphism, any abelian subgroup A of G is of the form $A = \exp(\mathfrak{a})$ where $\mathfrak{a} = \operatorname{Lie}(A)$, thus q(G) is equal to the maximal possible dimension of abelian Lie subalgebras in \mathfrak{g} , which is denoted $\mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{g})$ and called the *maximal abelian dimension* of \mathfrak{g} (see [11]). The same holds for p(G) by the following proposition:

PROPOSITION 3.4.0.1. Let G be an exponential Lie group. Then:

$$p(G) = q(G) = \mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{g}).$$

Proof. Let $\varphi : \mathbb{Z}^p \longrightarrow G$ be an injective homomorphism with discrete image. For i = 1, ..., p, denote $\varphi(e_i) = \exp(X_i)$ and $\mathfrak{a} = \operatorname{span}\{X_1, ..., X_p\}$. Since:

$$\exp(X_i)\exp(X_i) = \exp(X_i)\exp(X_i),$$

we obtain from the preceding lemma that $[X_i, X_j] = 0$, hence \mathfrak{a} is an abelian Lie subalgebra of \mathfrak{g} of dimension $\leq p$. Furthermore $A = \exp(\mathfrak{a})$ is a closed abelian subgroup of G, and since $\varphi(\mathbb{Z}^p)$ is a discrete subgroup of A we get necessarily that dim $A \geq p$, hence dim $\mathfrak{a} = p$. Conversely, given any p-dimensional abelian Lie subalgebra \mathfrak{a} of \mathfrak{g} , choose a basis v_1, \ldots, v_p

of a and consider the map:

$$\varphi : \mathbb{Z}^p \longrightarrow G, \ (n_1, \dots, n_p) \mapsto \exp(n_1 v_1 + \dots + n_p v_p).$$

Then $\varphi : \mathbb{Z}^p \longrightarrow G$ is clearly an injective homomorphism with discrete image. In particular, we obtain that p(G) is equal to the maximal possible dimension of an abelian Lie subalgebra of \mathfrak{g} .

3.5 The case of a nilpotent Lie group

A simply connected nilpotent Lie group is a particular case of an exponential Lie group, so Propostion 3.4.0.1 applies to this case. More generally we have the following result: **PROPOSITION 3.5.0.1.** Let G be a linear connected nilpotent Lie group, then:

$$p(G) = q(G) = \mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{g}) - \operatorname{rank}(\pi_1(G)).$$
(3.1)

Proof. Recall from ([24], Theorem 15.2.7) that a connected linear Lie group is isomorphic to the semi-direct product $B \rtimes H$ where B is a simply connected solvable Lie group and H is linearly real reductive, moreover the radical R of G is isomorphic to the semi-direct product $B \rtimes T$ where T is a maximal torus in H. In the case where the group G is solvable we get that $G = R \simeq B \rtimes T$, in particular when G is nilpotent then B is a nilpotent simply connected Lie group and since T is compact it must be central in G, therefore $G \simeq B \times T$. It follows from Propositions 3.2.0.3, 3.2.0.4 and 3.4.0.1 that:

$$p(G) = p(B) = q(B) = q(G).$$
 (3.2)

Next denote $\mathfrak{b} = \operatorname{Lie}(B)$ and $\mathfrak{t} = \operatorname{Lie}(T)$, it is clear since \mathfrak{g} is isomorphic to the Lie algebra product $\mathfrak{b} \times \mathfrak{t}$ that $\mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{b}) + \dim(\mathfrak{t}) \leq \mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{g})$. Conversely, it is possible to assume $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{b} \times \mathfrak{t}$ so that we have $\mathfrak{b} \simeq \mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{t}$ as a Lie algebra, hence if $\mathfrak{a} \subset \mathfrak{g}$ is an abelian Lie subalgebra of maximal dimension we get that $\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{t}$ is an abelian subalgebra of \mathfrak{b} and thus $\mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{g}) - \dim(\mathfrak{t}) \leq \mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{b})$. In summary using formula (3.2) and Proposition 3.4.0.1 we get that:

$$p(G) = q(G) = \mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{b}) = \mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{g}) - \dim(\mathfrak{t}),$$

we conclude by noticing that $\dim(\mathfrak{t}) = \operatorname{rank}(\pi_1(T)) = \operatorname{rank}(\pi_1(G))$.

Proposition 3.5.0.1 gives a glimpse of how things might turn out in a general setting. In

fact, we next show that equation (3.1) still holds for q(G) for any connected nilpotent Lie group *G*. Henceforth, we denote $\mathscr{L}_1(G) = \operatorname{span}\{\ker(\exp_G)\}$, then $\mathscr{L}_1(G) \subset Z(\mathfrak{g})$ is an ideal of \mathfrak{g} . Next put $K_1(G) := \exp_G(\mathscr{L}_1(G))$, this is a torus i.e. a compact connected abelian Lie subgroup of *G* (see [24] p. 439) whose dimension is equal to $\operatorname{rank}(\pi_1(G))$ (see [45] p.32 for a more general situation).

Now we are in a position to state our first main result concerning q(G). **THEOREM 3.5.0.1.** Let G be a connected nilpotent Lie group, then:

$$q(G) = \mathcal{M}(g) - \operatorname{rank}(\pi_1(G)).$$

Proof. Choose a closed subgroup V of G isomorphic to $\mathbb{R}^{q(G)}$ and denote its Lie algebra v, then $\exp_V : (v, +) \longrightarrow V$ is an isomorphism of Lie groups, in particular $v \cap \ker(\exp_G) = \{0\}$. We claim that $\mathscr{L}_1(G) \cap v = \{0\}$, indeed suppose by contradiction that there exists some nontrivial element $Y \in \mathscr{L}_1(G) \cap v$, then we get $\exp_G(\mathbb{R}Y) \subset V \cap K_1(G)$. Since $Y \in v$ we get that the group $\exp_G(\mathbb{R}Y)$ is closed in G and isomorphic to \mathbb{R} , on the other hand $\exp_G(\mathbb{R}Y)$ is contained in $K_1(G)$ so it must be compact, which is impossible. Now choose a maximal abelian Lie subalgebra \mathfrak{b} with $v \subset \mathfrak{b} \subset \mathfrak{g}$ and a maximal dimensional Lie subalgebra $\mathfrak{a} \subset \mathfrak{g}$. Using the maximality of both \mathfrak{a} and \mathfrak{b} , we get that $Z(\mathfrak{g}) \subset \mathfrak{a} \cap \mathfrak{b}$ hence $\mathscr{L}_1(G) \subset \mathfrak{a} \cap \mathfrak{b}$ and therefore $v \oplus \mathscr{L}_1(G) \subset \mathfrak{b}$. Now:

$$\mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{g}) = \dim(\mathfrak{a}) \ge \dim(\mathfrak{b}) \ge \dim(\mathcal{L}_1(G)) + \dim(\mathfrak{v}).$$

Since dim(v) = q(*G*) and dim $\mathcal{L}_1(G)$ = rank($\pi_1(G)$) we conclude that:

$$\mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{g}) - \operatorname{rank}(\pi_1(G)) \ge q(G).$$

Conversely let $\mathfrak{a} \subset \mathfrak{g}$ be an abelian Lie subalgebra of maximal dimension and define the subroup $A = \exp_G(\mathfrak{a})$, we claim that A is a closed in G. Indeed, denote by \overline{A} the closure of A which is a Lie subgroup of G by the classical closed subgroup theorem, and put $\overline{\mathfrak{a}} = \operatorname{Lie}(\overline{A})$. Since A is abelian and connected, then the same is true for \overline{A} and thus $\overline{A} = \exp_G(\overline{\mathfrak{a}})$. Now from $A \subset \overline{A}$ we get that $\mathfrak{a} \subset \overline{\mathfrak{a}}$ and by maximality of \mathfrak{a} we get that $\overline{\mathfrak{a}} = \mathfrak{a}$ therefore $\overline{A} = A$. On the other hand, $\mathscr{L}_1(G) \subset \mathbb{Z}(\mathfrak{g}) \subset \mathfrak{a}$ so we can write $\mathfrak{a} = \mathfrak{w} \oplus \mathscr{L}_1(G)$. Put $W = \exp_G(\mathfrak{w})$, it is straightforward to check that the map:

$$\phi: \mathfrak{w} \times K_1(G) \longrightarrow A, \ (w,h) \mapsto \exp_G(w)h,$$

is an isomorphism of Lie groups, in particular $W = \phi(w)$ is closed in A hence closed in G. Thus we obtain:

$$q(G) \ge \dim(W) = \dim(\mathfrak{a}) - \dim(\mathscr{L}_1(G)) = \mathscr{M}(\mathfrak{g}) - \operatorname{rank}(\pi_1(G)).$$

which ends the proof.

The following example shows that in contrast to the simply connected case, it can occur that $p(G) \neq q(G)$ for a connected nilpotent Lie group *G*:

EXAMPLE 3.5.0.1. Let \mathfrak{g} be the 3-dimensional Heisenberg Lie algebra with its usual Lie bracket structure given by $[X_1, X_2] = X_3$, it is clear that $Z(\mathfrak{g}) = [\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}] = \mathbb{R}X_3$. Next consider the nilpotent Lie group $G := (g, *)/\mathbb{Z}X_3$,¹ then clearly $\pi_1(G) \cong \mathbb{Z}X_3$ and thus rank $(\pi_1(G)) = 1$. From [11] we get that $\mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{g}) = 2$ and therefore Theorem 3.5.0.1 gives that:

$$q(G) = \mathcal{M}(g) - \operatorname{rank}(\pi_1(G)) = 1$$

We will show that $p(G) \ge 2$. Denote \overline{X} the equivalence class of $X \in \mathfrak{g}$, from the relation:

$$X_1 * X_2 = X_1 + X_2 + \frac{1}{2} [X_1, X_2] = X_2 * X_1 + X_3,$$
(3.3)

we deduce that $\bar{X}_1 * \bar{X}_2 = \bar{X}_2 * \bar{X}_1$, and therefore the homomorphism $\varphi : \mathbb{Z}^2 \longrightarrow G$ given by the expression $\varphi(e_i) = \bar{X}_i$ for i = 1, 2 is well-defined. We claim that φ is injective and has discrete image in G. Indeed let $n, m \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $\varphi(n, m) = e_G$, thus $(n\bar{X}_1) * (m\bar{X}_2) = e_G$. Using formula (3.3), we can find $p \in \mathbb{Z}$ for which:

$$2nX_1 + 2mX_2 + nmX_3 = pX_3$$
,

hence n, m = 0. On the other hand if $g_n = (p_n \bar{X}_1) * (q_n \bar{X}_2)$ is a sequence in $\varphi(\mathbb{Z}^2)$ converging to e_G , then $((p_n X_1) * (q_n X_2) * (r_n X_3))_n$ converges in $(\mathfrak{g}, *)$ to the identity element for some integer sequence $(r_n)_n$. Using relation (3.3) we obtain that:

$$(p_n X_1) * (q_n X_2) * (r_n X_3) = p_n X_1 + q_n X_2 + ((p_n q_n)/2 + r_n) X_3,$$

thus the sequences $(p_n)_n$ and $(q_n)_n$ converge to 0 in \mathbb{Z} and are therefore stationary, consequently $(g_n)_n$ is stationary. In summary, we get that $p(G) \ge 2 > q(G)$.

Now we are going to give a similar description for the invariant p(G) for an arbitrary

¹This is not a linear group as it is shown in [24] p. 336

connected nilpotent Lie group G. In order to prove the main result of this paragraph (Theorem 3.5.0.2), we need some preparation. For this, we use some results concerning lattices in nilpotent Lie groups, the necessary details can be found in Appendix (C). Our theorem is stated as follows:

THEOREM 3.5.0.2. Let G be a connected nilpotent Lie group and denote \mathfrak{g} its Lie algebra. Then:

$$p(G) = \dim(\mathfrak{n}_0) - \operatorname{rank}(\pi_1(G)),$$

where \mathfrak{n}_0 is of maximal dimension among all 2-step nilpotent Lie subalgebras \mathfrak{n} of \mathfrak{g} such that the Lie group $(\mathfrak{n}, *)$ admits a lattice Γ satisfying $[\Gamma, \Gamma] \subset \ker(\exp_G) \subset \Gamma$.

We start by proving a series of important lemmas:

LEMMA 3.5.0.1. Let \tilde{N} be a simply connected nilpotent Lie group and Γ be a lattice in \tilde{N} .

- 1. If Γ is abelian then \tilde{N} is abelian.
- 2. Let N_1 be a connected closed subgroup of \tilde{N} and Γ_1 a lattice in N_1 . Assume that $\Gamma_1 \lhd \Gamma$, then $N_1 \lhd \tilde{N}$ and $\Gamma/\Gamma \cap N_1$ is a lattice in \tilde{N}/N_1 .

Proof.

1. Since Γ is a lattice in \tilde{N} then Γ must be finitely generated and torsion-free according to Theorem C.3.0.6, hence isomorphic to a certain \mathbb{Z}^k , denote $\sigma : \mathbb{Z}^k \longrightarrow \Gamma$ this isomorphism. Since \mathbb{Z}^k is a lattice of \mathbb{R}^k , it follows by Corollary C.3.0.6 that σ can be extended to an isomorphism $\mathbb{R}^k \longrightarrow \tilde{N}$ so \tilde{N} is abelian.

2. First note that N_1 is also simply connected, this follows from $N_1 = \exp_{\tilde{N}}(\mathfrak{n}_1)$ and the fact that $\exp_{\tilde{N}}$ is a diffeomorphism, where \mathfrak{n}_1 is the Lie algebra of N_1 . Since $\Gamma_1 \triangleleft \Gamma$, then for any $\gamma \in \Gamma$:

$$\Gamma_1 = \gamma \Gamma_1 \gamma^{-1} \subset \gamma N_1 \gamma^{-1},$$

thus $\Gamma_1 \subset N_1 \cap (\gamma N_1 \gamma^{-1}) \subset N_1$, but Γ_1 is a lattice in N_1 hence $N_1 \subset \gamma N_1 \gamma^{-1}$. It follows that the subgroup N_1 is normalized by Γ and since Γ is a lattice in \tilde{N} we get that N_1 is normal in \tilde{N} according to Corollary C.3.0.1. Let $\pi : \tilde{N} \longrightarrow \tilde{N}/N_1$ the natural projection and choose a compact subset $C \subset N_1$ such that $N_1 = \Gamma_1 C$. Then:

$$\pi^{-1}(\pi(\Gamma)) = \Gamma \cdot N_1 = \Gamma \cdot \Gamma_1 \cdot C = \Gamma \cdot C,$$

thus $\pi(\Gamma)$ is a closed subgroup of \tilde{N}/N_1 and since it is countable at most then it must be discrete in \tilde{N}/N_1 . To prove that $\pi(\Gamma)$ is a lattice in \tilde{N}/N_1 , let $H \subset \tilde{N}/N_1$ be a connected

subgoup containing $\pi(\Gamma)$, then $\Gamma \subset \pi^{-1}(H) \subset \tilde{N}$. Now since $H \simeq \pi^{-1}(H)/N_1$ and N_1 are connected we get that $\pi^{-1}(H)$ is connected as well, therefore $\pi^{-1}(H) = \tilde{N}$ and $H = \tilde{N}/N_1$. The result then follows from Theorem C.3.0.1.

LEMMA 3.5.0.2. Let G be a connected nilpotent Lie group with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} and denote by Γ a discrete subgroup of $(\mathfrak{g}, *)$ satisfying ker $(\exp_G) \subset \Gamma$. Then the subgroup $\Gamma_0 := \exp_G(\Gamma)$ is discrete in G.

Proof. Choose a sequence $(X_n)_n$ in Γ such that $(\exp_G(X_n))_n$ converges to e_G in G. Next fix an open neighborhood U of e_G in G and a neighborhood V of 0 in \mathfrak{g} such that the restriction $\exp_{G|V} : V \longrightarrow U$ is a diffeomorphism. Since $\exp_G(X_n) \in U$ for $n \ge N$, we can find $Y_n \in V$ such that $\exp_G(Y_n) = \exp_G(X_n)$. Then $(Y_n)_n$ converges to 0 in \mathfrak{g} moreover there exists $Z_n \in \ker(\exp_G)$ such that $Y_n = X_n * Z_n$ and since $\ker(\exp_G) \subset \Gamma$ we get that $Y_n \in \Gamma$. It follows from the discreteness of Γ in \mathfrak{g} that $(Y_n)_n$ must be stationary hence $(\exp_G(X_n))_n$ is stationary which shows that Γ_0 is discrete in G.

LEMMA 3.5.0.3. Let G be a nilpotent Lie group with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} and Γ a discrete subgroup of (\mathfrak{g}, \ast) . Denote $\mathfrak{h} := \operatorname{span}(\ker(\exp_G))$ and $\Gamma_0 := \exp_G(\Gamma)$. Suppose that Γ satisfies:

$$[\Gamma, \Gamma] \subset \ker(\exp_G) \subset \Gamma.$$

Then $\exp_G(\Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h})$ is a finite central subgroup of G and $\Gamma_0/\exp_G(\Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h}) \subset G/\exp_G(\Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h})$ is a discrete abelian, finitely generated, torsion-free subgroup isomorphic as an abstract group to $\Gamma/\Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h}$.

Proof. It is clear that $\Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h}$ is a discrete abelian subgroup of $(\mathfrak{h}, +)$ containing ker (\exp_G) . If we let $\pi : \mathfrak{h} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{h}/\ker(\exp_G)$ be the natural projection then:

$$\pi^{-1}(\pi(\Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h})) = \Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h} + \ker(\exp_G) = \Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h}.$$

It follows that $\pi(\Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h})$ is a closed countable subgroup of $\mathfrak{h}/\ker(\exp_G)$ so it must be discrete, and since $\mathfrak{h}/\ker(\exp_G)$ is compact then $\pi(\Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h}) \simeq \Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h}/\ker(\exp_G)$ is finite. Now the exponential map \exp_G induce a bijection $\Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h}/\ker(\exp_G) \mapsto \exp_G(\Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h})$ hence $\exp_G(\Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h})$ is finite. On the other hand $\Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h} \subset \mathbb{Z}(\mathfrak{g})$ gives that $\exp_G(\Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h})$ is a central subgroup in G. Using Lemma 3.5.0.2, we obtain that Γ_0 is discrete in G hence the quotient $\Gamma_0/\exp_G(\Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h})$ is a discrete subgroup of $G/\exp_G(\Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h})$. Now from $[\Gamma,\Gamma] \subset \Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h}$ we obtain that $\Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h}$ is a normal subgroup of Γ and $\Gamma/\Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h}$ is abelian, moreover since Γ and $\Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h}$ are finitely generated, it follows that $\Gamma/\Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h}$ is finitely generated as well. Let $X \in \Gamma$ such that $nX \in \Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h}$ for some $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ then $X \in \mathfrak{h}$ thus $X \in \Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h}$ and it follows that $\Gamma/\Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h}$ is torsion-free. Consider now the homomorphism:

$$\psi: \Gamma/\Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h} \longrightarrow \Gamma_0/\exp_G(\Gamma \cap \mathfrak{h}), \ \bar{X} \mapsto [\exp_G(X)].$$

It is straightforward to check that ψ is a well-defined isomorphism of abstract groups, which achieves the proof.

Proof of Theorem 3.5.0.2. Let n be a 2-step nilpotent subalgebra of \mathfrak{g} such that $(\mathfrak{n}, *)$ admits a lattice Γ with the property $[\Gamma, \Gamma] \subset \ker(\exp_G) \subset \Gamma$. Denote $N := \exp_G(\mathfrak{n})$ and $\Gamma_0 := \exp_G(\Gamma)$. According to Lemma 3.5.0.2 Γ_0 is a discrete subgroup of G. Choose a compact subset $C \subset \mathfrak{n}$ such that $\mathfrak{n} = \Gamma * C$ then:

$$N = \exp_G(\mathfrak{n}) = \exp_G(\Gamma) \exp_G(C) = \Gamma_0 \exp_G(C).$$

thus N is closed in G. On the other hand, $\exp_G(\Gamma \cap \mathscr{L}_1(G))$ is a finite central subgorup of Gby Lemma 3.5.0.3. Let $N_0 := N/\exp_G(\Gamma \cap \mathscr{L}_1(G))$ and denote by $\pi : N \longrightarrow N_0$ the canonical projection, again Lemma 3.5.0.3 gives that $\Gamma_0/\exp_G(\Gamma \cap \mathscr{L}_1(G))$ is a discrete abelian, finitely generated, torsion-free subgroup of N_0 isomorphic as an abstract group to $\Gamma/\Gamma \cap \mathscr{L}_1(G)$ thus:

$$p(N_0) \ge rg(\Gamma/\Gamma \cap \mathscr{L}_1(G)) = rg(\Gamma) - rg(\Gamma \cap \mathscr{L}_1(G)) = \dim \mathfrak{n} - \dim \mathscr{L}_1(G).$$

Since $N \xrightarrow{\pi} N_0$ is a finite cover, Proposition 3.3.0.1 gives that $p(N) = p(N_0)$, moreover the closedness of N in G results in $p(G) \ge p(N)$. Finally, using dim $\mathscr{L}_1(G) = \operatorname{rg}(\pi_1(G))$ we conclude that:

$$p(G) \ge \dim(\mathfrak{n}) - \operatorname{rg}(\pi_1(G)).$$

Conversely, put p(G) := p and let $\varphi : \mathbb{Z}^p \longrightarrow G$ be an injective homomorphism with discrete image. Denote $\tilde{G} \xrightarrow{\pi} G$ the universal cover of G and put $\Gamma = \pi^{-1}(\varphi(\mathbb{Z}^p))$, then $\ker(\pi) \subset \Gamma$ and since π is a covering map we get that Γ is discrete in \tilde{G} . Moreover for any $\gamma_1, \gamma_2 \in \Gamma$ we have that:

$$\pi(\gamma_1\gamma_2\gamma_1^{-1}\gamma_2^{-1}) = \pi(\gamma_1)\pi(\gamma_2)\pi(\gamma_1)^{-1}\pi(\gamma_2)^{-1} = e_G$$

Thus $\pi[\Gamma, \Gamma] = \{e_G\}$ which means that $[\Gamma, \Gamma] \subset \ker(\pi) \subset \mathbb{Z}(\tilde{G})$ so Γ is 2-step nilpotent. Let \tilde{N}

be the Zariski closure of Γ in \tilde{G} then denote $\mathfrak{n} := \operatorname{Lie}(\tilde{N})$ and $N := \pi(\tilde{N})$. Choose a compact subset $C \subset \tilde{N}$ such that $\tilde{N} = \Gamma \cdot C$, then $N = \varphi(\mathbb{Z}^p) \exp_G(C)$ and since $\varphi(\mathbb{Z}^p) \subset G$ is discrete we get that N is closed in G, in particular $\mathfrak{p}(G) \leq \mathfrak{p}(N)$. On the other hand $K_1(G)$ is a compact subgroup of G and is contained in N, therefore by Corollary 3.2.0.1 we get that:

$$p(G) \le \dim(N) - \dim(K_1(G)) = \dim(\mathfrak{n}) - \operatorname{rg}(\pi_1(G)).$$

We now prove that n is 2-step nilpotent. Indeed let N_1 the Zariski closure of $[\Gamma, \Gamma]$ in \tilde{N} , and put $\mathfrak{n}_1 = \operatorname{Lie}(N_1)$. It is clear that since Γ is 2-step nilpotent then $[\Gamma, \Gamma]$ is an abelian normal subgroup of Γ hence by Lemma 3.5.0.1, N_1 is an abelian normal subgroup of \tilde{N} and $\Gamma/\Gamma \cap N_1$ is a lattice in \tilde{N}/N_1 . Now since $[\Gamma, \Gamma] \subset \Gamma \cap N_1$ it follows that $\Gamma/\Gamma \cap N_1$ is an abelian group, thus the quotient \tilde{N}/N_1 must be abelian according to Lemma 3.5.0.1. This means that $[\mathfrak{n},\mathfrak{n}] \subset \mathfrak{n}_1$. From $[\Gamma,[\Gamma,\Gamma]] = \{e_G\}$ we obtain that $\gamma = \tau\gamma\tau^{-1}$ for any $\gamma \in \Gamma$ and for any $\tau \in [\Gamma,\Gamma]$, so $\sigma_{\tau|\Gamma} = \operatorname{Id}_{\Gamma}$ where $\sigma_{\tau} : \tilde{N} \longrightarrow \tilde{N}$ is given by $\sigma_{\tau}(g) = \tau g \tau^{-1}$. Since σ_{τ} and $\operatorname{Id}_{\tilde{N}}$ coincide on Γ , they must coincide on \tilde{N} in view of Theorem C.3.0.4 which means that $\tau g \tau^{-1} = g$ for any $g \in \tilde{N}$ which is the same as $[\Gamma,\Gamma] \subset Z(\tilde{N})$ thus $N_1 \subset Z(\tilde{N})$ and consequently we deduce that $[\mathfrak{n},\mathfrak{n}] \subset \mathfrak{n}_1 \subset Z(\mathfrak{n})$. Hence \mathfrak{n} is 2-step nilpotent Lie subalgebra of \mathfrak{g} . Finally observe that in the case where $\tilde{G} = (\mathfrak{g}, *)$ and $\pi = \exp_G$, we get that $\tilde{N} = (\mathfrak{n}, *)$ and Γ is a lattice of $(\mathfrak{n}, *)$ satisfying:

$$[\Gamma,\Gamma] \subset \ker(\exp_G) \subset \Gamma,$$

which achieves the proof.

REMARK 3.5.0.1. Notice that in the proof of the preceding result, we can actually deduce that any discrete subgroup of a connected nilpotent Lie group G isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}^p is contained in a connected closed 2-step nilpotent subgroup of G.

COROLLARY 3.5.0.1. Let G be a connected nilpotent Lie group and T a maximal compact subgroup of G. Denote $A := T \cap \overline{[G,G]}$, then G/A is a linear Lie group and $p(G) \le p(G/A)$.

Proof. First observe that since T is a compact subgroup of the nilpotent Lie group G, then T is central and therefore A is a compact normal subgroup of G. Moreover T/A is a maximal compact subgroup of G/A. Since G/A is a nilpotent Lie group, according to [24, Theorem 15.2.9] G/A is linear if and only if:

$$\mathfrak{t}/\mathfrak{a} \cap [\mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{a}, \mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{a}] = \{0\},\$$

where $\mathfrak{g} = \operatorname{Lie}(G)$, $\mathfrak{t} = \operatorname{Lie}(T)$ and $\mathfrak{a} = \operatorname{Lie}(A)$. Let $\pi : G \longrightarrow G/A$ be the natural projection then from $\pi^{-1}([G/A, G/A]) = [G, G] \cdot A \subset \overline{[G, G]}$ we get that:

$$\pi^{-1}(T/A \cap [G/A, G/A]) = \pi^{-1}(T/A) \cap \pi^{-1}([G/A, G/A]) \subset T \cap \overline{[G, G]}.$$

It follows that $T/A \cap [G/A, G/A]$ is trivial and therefore its Lie algebra $t/\mathfrak{a} \cap [\mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{a}, \mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{a}]$ must also be trivial, thus G/A is a linear nilpotent Lie group. For the second claim recall that according to Theorem 3.5.0.2:

$$p(G) = \dim(\mathfrak{n}_0) - \operatorname{rg}(\pi_1(G)),$$

where \mathfrak{n}_0 is of maximal dimension among all 2-step nilpotent Lie subalgebras $\mathfrak{n} \subset \mathfrak{g}$ such that $(\mathfrak{n}, *)$ admits a lattice Γ satisfying the inclusion $[\Gamma, \Gamma] \subset \ker(\exp_G) \subset \Gamma$. Now $[\Gamma, \Gamma]$ is a lattice in $[\mathfrak{n}_0, \mathfrak{n}_0]^2$ and $\mathfrak{t} := \operatorname{span}\{\ker(\exp_G)\}^3$ therefore we get that $[\mathfrak{n}_0, \mathfrak{n}_0] \subset \mathfrak{t} \subset \mathfrak{n}_0$ and since $[\mathfrak{n}_0, \mathfrak{n}_0] \subset [\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}]$ it follows that $[\mathfrak{n}_0, \mathfrak{n}_0] \subset \mathfrak{a} \subset \mathfrak{n}_0$. On the other hand since G/A is a linear nilpotent Lie group, Proposition 3.5.0.1 gives that:

$$p(G/A) = \mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{a}) - rg(\pi_1(G/A)).$$

Let $\mathfrak{b} \subset \mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{a}$ be an abelian subalgebra of maximal dimension then denote $\pi_0 : \mathfrak{g} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{a}$ the natural projection and $\hat{\mathfrak{n}} := \pi_0^{-1}(\mathfrak{b})$ where . From $[\mathfrak{b},\mathfrak{b}] = 0$ we get that $[\hat{\mathfrak{n}},\hat{\mathfrak{n}}] \subset \mathfrak{a} \subset Z(\mathfrak{g})$ and we deduce that $\hat{\mathfrak{n}}$ is a 2-step nilpotent Lie subalgebra of \mathfrak{g} containing \mathfrak{a} , in fact from the maximality of \mathfrak{b} we obtain that $\hat{\mathfrak{n}}$ is of maximal dimension among all 2-step nilpotent Lie algebras $\mathfrak{n} \subset \mathfrak{g}$ satisfying $[\mathfrak{n},\mathfrak{n}] \subset \mathfrak{a} \subset \mathfrak{n}$, in particular from the previous observation we get that dim $\mathfrak{n}_0 \leq \dim \hat{\mathfrak{n}}$. In summary:

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{p}(G) &\leq \dim(\hat{\mathfrak{n}}) - \mathrm{rg}(\pi_1(G)) \leq \dim(\mathfrak{b}) + \dim(\mathfrak{a}) - \mathrm{rg}(\pi_1(G)) \\ &\leq \mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{a}) + \dim(\mathfrak{a}) - \mathrm{rg}(\pi_1(G)) \\ &\leq \mathrm{p}(G/A) + \dim(\mathfrak{a}) + \mathrm{rg}(\pi_1(G/A)) - \mathrm{rg}(\pi_1(G)). \end{split}$$

Since *T* and *T/A* are maximal compact subgroups of *G* and *G/A* respectively, it follows that $\pi_1(G) \simeq \pi_1(T)$ and $\pi_1(G/A) \simeq \pi_1(T/A)$, moreover since both *T* and *T/A* are tori we deduce that $\operatorname{rg}(\pi_1(G/A)) = \dim(T) - \dim(A) = \operatorname{rg}(\pi_1(G)) - \dim(A)$. Thus from the previous

² To see this let N_1 be the Zariski closure of $[\Gamma, \Gamma]$ in $N := (\mathfrak{n}_0, *)$ then $[\Gamma, \Gamma] \subset N_1 \subset [N, N]$, it follows from Lemma 3.5.0.1 that $\Gamma/\Gamma \cap N_1$ is a lattice in N/N_1 , but since $\Gamma/\Gamma \cap N_1$ is abelian, Lemma 3.5.0.1 gives that N/N_1 is abelian and so $[N,N] \subset N_1$. Therefore $[\Gamma, \Gamma]$ is a lattice in [N,N].

³ The maximal compact subgroup $T \subset G$ is exactly $K_1(G)$.

computation we conclude that $p(G) \le p(G/A)$.

COROLLARY 3.5.0.2. Let \mathfrak{g} be a 2-step nilpotent Lie algebra such that $(\mathfrak{g}, *)$ admits a lattice Γ and put $G = (\mathfrak{g}, *)/\Gamma \cap Z(\mathfrak{g})$. Then:

$$p(G) = \dim(\mathfrak{g}) - \dim Z(\mathfrak{g}).$$

Proof. Clearly $\ker(\exp_G) = \Gamma \cap Z(\mathfrak{g})$. Since \mathfrak{g} is 2-step nilpotent then $[\mathfrak{g},\mathfrak{g}] \subset Z(\mathfrak{g})$ and it follows that $[\Gamma,\Gamma] \subset \ker(\exp_G) \subset \Gamma$. From Theorem 3.5.0.2 we have $\mathfrak{p}(G) = \dim \mathfrak{g} - \operatorname{rank}(\pi_1(G))$. Now $\Gamma \cap Z(\mathfrak{g})$ is a lattice in $Z(\mathfrak{g})$ by Corollary C.3.0.7, and since $\pi_1(G) \simeq \Gamma \cap Z(G)$ we conclude that $\operatorname{rank}(\pi_1(G)) = \dim Z(\mathfrak{g})$.

EXAMPLE 3.5.0.2. Let $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{h}_k$ be the (2k + 1)-dimensional Heisenberg Lie algebra, i.e the Lie algebra with basis $\mathscr{B} = \{e_1, \ldots, e_{2k+1}\}$ and Lie bracket given by:

$$[e_{2i}, e_{2i+1}] = e_1, \quad i = 1, \dots, k.$$

The Lie algebra g is 2-step nilpotent with $Z(g) = \operatorname{span}\{e_1\}$, put $G = (g, *)/\mathbb{Z}e_1$. As before the Lie algebra structure on g is rational with respect to \mathscr{B} hence the group $\Gamma := \langle \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathscr{B}) \rangle$ is a lattice in (g, *) and it is straightforward to check that $\Gamma \cap Z(g) = \mathbb{Z}e_1$. By Corollary 3.5.0.2 we get that:

$$p(G) = 2k$$

On the other hand, $\mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{g}) = k + 1$ by [11, Theorem 5.4]. Thus from Proposition 3.4.0.1 and Theorem 3.5.0.1 we get that:

$$q(G) = k \text{ and } p(g, *) = q(g, *) = k + 1.$$

CHAPTER 3. ON A TYPE OF MAXIMAL ABELIAN TORSION FREE SUBGROUPS OF CONNECTED LIE GROUPS



Group Actions, Fiber Bundles and Classifying Bundles

In this chapter

A.1Group Actions55A.2Fiber bundles, Vector bundles and Principal bundles57A.3Operations on Fiber bundles60A.4Classifying bundles61

In what follows, unless otherwise stated a space will always mean a Hausdorff, paracompact topological space and a map will always mean a continuous map.

A.1 Group Actions

DEFINITION A.1.0.1. Let G be a topological group. We call a continuous action of the group G on a space B any map $\varphi: G \times B \longrightarrow B$, satisfying the following properties:

- 1. For any $x \in B$, $\varphi(e, x) = x$.
- 2. For any $x \in B$ and any $g, h \in G$, $\varphi(gh, x) = \varphi(g, \varphi(h, x))$.

When there is no ambiguity, we write $\varphi(g,x) := g \cdot x$. This definition says that a continuous action $\varphi : G \times B \longrightarrow B$ is just a group homomorphism $\rho : G \longrightarrow \text{Homeo}(B)$ that is continuous when Homeo(*B*) is endowed with the compact-open topology, the corresponding action of *G* on *B* is then obtained by setting $\varphi(g,x) := \rho(g)(x)$. The *orbit* of an element $x \in B$ under

the action of the group *G* is the subset $G \cdot x := \{g \cdot x, g \in G\}$. The *isotropy subgroup* at an element $x \in B$ is the subgroup $G_x = \{g \in G, g \cdot x = x\}$ of *G*.

DEFINITION A.1.0.2. A continuous group action of G on B is called:

- 1. (*Effective*): If the associated group homomorphism $\rho: G \longrightarrow \text{Homeo}(B)$ is injective.
- 2. (**Transitive**): If for some (hence all) $x \in B$, $B = G \cdot x$.
- 3. (Free): If for every $x \in B$ the isotropy subgroup G_x is trivial.
- 4. (**Proper**): If for any compact subset $C \subset B$, the set:

$$G_C := \{ g \in G, \ g \cdot C \cap C \neq \emptyset \},\$$

is a compact subset of G. When the topology of G is discrete we say that the action is properly discontinuous, in which case G_C is finite.

A continuous group action $\varphi: G \times M \longrightarrow M$ is called *smooth* if G is a Lie group, M is a smooth manifold and φ is a smooth map. In view of the preceding remark, this induces a continuous homomorphism $\rho: G \longrightarrow \text{Diff}(M)$. Denote \mathfrak{g} the Lie algebra of G and $\chi(M)$ the Lie algebra of vector fields on the manifold M, the action of the Lie group G on the manifold M can naturally give rise to a Lie algebra homomorphism $\rho': \mathfrak{g} \longrightarrow \chi(M)$ by the formula:

$$\rho'(X)_x := \frac{d}{dt}_{|t=0}(\exp_G(tX) \cdot x).$$

This is called the *infinitesimal action* of G on M associated to φ . More generally, let M be a smooth manifold and let \mathfrak{g} be a finite dimensional Lie algebra, any Lie algebra homomorphism $\rho' : \mathfrak{g} \longrightarrow \chi(M)$ is called a *Lie algebra action* and the vector fields $\rho'(X)$ are called *fundamental vector fields*, in this case we say that M is a \mathfrak{g} -manifold. Every such action defines a singular foliation on the manifold M as follows:

Given $x \in M$, the leaf through x (also the g-orbit of x) is the immersed submanifold $\mathfrak{g}(x) \subset M$ consisting of points of the form $y = \phi_{t_1}^{X_1} \circ \cdots \circ \phi_{t_r}^{X_r}$ for some $X_1, \ldots, X_r \in \mathfrak{g}, t_1, \ldots, t_r \in \mathbb{R}$ and where ϕ^X the flow of the fundamental vector field $\rho'(X)$. The topology of $\mathfrak{g}(x)$ is the finest topology for which the maps:

$$(t_1,\ldots,t_k)\mapsto \phi_{t_1}^{X_1}\circ\cdots\circ\phi_{t_k}^{X_k}(x),$$

are continuous (when these maps are well-defined) for every $X_1, \ldots, X_k \in \mathfrak{g}$. Let \mathfrak{g}_x be the kernel of the linear map $\rho'_x : \mathfrak{g} \longrightarrow T_x M, X \mapsto \rho'(X)_x$, then dim $\mathfrak{g}(x) = \dim \mathfrak{g} - \dim \mathfrak{g}_x$. Given

a smooth map $f: M \longrightarrow N$ between two g-manifolds, we say that it is g-equivariant if it satisfies $f(g(x)) \subset g(f(x))$. Finally for any $y, z \in M$, declare $y \sim z$ if and only if g(y) = g(z), the set of equivalence classes with respect to this relation will be denoted M/g, it is called the orbit space of the g-action and is endowed with the quotient topology.

PROPOSITION A.1.0.1. Let $\varphi : G \times M \longrightarrow M$ be a smooth action of a Lie group G on a smooth manifold M. Denote $\rho' : \mathfrak{g} \longrightarrow \chi(M)$ the corresponding infinitesimal action. Then for any $x \in M$ we have $\mathfrak{g}(x) = G \cdot x$ and therefore $M/\mathfrak{g} = M/G$. Moreover, let N be another G-manifold, a smooth map $f : M \longrightarrow N$ is \mathfrak{g} -equivariant if and only if it is G-equivariant, i.e $f(g \cdot x) = g \cdot f(x)$.

A Lie algebra action $\rho' : \mathfrak{g} \longrightarrow \chi(M)$ is called *complete* if $\rho'(X)$ is a complete vector field for every $X \in \mathfrak{g}$, the action is called *weakly complete* if there exists a subset $S \subset \mathfrak{g}$ that generates \mathfrak{g} such that $\rho'(X)$ is complete for every $X \in S$.

REMARK A.1.0.1. Let $\rho' : \mathfrak{g} \longrightarrow \chi(M)$ be the infinitesimal action corresponding to a Lie group action $\varphi : G \times M \longrightarrow M$. By definition, it is clear that the integral curve of $\rho'(X)$ through a point $x \in M$ is exactly the curve:

$$\gamma : \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow M, \ \gamma(t) := \exp(tX) \cdot x.$$

In this sense infinitesimal actions are always complete.

THEOREM A.1.0.1 (PALAIS). Every weakly-complete Lie algebra action can be seen as the infinitesimal description of a global action of a connected simply connected Lie group. In particular, weakly complete Lie algebra actions are complete.

A.2 Fiber bundles, Vector bundles and Principal bundles

DEFINITION A.2.0.1. A fiber bundle over a space B is a triple (E, π, F) of topological spaces E and F and a surjective map $\pi : E \longrightarrow M$ such that E is locally trivial over B: There exists an open cover $(U_{\alpha})_{\alpha}$ of M and a family of homeomorphisms $\phi_{\alpha} : U_{\alpha} \times F \longrightarrow \pi^{-1}(U_{\alpha})$ called local trivializations such that the following diagram is commutative:



In the preceding definition, B is called the *base space* and E the *total space* of the fiber

bundle (E, π, F) . It is clear that $\pi^{-1}(x) \simeq F$ for any $x \in B$ therefore F is called the *fiber type* of the fiber bundle. Fiber bundles will be denoted $F \hookrightarrow E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ or simply $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ when there is no ambiguity. A natural example of a fiber bundle is the *trivial bundle* $B \times F \xrightarrow{\text{pr}_1} B$. Finally, a fiber bundle is said to be *smooth* if the spaces B, E and F are smooth manifolds and all the maps involved are smooth.

DEFINITION A.2.0.2. Let $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ be a fiber bundle over B with fiber type F and let \mathscr{F} be a family of local trivializations $\phi_{\alpha} : U_{\alpha} \times F \longrightarrow \pi^{-1}(U_{\alpha})$ covering B. We call transition functions of $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ (relative to \mathscr{F}) the family of maps $g_{\alpha\beta} : U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta} \longrightarrow$ Homeo(F) given by:

$$(\phi_{\beta}^{-1} \circ \phi_{\alpha})(x,p) = (x, g_{\alpha\beta}(x)(p)),$$

for any $x \in U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta}$ and $p \in F$.

In these notations, if *G* is a subgroup of Homeo(*F*) with $g_{\alpha\beta}(U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta}) \subset G$ then *G* is called the *structure group* of $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$. It can be shown that transition maps are continuous whenever Homeo(*F*) is given the compact-open topology.

DEFINITION A.2.0.3. A (continuous) section of a fiber bundle $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ is a map $\sigma : B \longrightarrow E$ satisfying $\pi \circ \sigma = \text{Id}_B$.

DEFINITION A.2.0.4. Given fiber bundles $E_i \xrightarrow{\pi_i} B_i$, i = 1, 2, a fiber bundle homomorphism is a pair of maps $f : B_1 \longrightarrow B_2$ and $g : E_1 \longrightarrow E_2$ such that the following diagram is commutative:



The pair (f,g) is called an isomorphism if $g: E_1 \longrightarrow E_2$ is a homeomorphism (in which case the map $f: B_1 \longrightarrow B_2$ is automatically a homeomorphism).

DEFINITION A.2.0.5. If $E_i \xrightarrow{\pi_i} B$, i = 1, 2 are fiber bundles over the same base space B, then a bundle morphism over B is just a map $g: E_1 \longrightarrow E_2$ satisfying $\pi_2 \circ g = \pi_1$ (in the sense of the preceding definition, this is just the pair (Id_B,g)). It is called a bundle isomorphism over M if the map $g: E_1 \longrightarrow E_2$ is an homeomorphism.

When a fiber bundle $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ is isomorphic to the trivial bundle $B \times F \xrightarrow{\text{pr}_1} B$, it is called *trivial*. Every fiber bundle is by definition locally isomorphic to the trivial bundle.

DEFINITION A.2.0.6. We call a \mathbb{K} -vector bundle over a space B any fiber bundle $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$

whose fiber type F is a \mathbb{K} -vector space and whose structure group is $GL(F,\mathbb{K})$, $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$ or \mathbb{C} .

It follows that the fibers of a K-vector bundle $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ are naturally endowed with a K-vector space structure.

DEFINITION A.2.0.7. An homomorphism of \mathbb{K} -vector bundles $E_i \xrightarrow{\pi_i} B_i$, i = 1, 2 is a bundle homomorphism $(f,g): (B_1,E_1) \longrightarrow (B_2,E_2)$ such that g is \mathbb{K} -linear when restricted to the fibers of $E_1 \xrightarrow{\pi_1} B_1$.

A *local frame* of a vector bundle $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ is any family $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_r : U \longrightarrow E$ of local sections defined on an open subset $U \subset B$ such that $\{\sigma_1(x), \ldots, \sigma_r(x)\}$ forms a basis of the fiber $\pi^{-1}(x)$ for all $x \in U$.

PROPOSITION A.2.0.1. A vector bundle $E \xrightarrow{\pi} M$ is trivial if and only if it admits a global frame.

DEFINITION A.2.0.8. Let G be a topological group. A principal G-bundle over a space B is a fiber bundle $P \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ whose total space is endowed with a fiber preserving continuous group action $P \times G \longrightarrow P$, $(p,g) \mapsto p \cdot g$ such that there exists a family $\phi_{\alpha} : U_{\alpha} \times G \longrightarrow \pi^{-1}(U_{\alpha})$ of G-equivariant local trivializations covering B (the action of G on $U_{\alpha} \times G$ is naturally given by $(x,g) \cdot h := (x,g \cdot h)$).

Let $P \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ be a principal *G*-bundle and let $\phi_{\alpha} : U_{\alpha} \times G \longrightarrow \pi^{-1}(U_{\alpha})$ be a family of *G*-equivariant local trivializations covering *B*. We can check that the domain of the transition maps $g_{\alpha\beta} : U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta} \longrightarrow$ Homeo(*G*) is always contained in R(*G*) the group of right translations of *G* and which can naturally be identified to *G*, thus we can say that *G* is the structure group of the principal *G*-bundle.

DEFINITION A.2.0.9. A morphism of principal G-bundles $P_i \xrightarrow{\pi_i} B_i$, i = 1, 2 is a morphism of fiber bundles $(f,g):(M_1,B_1) \longrightarrow (M_2,B_2)$ such that g is G-equivariant.

PROPOSITION A.2.0.2. A principal G-bundle $P \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ is trivial if and only if it admits a global continuous section.

When a principal *G*-bundle $P \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ is smooth as a fiber bundle and *G* is a Lie group that acts by diffeomorphisms on *P*, we say that it is a smooth principal *G*-bundle. For a principal *G*-bundle the group *G* acts properly and freely on the total space *P* and the base space *B* is homeomorphic to P/G. A partial converse was proven by R. S. Palais in [44], it can be stated as follows:

THEOREM A.2.0.1. Let G be a Lie group acting smoothly, properly and freely on a smooth manifold M, then M/G admits a unique structure of smooth manifold such that the natural projection $M \xrightarrow{\pi} M/G$ is a smooth principal G-bundle.

A.3 Operations on Fiber bundles

PULL-BACK: Fix a map $f: X \longrightarrow B$ and let $E \xrightarrow{\pi} M$ be a fiber bundle over B with fiber type F. Set:

$$f^{-1}E := \{(x,v) \in X \times E, f(x) = \pi(v)\}.$$

It is straightforward to check that $f^{-1}E \xrightarrow{\text{pr}_1} X$ is a fiber bundle over X with the same fiber type F. It is called the *pull-back* of $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ via f and it satisfies that the following diagram is commutative:



If $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ is a vector bundle (resp. principal *G*-bundle), the pull-back $f^{-1}E \xrightarrow{\text{pr}_1} X$ is also a vector bundle (resp. a principal *G*-bundle).

THEOREM A.3.0.1. Let $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ be a fiber bundle and suppose that the maps $f_0: X \longrightarrow B$ and $f_1: X \longrightarrow B$ are homotopic. Then the respective pull-back bundles via f_0 and f_1 are isomorphic, i.e $f_0^*(E) \simeq f_1^*(E)$.

When $f_0, f_1 : X \longrightarrow B$ are homotopic maps and $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ is a principal *G*-bundle then the pullbacks $f_0^*(E)$ and $f_1^*(E)$ are isomorphic as principal *G*-bundles. Similarly, if *E* is a vector bundle we get that the pullbacks $f_0^*(E)$ and $f_1^*(E)$ are isomorphic as vector bundles.

COROLLARY A.3.0.1. Let $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ be a fiber bundle and suppose that B is a contractible space. Then E is trivial.

FIBERED PRODUCT: Let $E_i \xrightarrow{\pi_i} B$, i = 1, 2 be two fiber bundles over B with respective fiber types F_i . Define:

$$E_1 \times_B E_2 = \{(u, v) \in E_1 \times E_2, \, \pi_1(u) = \pi_2(v)\}.$$

The map $\pi: E_1 \times_B E_2 \xrightarrow{\operatorname{pr}_i} E_i \xrightarrow{\pi_i} B$ is surjective and $E_1 \times_B E_2 \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ is a fiber bundle with fiber type $F_1 \times F_2$, it is called the *fibered product* of E_1 and E_2 over B. If $E_i \xrightarrow{\pi_i} B$ are vector bundles then the resulting fibered product is a vector bundle, it is called the *Whitney sum* of E_1 and E_2 and its total space is usually denoted $E_1 \oplus E_2$.

ASSOCIATED BUNDLES: Let $P \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ be a principal *G*-bundle, *F* a topological space and fix a continuous action $\rho: G \longrightarrow \text{Homeo}(F)$. Consider the continuous action of *G* on $P \times F$

given by the expression:

$$(p,z) \cdot g := (p \cdot g, \rho(g^{-1})(z)),$$

and denote the corresponding orbit space $P \times_{\rho} F := (P \times F)/G$. The map $\pi_0 : P \times_{\rho} F \longrightarrow B$ given by $\pi_0([p, z]) = \pi(p)$ is well-defined and $P \times_{\rho} F \xrightarrow{\pi_0} B$ is a fiber bunder over B with fiber type F associated to the principal G-bundle $P \xrightarrow{\pi} M$. When F is a vector space and and the action of G on F is linear i.e $\rho(G) \subset \operatorname{GL}(F)$, the resulting associated bundle is a vector bundle.

A.4 Classifying bundles

Let $P \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ is a principal *G*-bundle and denote [X,B] the space of homotopic classes of maps $X \longrightarrow B$. Let $Prin_G(X)$ be the space of isomorphism classes of principal *G*-bundles over *X*. According to the remark following Theorem A.3.0.1, the pullback operation induces a correspondence:

 $[X,B] \longrightarrow \operatorname{Prin}_{G}(X), \ [f] \mapsto [f^*P].$

DEFINITION A.4.0.1. A principal G-bundle EG $\xrightarrow{\pi}$ BG is called universal if the total space EG is contractible.

J. Milnor have shown in [38] that universal principal G-bundles always exists for any topological group G.

THEOREM A.4.0.1. Suppose that EG $\xrightarrow{\pi}$ BG is a universal principal G-bundle and X is a CW-complex. Then the correspondence $[X, BG] \longrightarrow Prin_G(X)$ given by $[f] \mapsto [f^*(EG)]$ is bijective.

The space BG will be called a *classifying space* for the group G, and if $P \xrightarrow{\pi} X$ is a principal G-bundle, any map $f: X \longrightarrow BG$ such that $P \simeq f^*(EG)$ will be called a *classifying map* for P.

Concerning uniqueness properties of universal principal G-bundles, we state the following results:

COROLLARY A.4.0.1. The classifying space BG can be taken to have the homotopy type of a CW-complex.

In what follows a classifying space BG will always be assumed a CW-complex.

THEOREM A.4.0.2. Let $EG \longrightarrow BG$ and $E'G \longrightarrow B'G$ be two universal principal G-bundles. There exists a homotopy equivalence $B'G \longrightarrow BG$ that is covered by a G-equivariant homotopy equivalence $E'G \longrightarrow EG$. In this sense, universal principal G-bundles are unique up to homotopy equivalence.

We thus have a well-defined correspondence $G \mapsto BG$ from the category of topological groups to the category of homotopy classes of CW-complexes, which is functorial according to the following theorem:

THEOREM A.4.0.3. To each homomorphism $\phi : G \longrightarrow H$ of topological groups is associated a natural homotopy class $B\phi \in [BG, BH]$ such that if $\phi \in Hom(G, H)$ and $\psi \in Hom(H, K)$ then $[B(\phi \circ \psi)] = [B\phi \circ B\psi]$ and BId = Id.

We achieve this section with a result on the universal bundle associated to a subgroup of a given topological group:

PROPOSITION A.4.0.1. Let $H \stackrel{\iota}{\hookrightarrow} G$ be an inclusion of topological groups such that the canonical projection $G \longrightarrow G/H$ is a principal H-bundle. Then we can take EH = EG for a total space and $BH = EG \times_G (G/H)$ for a classifying space.

If *H* is a closed subgroup of a Lie group *G*, then the canonical projection $G \longrightarrow G/H$ is always a principal *H*-bundle and thus the preceding result holds in this case.



De Rham Cohomology

In this chapter

- B.1 Differential Complexes and Cohomology . . 63
- B.2 Generalities on De Rham Cohomology . . .
- B.3 Harmonic forms on compact manifolds . . . 68

B.1 Differential Complexes and Cohomology

Let $V = \bigoplus_p V^p$ be a graded vector space. a linear map $d: V \longrightarrow V$ is called a *differential* on V if it satisfies $d(V^p) \subset V^{p+1}$ and $d^2 = 0$. The couple (V, d) consisting of a graded vector space and a differential is called a *differential complex*, in this case we call a *d-cochain* any element $v \in V$. We say that $v \in V$ is a *d-cocycle* if dv = 0, and we say that v is a *d-coboundary* if w = du for some $u \in V$, we denote by $Z_d(V)$ the set of *d*-cocycles and $B_d(V)$ the set of *d*-coboundaries. It is clear that $Z_d(V) := \bigoplus_p Z_d^p(V)$ and $B_d(V) := \bigoplus_p B_d^p(V)$ with:

$$\mathbf{Z}^{p}_{\mathsf{d}}(V) = \operatorname{ker}(\mathsf{d}: V^{p} \longrightarrow V^{p+1}), \quad \mathbf{B}^{p}_{\mathsf{d}}(V) = \operatorname{Im}(\mathsf{d}: V^{p-1} \longrightarrow V^{p}),$$

hence we can see that $Z_d(V)$ and $B_d(V)$ are graded vector subspaces of V. Moreover the relation $d^2 = 0$ implies that $B_d^p(V) \subset Z_d^p(V)$. The *p*-th cohomology group of the differential complex (V, d) is defined as the vector space:

$$\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{d}}^{p}(V) := \mathbf{Z}_{\mathbf{d}}^{p}(V) / \mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{d}}^{p}(V) = \frac{\ker(\mathbf{d} : V^{p} \longrightarrow V^{p+1})}{\operatorname{Im}(\mathbf{d} : V^{p-1} \longrightarrow V^{p})}.$$

Finally we call the *cohomology* of (V,d) the graded vector space $H_d(V) = \bigoplus_p H_d^p(V)$, the cohomology class of a d-cocycle $v \in V$ will be denoted $[v]_d$. We call a *subcomplex* of a differential complex (V,d) is any graded vector subspace $W := \bigoplus_p W^p$ such that $W^p \subset V^p$ and which is stable under the differential operator d, it is clear that (W,d) is a differential complex in its own right. Consider the following sequence of sets and arrows:

$$\dots \xrightarrow{f_{i-1}} V_i \xrightarrow{f_i} V_{i+1} \xrightarrow{f_{i+1}} V_{i+2} \xrightarrow{f_{i+1}} \dots$$
(B.1)

We say that (B.1) is an *exact sequence* of vector spaces if the sets V_i are vector spaces, the maps $f_i : V_i \longrightarrow V_{i+1}$ are linear and $\ker(f_{i+1}) = \operatorname{Im}(f_i)$, in this case the sequence (B.1) is called *short* if it is of the form $0 \longrightarrow V_1 \xrightarrow{f_1} V_2 \xrightarrow{f_2} V_3 \rightarrow 0$, otherwise we say that (B.1) is a *long exact sequence*. In this sense, the cohomology of a differential complex (V,d) is an artifact measuring the exactness of the sequence of vector spaces $\dots \xrightarrow{d} V^p \xrightarrow{d} V^{p+1} \xrightarrow{d} V^{p+2} \xrightarrow{d} \dots$

Given two graded vector spaces $V_1 = \bigoplus_p V_1^p$ and $V_2 = \bigoplus_p V_2^p$, an homomorphism of graded vector space is any linear map $f: V_1 \longrightarrow V_2$ which respects the graduation i.e $f(V_1^p) \subset V_2^p$, in the case where V_i is a differential complex with differential operator d_i , then $f: V_1 \longrightarrow V_2$ is called a *complex homomorphism* it it further satisfies the relation $f \circ d_1 = d_2 \circ f$. It is straightforward to see that any complex homomorphism $f: (V_1, d_1) \longrightarrow (V_2, d_2)$ induce maps $f: H_{d_1}^p(V_1) \longrightarrow H_{d_2}^p(V_2)$ at the cohomology level. Finally, an exact sequence of differential complexes is any exact sequence of vector spaces provided that the involved spaces are differential complexes and the involved maps are complex homomorphisms.

THEOREM B.1.0.1 (FIVE LEMMA). Let (V_i, d_i) be a differential complex. Any short exact sequence $0 \longrightarrow V_1 \xrightarrow{f_1} V_2 \xrightarrow{f_2} V_3 \rightarrow 0$ of differential complexes induce the following long exact sequence in cohomology:

$$\cdots \longrightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p}_{\mathrm{d}_{1}}(V_{1}) \xrightarrow{f_{1}} \mathrm{H}^{p}_{\mathrm{d}_{2}}(V_{2}) \xrightarrow{f_{2}} \mathrm{H}^{p}_{\mathrm{d}_{3}}(V_{3}) \xrightarrow{\partial} \mathrm{H}^{p+1}_{\mathrm{d}_{1}}(V_{1}) \xrightarrow{f_{1}} \ldots$$

The boundary operator $\partial: H_{d_3}^p(V_3) \longrightarrow H_{d_1}^{p+1}(V_1)$ is given by $\partial[u]_{d_3} = f_1^{-1}(d_2(f_2^{-1}[u]_{d_3}))$ i.e for any class $[u]_{d_3} \in H_{d_3}^p(V_3)$, $\partial[u]_{d_3} = [w]_{d_1}$ such that $f_1(w) = d_2v$ and $f_2(v) = u$, the definition of $\partial[u]_{d_3}$ is independent of the choice of v and w. ∂ is called the connecting homomorphism.

B.2 Generalities on De Rham Cohomology

Let *M* be a smooth manifold, denote $\Omega^{p}(M)$ the vector space of smooth *p*-forms on the manifold *M* and $\Omega_{c}^{p}(M)$ the vector space of smooth *p*-forms on *M* with compact support.

Denote $\Omega(M) = \bigoplus_p \Omega^p(M)$ and $\Omega_c(M) = \bigoplus_p \Omega_c^p(M)$, it is clear that $\Omega_c(M) \subset \Omega(M)$ with equality when M is compact. Define the linear map $d : \Omega(M) \longrightarrow \Omega(M)$ by the expression:

$$d\omega(X_0,..,X_p) = \sum_{i=0}^{p} (-1)^i X_i \omega(X_0,..,\hat{X}_i,..,X_p) + \sum_{i< j} (-1)^{i+j} \omega([X_i,X_j],X_0,..,\hat{X}_i,..,\hat{X}_j,..,X_p).$$

Clearly $d(\Omega^p(M)) \subset \Omega^{p+1}(M)$ and $d^2 = 0$. The operator d is called the *de Rham differential* of the manifold M, it follows that $(\Omega(M), d)$ is a differential complex, i.e the *de Rham complex*, moreover $d(\Omega_c(M)) \subset \Omega_c(M)$ making $\Omega_c(M)$ a subcomplex of $(\Omega(M), d)$. In these notations, a d-cocycle is called a *closed form* and a d-coboundary is called an *exact form*.

DEFINITION B.2.0.1. Let M be a smooth manifold. The p-th de Rham cohomology group of the manifold M, denoted $\operatorname{H}_{dR}^{p}(M)$ is defined as the p-th cohomology group of the differential complex ($\Omega(M)$,d), the graded vector space $\operatorname{H}_{dR}(M) := \bigoplus_{p} \operatorname{H}_{dR}^{p}(V)$ is called the de Rham cohomology of M. Finally, the cohomology of the complex ($\Omega_{c}(M)$,d), denoted $\operatorname{H}_{c}(M)$ is called the cohomology with compact support on M.

Recall that $\Omega^p(M) = 0$ for p > n when M is an n-dimensional manifold, as a consequence we get that $\operatorname{H}^p_{dR}(M) = 0$ and $\operatorname{H}^p_c(M) = 0$ for p > n. On the other hand if M is connected any function $f \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M)$ satisfying df = 0 is constant moreover if f has compact support and M is non-compact then f = 0, in terms of cohomology groups of M this simply states that $\operatorname{H}^0_{dR}(M) = \mathbb{R}$ and $\operatorname{H}^0_c(M) = 0$ when M is non-compact. As a consequence if M consists of a single point then $\operatorname{H}^p(M) = 0$ for p > 0. Now suppose that $M = \amalg_{\alpha} M_{\alpha}$ is the union of its connected components. A differential form on M is smooth if and only if it is smooth on each connected component, it follows that $\Omega^p(M) = \bigoplus_{\alpha} \Omega^p(M_{\alpha})$ and $\operatorname{H}^p_{dR}(M) = \bigoplus_{\alpha} \operatorname{H}^p_{dR}(M_{\alpha})$.

DEFINITION B.2.0.2. Let M and N be smooth manifolds and let $f, g: M \longrightarrow N$ be smooth maps. Then f and g are said to be homotopic if there exists a smooth map $F: \mathbb{R} \times M \longrightarrow N$ such that for any $x \in M$:

$$F(t,x) = f(x), t \le 0 \text{ and } F(t,x) = g(x), t \ge 1.$$

We say that F is a proper homotopy if for any compact $K \subset N$ the subset $F^{-1}(K) \cap [0,1]$ is compact, that is $F_{|[0,1]\times M}$ is a proper map.

Any smooth map $f: M \longrightarrow N$ defines a *pull-back* operation on differential forms, i.e a linear map $f^*: \Omega(N) \longrightarrow \Omega(M)$ given by:

$$(f^*\omega)_x(v_1,...,v_p) := \omega_{(f(x))}(T_xf(v_1),...,T_xf(v_p)).$$
It is straightforward to check that $f^* \circ d = d \circ f^*$ therefore we get a well-defined induced map $f^* : H_{dR}(N) \longrightarrow H_{dR}(M)$. Any vector field X on M can be naturally extended over the manifold $M \times \mathbb{R}$ by setting $\hat{X} := (X, 0)$. Let $i_X : \Omega^p(M) \longrightarrow \Omega^{p-1}(M)$ the *contraction* corresponding to the vector field $X \in \chi(M)$, to any form $\eta \in \Omega^p(M \times \mathbb{R})$, one can associate the form $\xi \in \Omega^{p-1}(M)$ given by:

$$\xi_{x}(X_{1|x},\ldots,X_{p-1|x}) := \int_{0}^{1} (i_{\frac{\partial}{\partial t}}\eta)_{(x,s)}(\hat{X}_{1|(x,s)},\ldots,\hat{X}_{p-1|(x,s)})ds, \tag{B.2}$$

where $\frac{\partial}{\partial t}$ is the vector field generating TR. Let $f, g: M \longrightarrow N$ be homotopic smooth maps and denote $F: \mathbb{R} \times M \longrightarrow N$. Composing F^* with the map $\Omega^p(M \times \mathbb{R}) \mapsto \Omega^{p-1}(M)$ given by formula (B.2), one gets a linear operator $K: \Omega^p(N) \longrightarrow \Omega^{p-1}(M)$ explicitly given by:

$$(K\omega)_{x}(X_{1|x},\dots,X_{p-1|x}) := \int_{0}^{1} (i_{\frac{\partial}{\partial t}}F^{*}\omega)_{(x,s)}(\hat{X}_{1|(x,s)},\dots,\hat{X}_{p-1|(x,s)})ds.$$
(B.3)

We can check by a direct computation that $K(d\omega) + d(K\omega) = f^*\omega - g^*\omega$, more generally: **DEFINITION B.2.0.3.** Let $f,g:(V,d) \longrightarrow (W,d)$ be two complex homomorphisms. Call fand g chain homotopic if there exists a linear map $K: V \longrightarrow W$ such that:

$$K \circ \mathbf{d} - \mathbf{d} \circ K = f - g$$

PROPOSITION B.2.0.1. Assume $f, g: (V, d) \longrightarrow (W, d)$ are chain homotopic complex homomorphisms, then the induced maps $f, g: H_d(V) \longrightarrow H_d(W)$ are the equal, i.e $f([u]_d) = g([u]_d)$ for any $[u]_d \in H_d(V)$.

In the case of smooth manifolds M and N we have seen that homotopic maps induce a chain homotopy between the pull-backs f^* and g^* given by formula (B.3). As a consequence of proposition (B.2.0.1) we get the following result:

THEOREM B.2.0.1. Let $f,g: M \longrightarrow N$ be smooth homotopic maps between smooth manifolds M and N. Then the induced maps $f^*, g^*: H_{dR}(N) \longrightarrow H_{dR}(M)$ are equal.

Recall that two manifolds M and N are said to be homotopy equivalent if we can find smooth maps $f: M \longrightarrow N$ and $g: N \longrightarrow M$ such that $f \circ g$ is homotopic to Id_N and $g \circ f$ is homotopic to Id_M . If $M \subset N$ we call a *retraction* any a smooth map $r: N \longrightarrow M$ such that $r \circ \iota = \mathrm{Id}_M$, if we further have that $\iota \circ r$ is homotopic to Id_N we say that M is a *retract* by deformation of N this is a particular case of a homotopy equivalence. Finally if the manifold M is a point we say that N is contractible.

COROLLARY B.2.0.1. Let M and N be smooth manifolds and $f: M \longrightarrow N$ an homotopy

equivalence, then $f^*: H_{dR}(N) \longrightarrow H_{dR}(M)$ is an isomorphism. If M is a retract by deformation of N the inclusion $\iota: M \longrightarrow N$ induces an isomorphism in cohomology, in particular when M is a point we get $H_{dR}^p(N) = 0$ for any p > 0.

Let M be a smooth n-dimensional manifold. We say that M is orientable if we can find a nowhere vanishing n-form on M.

THEOREM B.2.0.2 (POINCARÉ DUALITY). Let M be a orientable smooth manifold of dimension n. Then the bilinear map:

$$B: \mathrm{H}^{p}(M) \times \mathrm{H}^{n-p}_{c}(M) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}, \ ([\omega], [\eta]_{c}) \mapsto \int_{M} \omega \wedge \eta,$$

is non-degenerate, hence it defines an isomorphism $B^{\#}: \mathrm{H}^{p}(M) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathrm{H}^{n-p}_{c}(M)$.

Let M be a smooth manifold and let U, V be open subset of M. Consider the following sequence of differential complex homomorphisms:

$$0 \to \Omega(U \cup V) \xrightarrow{j} \Omega(U) \oplus \Omega(V) \xrightarrow{k} \Omega(U \cap V) \to 0, \tag{B.4}$$

where $j: \Omega(U \cup V) \longrightarrow \Omega(U) \oplus \Omega(V)$ and $k: \Omega(U) \oplus \Omega(V) \longrightarrow \Omega(U \cap V)$ are given by:

$$j(\omega) = \omega_{|U} \oplus \omega_{|V}, \quad k(\omega \oplus \eta) = \omega_{|U \cap V} - \eta_{|U \cap V}.$$

We can check that (B.4) is an exact sequence of differential complexes, hence the Fivelemma B.1.0.1 gives the following consequence:

THEOREM B.2.0.3 (MAYER-VIETORIS SEQUENCE). Let M be a smooth manifold and choose open subsets $U, V \subset M$, then (B.4) gives rise to the following exact cohomology sequence:

$$\dots \mathrm{H}^{p}(U \cup V) \xrightarrow{j} \mathrm{H}^{p}(U) \oplus \mathrm{H}^{p}(V) \xrightarrow{k} \mathrm{H}^{p}(U \cap V) \xrightarrow{\partial} \mathrm{H}^{p+1}(U \cup V) \to \dots$$

where ∂ : $H^p(U \cap V) \longrightarrow H^{p+1}(U \cup V)$ is the connecting homomorphism. This sequence is called the Mayer-Vietoris sequence for de Rham cohomology.

Let $U \subset M$ be an open subset and $\omega \in \Omega_c^p(U)$. One can naturally extend ω into a smooth p-form with compact support on any open subset $W \subset M$ containing U by setting $\omega = 0$ on $W \setminus U$. Therefore for open subsets $U, V \subset M$, this remark allows one to define complex homomorphisms $r : \Omega_c(U \cap V) \longrightarrow \Omega_c(U) \oplus \Omega_c(V)$ and $\rho : \Omega_c(U) \oplus \Omega_c(V) \longrightarrow \Omega_c(U \cup V)$ given by $r(\omega) = (\omega, -\omega)$ and $\rho(\omega, \eta) = \omega + \eta$. We check that the following sequence is exact:

$$0 \to \Omega_c(U \cap V) \xrightarrow{r} \Omega_c(U) \oplus \Omega_c(V) \xrightarrow{\rho} \Omega_c(U \cap V) \to 0.$$
(B.5)

Again by the Five-lemma B.1.0.1 we obtain:

THEOREM B.2.0.4 (MAYER-VIETORIS FOR COMPACT SUPPORTS). Let M be a smooth manifold and let U, V be open subsets of M, then (B.5) gives the following exact cohomology sequence:

 $\dots \operatorname{H}^p_c(U \cap V) \xrightarrow{r} \operatorname{H}^p_c(U) \oplus \operatorname{H}^p_c(V) \xrightarrow{\rho} \operatorname{H}^p_c(U \cup V) \xrightarrow{\partial} \operatorname{H}^{p+1}_c(U \cap V) \to \dots$

where $\partial : \operatorname{H}^{p}_{c}(U \cup V) \longrightarrow \operatorname{H}^{p+1}_{c}(U \cap V)$ is the connecting homomorphism. This sequence is called the Mayer-Vietoris sequence for de Rham cohomology.

B.3 Harmonic forms on compact manifolds

We devote this section to review the main notions and results of Hodge theory on compact manifolds. In this paragraph, (M, \langle , \rangle) will always denote a compact, orientable Riemannian manifold with volume element dV. The Riemannian structure on M allows us to define a Euclidean structure on the vector bundle $\Lambda^p T^*M$ for all $p \in \mathbb{N}$ as follows: Fix an open subset $U \subset M$ and choose a local orthonormal frame $\{E_1, \ldots, E_n\}$ on U then

denote $\{\varepsilon^1, \ldots, \varepsilon^n\}$ its dual frame. Define on $\Lambda^p T^*M$ the Euclidean structure (,) given by:

$$(\varepsilon_I, \varepsilon_J) = \delta_{IJ},\tag{B.6}$$

with $I = \{i_1 \leq \cdots \leq i_p\}$ and $\varepsilon_I = \varepsilon^{i_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \varepsilon^{i_p}$.

PROPOSITION B.3.0.1. Let (M, \langle , \rangle) be a Riemannian manifold. The local Euclidean structure (,) given by (B.6) does not depend on the choice of the local orthonormal frame, as a result it defines a global Euclidean structure on the vector bundle $\Lambda^p T^*M$ for all $p \in \mathbb{N}$.

PROPOSITION B.3.0.2. Let (M, \langle , \rangle) be a compact oriented Riemannian manifold with Riemannian volume element dV.

- 1. For all $\eta \in \Lambda^p T^*M$, there exists a unique element $*\eta \in \Lambda^{n-p}T^*M$ defined by the relation $\omega \wedge *\eta = (\omega, \eta) dV$, for all $\omega \in \Lambda^p T^*M$.
- 2. The map $*: \Lambda^p T^*M \longrightarrow \Lambda^{n-p} T^*M$ given by $\eta \longrightarrow *\eta$ is an isomorphism of vector bundles satisfying $**\eta = (-1)^{p(n-p)}\eta$. It is called the Hodge *-operator.
- 3. Let $\{\varepsilon^1, \ldots, \varepsilon^n\}$ an orthonormal co-frame on M defined on some open subset U, then

$$*(\varepsilon^{i_1}\wedge\cdots\wedge\varepsilon^{i_p})=sgn(\sigma)\varepsilon^{j_1}\wedge\cdots\wedge\varepsilon^{j_{n-p}}.$$

with $sgn(\sigma)$ being the signature of the permutation $\sigma := (i_1, \dots, i_p, j_1, \dots, j_{n-p})$ of the set $\{1, \dots, n\}$.

DEFINITION B.3.0.1. Let M be a compact oriented Riemannian manifold. The Laplace-Beltrami operator $\Delta : \Omega(M) \longrightarrow \Omega(M)$ is the linear map given by:

$$\Delta = \delta \mathbf{d} + \mathbf{d}\delta.$$

where $\delta : \Omega^p(M) \longrightarrow \Omega^{p-1}(M)$ called the co-differential is given by $\delta \omega = (-1)^{n(p+1)+1} * d * \omega$. **PROPOSITION B.3.0.3.** Let M be a compact oriented Riemannian manifold. For all $p \in \mathbb{N}$ the mapping $\Omega^p(M) \times \Omega^p(M) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ given by:

$$\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle = \int_M \alpha \wedge *\beta$$

defines a scalar product on $\Omega^p(M)$. It can be further extended to a scalar product on $\Omega(M)$ by declaring $\langle \Omega^p(M), \Omega^q(M) \rangle = 0$ for $p \neq q$. We denote $\|\alpha\| = \langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle^{\frac{1}{2}}$.

PROPOSITION B.3.0.4. Let *M* be a compact oriented Riemannian manifold. We have the following properties:

- 1. The Laplace-Beltrami operator Δ commutes with the Hodge *-operator, i.e. $*\Delta = \Delta *$.
- 2. The co-differential δ and the differential d are conjugates in $(\Omega(M), \langle , \rangle)$, more precisely:

$$\langle \mathbf{d}\alpha, \beta \rangle = \langle \alpha, \delta\beta \rangle.$$

- 3. The Laplace-Beltrami operator Δ is self-adjoint in $(\Omega(M), \langle, \rangle)$.
- 4. For all $\alpha \in \Omega(M)$, $\Delta \alpha = 0$ if and only if $d\alpha = 0$ et $\delta \alpha = 0$.

DEFINITION B.3.0.2. Let M be a compact oriented Riemannian manifold. Define the vector space $\mathcal{H}^p(M) = \{\omega \in \Omega^p(M), \Delta \omega = 0\}$. The elements of $\mathcal{H}^p(M)$ are called the harmonic p-forms on M.

THEOREM B.3.0.1 (HODGE DECOMPOSITION). Let M be a compact oriented Riemannian manifold. The vector space $\mathscr{H}^p(M)$ is finite dimensional for all $0 \le p \le n$ and we have the following decomposition of $\Omega^p(M)$:

$$\Omega^{p}(M) = \Delta(\Omega^{p}(M)) \stackrel{\perp}{\oplus} \mathcal{H}^{p}(M)$$

= $d\delta(\Omega^{p}(M)) \stackrel{\perp}{\oplus} \delta d(\Omega^{p}(M)) \stackrel{\perp}{\oplus} \mathcal{H}^{p}(M)$
= $d(\Omega^{p-1}(M)) \stackrel{\perp}{\oplus} \delta(\Omega^{p+1}(M)) \stackrel{\perp}{\oplus} \mathcal{H}^{p}(M)$

As a consequence of this theorem, we have the following results:

COROLLARY B.3.0.1. Any cohomology class in $\operatorname{H}_{dR}^{p}(M)$ possesses a unique harmonic representative, more precisely the mapping $j : \mathscr{H}^{p}(M) \longrightarrow \operatorname{H}_{dR}^{p}(M)$ given by $j(\omega) = [\omega]$ is an isomorphism of vector spaces.

COROLLARY B.3.0.2. Let M be a compact orientable manifold, then its de Rham cohomology $H_{dR}(M)$ is finite dimensional.



Lattices of Nilpotent Lie groups

In this chapter

C.1	Generalities on Lattices of Topological	
	Groups	71
C.2	Generalities on Nilpotent Lie Groups	74
C.3	Lattices of Nilpotent Lie Groups	75

C.1 Generalities on Lattices of Topological Groups

Let *G* be a locally compact topological group. A subgroup *H* of *G* is said to be a *lattice* if *H* is discrete in *G* and the quotient *G*/*H* carries a finite *G*-invariant measure. We say that *H* is *uniform* in *G* if the quotient *G*/*H* is compact. The goal of this paragraph is to present in a unified manner the general results concerning lattices of topological groups. Assume in what follows that *G* is a locally compact topological group and $H \subset G$ is a closed subgroup. It is known (see [17, Th. 2.10 and 2.20]) that *G* carries a left *Haar measure* μ_G which is unique up to scaling by a positive factor, this corresponds to a continuous positive linear functional:

$$\mathscr{C}^0_c(G) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}, \ f \mapsto \int_G f(g) dg,$$
 (C.1)

i.e a *Radon measure*. For any $x \in G$, denote $\ell_x : G \longrightarrow G$ the corresponding left group multiplication, in view of the correspondence (C.1) the left invariance of μ_G translates to

the relation:

$$\int_G f \circ \ell_x(g) dg := \int_G f(x \cdot g) dg = \int_G f(g) dg,$$

for any $f \in \mathscr{C}^0_c(G)$. Denote $r_x : G \longrightarrow G$ the right multiplication by $x \in G$, then the positive linear functional:

$$\mathscr{C}^0_c(G) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}, \ f \mapsto \int_G f \circ r_x(g) dg = \int_G f(g \cdot x) dg,$$

defines a Borel measure on *G* which is left-invariant since $\ell_y \circ r_x = r_x \circ \ell_y$ hence a Haar measure on *G* and so by uniqueness of μ_G there exists $\Delta_G(x) \in \mathbb{R}_+$ such that:

$$\int_G f(g \cdot x) dg = \Delta_G(x) \int_G f(g) dg.$$

Continuity under integral symbol implies that $\Delta_G : G \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}_+$ is a continuous function called the *modular function* of G, it is clearly independent of the choice of the Haar measure μ_G . Moreover if we choose $f \in C_c^0(G)$ such that $\int_G f(g) dg \neq 0$, then using the relations $r_{e_G} = \mathrm{Id}_G$ and $r_{xy^{-1}} = r_x \circ r_y^{-1}$ we obtain that:

$$\Delta_G(e_G) = 1$$
 and $\Delta_G(xy^{-1}) = \Delta_G(x)\Delta_G(y)^{-1}$.

Hence $\Delta_G : G \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}_+$ is a group homomorphism into the multiplicative group (\mathbb{R}_+, \times) i.e a character. Likewise, H being a locally compact topological group in its own right, it does admit a left Haar measure μ_H and a modular function Δ_H . The group G is said to be unimodular if $\Delta_G = 1$. Let μ be a Borel measure on the homogeneous space G/H and choose a continuous homomorphism $\chi : G \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}_+$. Then μ is said to be semi G-invariant with character χ if for every $g \in G$ and any measurable subset $E \subset G/H$ we have:

$$\mu(g \cdot E) = \chi(g)\mu(E).$$

THEOREM C.1.0.1. Let G be a locally compact topological group and H a closed subgroup of G. The homogeneous space G/H admits a semi G-invariant measure if and only if the homomorphism $\Delta_G \Delta_H^{-1} : H \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$ can be extended to a continuous homomorphism on all of G. Moreover, given any homomorphism $u : G \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}_+$ such that $u_{|H} = \Delta_G \Delta_H^{-1}$, then G/H admits a semi G-invariant Borel measure with character u and this measure is unique up to a scalar multiple.

A semi G-invariant measure μ on G/H is said to be G-invariant if it corresponds to the

trivial character 1. Now assume that G/H admits a finite semi *G*-invariant measure μ with character χ , then choosing a function $f \in \mathscr{C}^0_c(G/H)$ with $\int_{G/H} f(x) d\mu(x) \neq 0$ one obtains for any $g \in G$:

$$\chi(g)\left|\int_{G/H} f(x)d\mu(x)\right| = \left|\int_{G/H} f(g \cdot x)d\mu(x)\right| \le \|f\|_{\infty} \left|\int_{G/H} d\mu(x)\right|.$$

It follows that χ is a bounded group homomorphism, which is only possible if χ is trivial. On the other hand when *H* is discrete in *G*, the Borel measure on *H* defined by the linear functional:

$$\mathscr{C}^0_c(H) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}, \ f \mapsto \sum_{h \in H} f(h),$$

is a Haar measure on H which is also right invariant, hence $\Delta_H = 1$ in this case. It follows that if H is a lattice in G then G/H admits a finite semi G-invariant measure with obvious character Δ_G , and by the finiteness of the measure the preceding remark leads to $\Delta_G = 1$. So in summary:

COROLLARY C.1.0.1. Let G be a locally compact group. If G admits a lattice then it is unimodular

In particular all compact groups are unimodular. For a Lie group G, one can speak of smooth functions and since $\mathscr{C}_c^{\infty}(G)$ is dense in $\mathscr{C}_c^0(G)$ any Haar measure $\mathscr{C}_c^0(G) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ is completely determined by its behavior on $\mathscr{C}_c^{\infty}(G)$. Therefore in order to construct a Haar measur on a Lie group G, we fix an orientation on G then consider a left-invariant volume form ω on G corresponding to this orientation (which is entirely determined by a generator of $\wedge^n(\mathfrak{g}^*)$ with $\mathfrak{g} = \text{Lie}(G)$ and $n = \dim(G)$). The Haar measure on G is then given by the usual integration operator:

$$\mathscr{C}^{\infty}_{c}(G) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}, \ f \mapsto \int_{G} f \omega.$$

Since the modular function Δ_G is a continuous group homomorphism, it is automatically smooth and in fact for any $x \in G$:

$$\int_G (f \circ r_x)\omega = \int_G r_x^*(fr_{x^{-1}}^*\omega) = \int_G r_x^*(fc_{x^{-1}}^*\omega) = \det(\operatorname{Ad}_{x^{-1}})\int_G f\omega.$$

Thus $\Delta_G(x) = \det(\operatorname{Ad}_{x^{-1}})$ for any $x \in G$, and the relation $\det \exp(A) = e^{\operatorname{tr}(A)}$ leads to the following result:

COROLLARY C.1.0.2. Let G be a connected Lie group with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . If G admits a lattice then $\operatorname{tr}(\operatorname{ad}_X) = 0$ for any $X \in \mathfrak{g}$.

C.2 Generalities on Nilpotent Lie Groups

Let *G* be a Lie group with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . For $g,h \in G$ set $[g,h] := ghg^{-1}h^{-1}$. Let *A*,*B* be subsets of *G* and denote [A,B] the subgroup of *G* generated by [g,h] where $g \in A$, $h \in B$. The *derived series* of *G* (resp. of \mathfrak{g}) is the sequence of normal subgroups of *G* (resp. ideals of \mathfrak{g}) defined by:

$$\mathcal{D}^0(G) := G, \, \mathcal{D}^k(G) := [\mathcal{D}^{k-1}(G), \mathcal{D}^{k-1}(G)] \, (\text{resp. } \mathcal{D}^0(\mathfrak{g}) := \mathfrak{g}, \, \mathcal{D}^k(\mathfrak{g}) := [\mathcal{D}^{k-1}(\mathfrak{g}), \mathcal{D}^{k-1}(\mathfrak{g})]).$$

Similarly, the sequence of normal subgroups of G (resp. of ideals of \mathfrak{g}):

$$\mathscr{C}^{0}(G) := G, \ \mathscr{C}^{k}(G) := [\mathscr{C}^{k-1}(G), G] \ (\text{resp. } \mathscr{C}^{0}(\mathfrak{g}) := \mathfrak{g}, \ \mathscr{C}^{k}(\mathfrak{g}) := [\mathscr{C}^{k-1}(\mathfrak{g}), \mathfrak{g}]),$$

is the descending central series of G (resp. of g). Clearly $\mathscr{D}^k(G) \subset \mathscr{C}^k(G)$ and $\mathscr{D}^k(\mathfrak{g}) \subset \mathscr{C}^k(\mathfrak{g})$. **DEFINITION C.2.0.1.** A Lie group G (resp. Lie algebra \mathfrak{g}) is called nilpotent if its descending central series is trivial.

PROPOSITION C.2.0.1. A connected Lie group is nilpotent if and only if its Lie algebra is nilpotent.

Let *G* be a connected nilpotent Lie group and denote \mathfrak{g} its Lie algebra. Then the polynomial product $*: \mathfrak{g} \times \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{g}$ given by Campbell-Dynkin-Baker-Hausdorff formula:

$$X * Y = X + Y + \frac{1}{2}[X, Y] + \frac{1}{12}[X, [X, Y]] - \frac{1}{12}[Y, [X, Y]] + \cdots$$

defines a simply connected nilpotent Lie group structure $(\mathfrak{g}, *)$ with exponential map given by $\exp_{\mathfrak{g}} = \operatorname{Id}_{\mathfrak{g}}$ and Lie algebra $\operatorname{Lie}(\mathfrak{g}, *) = \mathfrak{g}$, moreover the center $Z(\mathfrak{g}, *)$ of the group $(\mathfrak{g}, *)$ coincides with the center $Z(\mathfrak{g})$ of the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . The exponential map $\exp_G : \mathfrak{g} \longrightarrow G$ is the universal covering morphism of G and in particular it is surjective and therefore the fundamental group $\pi_1(G)$ of G can be identified with the subgroup $\ker(\exp_G) \subset Z(\mathfrak{g}, *)$. For any $x, y \in \ker(\exp_G)$ we can check that x + y = x * y, so $\ker(\exp_G)$ can also be seen as a discrete subgroup of the additive group $(\mathfrak{g}, +)$. Hence there exists an integer r, that will be called the rank of $\pi_1(G)$ and denoted by $\operatorname{rank}(\pi_1(G))$, such that $\pi_1(G) \cong \mathbb{Z}^r$.

PROPOSITION C.2.0.2. Any nilpotent Lie group is unimodular.

C.3 Lattices of Nilpotent Lie Groups

In order to state results concerning lattices of nilpotent Lie groups, we need to introduce some preliminary notions from algebraic geometry:

Given a polynomial ideal $I \subset \mathbb{C}[X_1, ..., X_n]$ we define $\mathcal{Z}(I) \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ to be the set of zeroes of polynomial elements in I. A subset $A \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ is said to be *algebraic* in \mathbb{C}^n if $A = \mathcal{Z}(I)$ for some polynomial ideal I. We can check that the family of all algebraic subsets of \mathbb{C}^n forms the closed (*Zariski-closed*) sets of a topology on \mathbb{C}^n called the *Zariski topology*. Let $A \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be any subset and denote I(A) the ideal consisting of polynomials P on \mathbb{C}^n such that $P_{|A} = 0$. The *Zariski closure* of A in \mathbb{C}^n is exactly the subset $B = \mathcal{Z}(I(A))$. Finally, any algebraic subset of \mathbb{C}^n with the induced Zariski topology is referred to as an *affine algebraic variety*.

Let us give $GL(n, \mathbb{C})$ a structure of affine algebraic variety using the following remark: Let $g := (g_{ij})_{i,j}$ be any element of $GL(n, \mathbb{C})$, then the condition $det(g) \neq 0$ is equivalent to stating that ydet(g) - 1 = 0 for some $y \in \mathbb{C}$ which we may rewrite as the polynomial equation P(y,g) = 0 with $P \in \mathbb{C}[Y, (X_{ij})_{i,j}]$. Now consider the imbedding:

$$\operatorname{GL}(n,\mathbb{C}) \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}^{n^2+1}, g \mapsto (g,\det(g)^{-1}).$$

Use this imbedding to identify $\operatorname{GL}(n,\mathbb{C})$ with its image, it is clear by the preceding remark that $\operatorname{GL}(n,\mathbb{C}) = \mathcal{Z}(P)$ thus $\operatorname{GL}(n,\mathbb{C})$ can be given the structure of an affine algebraic variety. A *linear algebraic group* is any Zariski-closed subgroup $G \subset \operatorname{GL}(n,\mathbb{C})$. Since linear algebraic groups are zeroes of polynomials, they are therefore Lie groups for the usual topology of $\operatorname{GL}(n,\mathbb{C})$.

A matrix $A \in GL(n,\mathbb{C})$ is said to be *unipotent* if $(A - I_n)^n = 0$. Let $U_n(\mathbb{C})$ be the set of all unipotent matrices, then $U_n(\mathbb{C})$ is an algebraic subgroup of $GL(n,\mathbb{C})$, its Lie algebra \mathfrak{u} is the set of all nilpotent elements of $\mathfrak{gl}(n,\mathbb{C})$ and the exponential map:

$$\exp: \mathfrak{u} \longrightarrow U_n(\mathbb{C}),$$

is a diffeomorphism and in fact a polynomial map. Any subgroup of $U_n(\mathbb{C})$ will be called a *unipotent* group. The following theorem determines when a closed subgroup of a simply connected nilpotent Lie group is a lattice. The proof of this theorem and all the results in this paragraph can be found in [45]. **THEOREM C.3.0.1.** Let N be a simply connected nilpotent Lie group and $\Gamma \subset N$ a closed subgroup. The following assertions are equivalent:

- 1. There exists a faithful unipotent representation $\rho : N \longrightarrow \operatorname{GL}(n,\mathbb{R})$ such that $\rho(N)$ and $\rho(\Gamma)$ have the same Zariski closure in $\operatorname{GL}(n,\mathbb{C})$.
- 2. The quotient group N/Γ is compact.
- 3. The quotient group N/Γ carries a finite invariant measure.
- 4. There are no proper connected closed subgroups of N containing Γ .
- 5. For any faithful unipotent representation $\rho: N \longrightarrow GL(n, \mathbb{R})$, $\rho(N)$ and $\rho(\Gamma)$ have the same Zariski closure.

Next we state some straightforward consequences of this Theorem:

COROLLARY C.3.0.1. Let H be a uniform subgroup of a simply connected nilpotent Lie group N then $H \cap \mathscr{D}^k(N)$ is a uniform subgroup of $\mathscr{D}^k(N)$ and $H \cap \mathscr{C}^k(N)$ is a uniform subgroup of $\mathscr{D}^k(N)$.

PROPOSITION C.3.0.1. Let N be a simply connected nilpotent Lie group and $H \subset N$ a closed uniform subgroup. A connected Lie group U of N is normal in N if and only if it is normalized by H.

COROLLARY C.3.0.2. Let H be a closed uniform subgroup of a nilpotent Lie group N and let H^0 be the identity component of H. Then H^0 is a normal subgroup of N

The next proposition expresses what the Zariski closure of a subgroup H in a simply connected Lie group N means in terms of the Lie group topology without requiring an external algebraic group.

PROPOSITION C.3.0.2. Let N be a simply connected nilpotent Lie group and H any subgroup. Then H is contained in a unique minimal connected closed subgroup \tilde{H} of N. If furthermore H is closed in N then \tilde{H}/H is compact.

In what follows, the Zariski closure of a closed subgroup H in a simply connected nilpotent Lie group N is defined to be the smallest closed connected subgroup $\tilde{H} \subset N$ containing H. We now state some results about the structure of lattices of nilpotent Lie groups:

THEOREM C.3.0.2. Any subgroup of a finitely generated nilpotent group is finitely generated.

Let Γ be a finitely generated nilpotent group, we call a *filtration* of Γ any sequence of

subgroups $\Gamma = \Gamma_0 \supset \Gamma_1 \supset \cdots \supset \Gamma_k = \{e\}$ such that $\Gamma_i \triangleleft \Gamma_{i-1}$ and Γ_{i-1}/Γ_i is abelian. Such a filtration always exists and we define the *rank* of Γ to be the integer:

$$\operatorname{rg}(\Gamma) := \sum_{i=1}^{k} \operatorname{rg}(\Gamma_{i-1}/\Gamma_i).$$

This integer is independant of the choice of the filtration.

THEOREM C.3.0.3. Let N be a simply connected nilpotent Lie group and Γ a discrete subgroup of N. Denote $\tilde{\Gamma}$ the Zariski closure of Γ in N, then Γ is finitely generated and:

$$rg(\Gamma) = dim(\tilde{\Gamma}).$$

COROLLARY C.3.0.3. Let N be a nilpotent simply connected Lie group and H a closed subgroup. Let H^0 be the identity component of H and \tilde{H} the Zariski closure of H in N. Then:

$$\dim \tilde{H} = \dim H + \operatorname{rg}(H/H^0).$$

COROLLARY C.3.0.4. Let N be a connected nilpotent Lie group (not necessarily simply connected) and let $\Gamma \subset N$ be any discrete subgroup. Then Γ is finitely generated.

The next set of results shows how a homomorphism of simply connected nilpotent Lie groups is completely determined by its behavior on a lattice. As a consequence, two simply connected nilpotent Lie groups giving rise to the same nilmanifolds (quotient by a lattice) are the same.

THEOREM C.3.0.4. Let N and V be two nilpotent simply connected groups and let H be a uniform subgroup of N. Then any continuous homomorphism $\rho : H \longrightarrow V$ can be extended in a unique manner to a continuous (hence smooth) homomorphism $\tilde{\rho} : N \longrightarrow V$.

COROLLARY C.3.0.5. Let N be a simply connected nilpotent Lie group and $H \subset N$ a closed uniform subgroup. Then any automorphism of H extends to a unique automorphism of N.

COROLLARY C.3.0.6. Let N_1 and N_2 be simply connected nilpotent Lie groups and H_1, H_2 uniform closed subgroups of N_1 and N_2 respectively. Any isomorphism of H_1 on H_2 extends to an isomorphism of N_1 on N_2 . In particular, N_1/H_1 and N_2/H_2 are homeomorphic. Conversely if H_1 and H_2 are uniform lattices such that N_1/H_1 and N_2/H_2 are homeomorphic then N_1 and N_2 are isomorphic.

We end this paragraph with the famous Malcev criterion which allows to decide whether a simply connected nilpotent Lie group admits a lattice just by looking at its Lie algebra structure. **THEOREM C.3.0.5** (MALCEV). Let N be a simply connected Lie group and denote n its Lie algebra. Then N admits a lattice if and only if n admits a basis with respect to which the constants of structure are rational.

A more precise statement of the preceding theorem is the following: Let n be a nilpotent Lie algebra with respect to which the constants of structure are rational. Let n_0 be the \mathbb{Q} -vector space spanned by this basis, if \mathscr{L} is a lattice of maximal rank in (n, +) contained in n_0 then the group generated by $\exp \mathscr{L}$ is a lattice in N. Conversely if Γ is a lattice in N, then the \mathbb{Z} -span of $\exp^{-1}\Gamma$ is a lattice of maximal rank in (n, +) such that the constants of structure of n with respect to any basis in $\mathscr{L} := \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{Z}}(\exp^{-1}\Gamma)$ are rational. We conclude with two important consequences of Malcev's Theorem, but first some terminology:

The ascending central series of a Lie group G is the family of ideals $(\mathscr{C}'_k(G))_k$ defined inductively by $\mathscr{C}'_0(G) = \{e_G\}$ and $\mathscr{C}'_k(G) = \pi^{-1}(\mathbb{Z}(G/\mathscr{C}'_{k-1}(G)))$ where $\pi : G \longrightarrow G/\mathscr{C}'_{k-1}(G)$ is the natural projection. Explicitly, we get that:

$$\mathscr{C}'_{k}(G) = \{g \in G, ghg^{-1}h^{-1} \in \mathscr{C}'_{k-1}(G) \text{ for any } h \in G\}.$$

In particular, $\mathscr{C}'_1(G) = Z(G)$ and it can be shown that the Lie group G is nilpotent if and only if the sequence $(\mathscr{C}'_k(G))_k$ reaches G i.e $\mathscr{C}'_k(G) = G$ for k large enough.

COROLLARY C.3.0.7. Let N be a simply connected nilpotent Lie group and $\Gamma \subset N$ a lattice. Then $\mathscr{C}'_k(N) \cap \Gamma$ is a lattice in $\mathscr{C}'_k(N)$, in particular the intersection of Γ with the center of N is a lattice of the center.

THEOREM C.3.0.6. A group Γ is isomorphic to a lattice in a simply connected nilpotent Lie group if and only if Γ is nilpotent, torsion-free and finitely generated.

Index

Abelian dimension, 4, 35 Abelian subalgebra, 35 Abelian subgroup, 35 Affine group, 37 Associated bundle, 60

Campbell-Dynkin-Baker-Hausdorff, 74 Classifying space, 61 Clifford-Klein forms, 10, 24 Co-invariant cohomology, 10 Contractible, 61, 66 Cutoff function, 20

De Rham cohomology, 65 Discrete group, 20 Discrete subgroup, 36, 71 Divergence form, 3

Equivariant map, 26, 57 Exponential Lie group, 43 Exponential map, 43, 74

Fiber bundle, 57 Finite cover, 41 Foliation, 56 Free action, 25, 56 Fundamental group, 25, 45, 74 Fundamental vector field, 56

Genus, 25 Group action, 11, 55

Harmonic form, 15, 69 Heisenberg Lie algebra, 47, 53 Homotopy, 26, 65 Hyperbolic torus, 29

Infinitesimal action, 56 Invariant cohomology, 10 Isometric action, 10 Isometry, 14

Lie algebra, 35, 56 Lie algebra action, 56 Lie algebra cohomology, 19 Lie group, 18, 35, 56 Liouville vector, 18

Manifold, 9 Maximal compact subgroup, 25, 38 Mayer-Vietoris sequence, 26, 67 Modular function, 72 Modular group, 29 Nilmanifold, 25 Nilpotent Lie group, 45, 74 Oriented manifold, 15, 68 Poincaré half-plane, 25 Principal bundle, 57 Projective special linear group, 25, 42 Proper action, 56, 59 Properly discontinuous action, 19, 56 Riemann surface, 25 Riemannian manifold, 14, 68

Torus, 18

Uniform subgroup, 76 Unimodular, 72 Unipotent, 75 Universal cover, 43 Universal principal bundle, 61

Vector bundle, 57

Bibliography

- A. Abouqateb, M. Boucetta and M. Nabil, Cohomology of Coinvariant Differential Forms. Journal of Lie Theory 28, no. 3 (2018): 829-841.
- [2] A. Abouqateb, M. T. Benameur, Cohomologies continues pour les actions propres, Annales des Sciences Mathématiques du Quebec (Vol. 30, 2006).
- [3] A. Abouqateb, M. Nabil, On a type of maximal abelian torsion free subgroups of connected Lie groups. Abh. Math. Semin. Univ. Hambg. (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12188-020-00214-y
- [4] A. Abouqateb, Cohomologie des formes divergences et Actions propres d'algèbres de Lie. Journal of Lie Theory 17 (2007), No. 2, 317-335
- [5] H. Abels, *Parallelizability of proper actions, global K-slices and maximal compact subgroups*, Mathematische Annalen, 212(1), 1-19 (1974).
- [6] A. Borel, Sous-groupes compacts maximaux des groupes de Lie, Séminaire Bourbaki 1 271-279. (1950).
- [7] R. Bott, L. W. Tu, *Differential forms in algebraic topology*, Vol. 82, Springer Science & Business Media. (2013).
- [8] N. Bourbaki, Intégration, Chapters 7-8. Springer (2007).
- [9] P. Cartier, Structure topologique des groupes de Lie généraux, Séminaire Sophus Lie, Tome 1, Exposé 22, p: 1-20 (1955).

- [10] M. Ceballos, J. Núñez and A. F. Tenorio, The computation of abelian subalgebras in the Lie algebra of upper-triangular matrices, Analele Stiintifice ale Universitatii Ovidius Constanta: Seria Matematica, 16 (1), 59-66 (2008).
- [11] M. Ceballos, A.F. Tenorio and J. N. Valés, Abelian subalgebras on Lie algebras, Vol. 17 N 04 Communications in Contemporary Mathematics 1550050 World Scientific(2015).
- [12] M. Ceballos, D. Burde, Abelian ideals of maximal dimension for solvable Lie algebras, arXiv preprint arXiv:0911.2995 (2009).
- [13] A. Dold, Partitions of unity in the theory of fibrations, Ann. of Math, vol. 78, no 2, p. 223-255 (1963).
- [14] A. El Kacimi Alaoui and H. Hmili, Cohomological equations and invariant distributions on a compact Lie group, Hokkaido Mathematical Journal, Vol. 43, no 2, (2014), 151–173.
- [15] A. El Kacimi Alaoui, S. Matsumoto and T. Moussa, *Currents invariant by a Kleinian group*, Hokkaido Mathematical Journal, Vol. 26, (1997) 177–202.
- [16] A. El Kacimi Alaoui. Invariants de certaines actions de Lie instabilité du caractère Fredholm, Manuscripta Mathematica 74.1 (1992): 143-160.
- [17] G. B. Folland, A course in abstract harmonic analysis, Chapman and Hall/CRC (2016).
- [18] W. Greub, S. Halperin and R. Vanstone, Connections, Curvature and Cohomology, Vol. I, Academic Press 1972/1973.
- [19] W. Greub, S. Halperin and R. Vanstone, Connections, Curvature and Cohomology, Vol. II, Academic Press 1972/1973.
- [20] S. I. Goldberg, Curvature and homology, Dover Publications, INC. Mineola, New York, (1998).
- [21] V. V. Gorbatsevich, On the envelopes of Abelian subgroups in connected Lie groups, Mathematical Notes, Vol 59, No. 2, p:141-147 (1996).
- [22] A. Haefliger, Differential Cohomology, In Differential Topology. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, (2010), 19–70.

- [23] E. Hewitt, K.A. Ross, Abstract harmonic analysis, Vol. 115, Springer-Verlag Berlin heidelberg (1963).
- [24] J. Hilgert and K.H. Neeb, Structure and geometry of Lie groups, Vol. 94, Springer Science & Business Media (2011).
- [25] M. W. Hirsch, Smooth actions of Lie groups and Lie algebras on manifolds. Journal of Fixed Point Theory and Applications, 10(2), 219-232.
- [26] K. H. Hofmann and S. A. Morris, *The Structure of Compact Groups*, de Gruyter Studies in Mathematics, 25. (1998).
- [27] S. Katok, Fuchsian groups, University of Chicago press (1992).
- [28] A. W. Knapp, *Lie groups beyond an introduction*, Vol. 140. Springer Science & Business Media, 2013.
- [29] T. Kobayashi, Discontinuous groups and Clifford-Klein forms of pseudo-riemannian homogeneous manifolds. Algebraic and analytic methods in representation theory, Perspectives in Mathematics 17, Academic Press, 99-168. 2001.
- [30] T. Kobayashi, On discontinuous group actions on non-Riemannian homogeneous spaces. arxiv 2006.
- [31] T. Kobayashi, *Proper action on a homogeneous space of reductive type*. Mathematische Annalen, 285(2), 249-263. 1989.
- [32] S. Kobayashi, Transformation groups in differential geometry, Springer Science & Business Media. (2012).
- [33] S. Kulkarni, Proper actions and Pseudo-Riemannian Space Forms. Advances in Mathematics 40, 10-51 (1981).
- [34] J. M. Lee, Introduction to Smooth Manifolds, Springer, New York, NY. (2013).
- [35] M. V. Losik, The cohomology of the complex of G-invariant forms on G-manifolds. II, Ann. Global Anal. Geom. 15, no. 2, 141–152 (1997).
- [36] M. Nabil, Universal Principal Bundles and Classifying Spaces, Lecture Notes MIMS-Institut. Proceeding de EMA "Outils de topologie algébriques et géométriques" (2018).
- [37] E. Meinrenken, *Group actions on manifolds*. Lecture Notes, University of Toronto, Spring 2003. http://www.math.toronto.edu/mein/teaching/LectureNotes/action.pdf

- [38] J. Milnor, Construction of universal bundles II. Annals of Mathematics, p. 430-436 (1956).
- [39] Y. Morita, A topological necessary condition for the existence of compact Clifford-Klein forms. arxiv: 2014
- [40] Y. Morita, Homogeneous spaces of nonreductive type locally modelling no compact manifold. arxiv: 2015
- [41] Y. Morita, A cohomological obstruction to the existence of compact Clifford-Klein forms. arxiv: 2016
- [42] K. Nomizu, On the cohomology of compact homogeneous spaces of nilpotent Lie groups, Annals of Mathematics, (1954), 531–538.
- [43] R.S. Palais, A global formulation of the Lie theory of transformation groups. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., 22. No. 2, 1961.
- [44] R.S. Palais, On the existence of slices for non-compact Lie groups. Annals of Mathematics. bf 73 No. 2, 1961.
- [45] M. S. Raghunathan, Discrete subgroups of Lie groups, Springer-Verlag (1972).
- [46] X. Tang, Y. J. Yao, and W. Zhang, *Hopf cyclic cohomology and Hodge theory for proper actions*, J. Noncommut. Geom. 7 (2013), 885–905.
- [47] A. F. Tenorio, J. C. Benjumea and J. Núnez, *The maximal abelian dimension of linear algebras formed by strictly upper triangular matrices*, Theoretical and Mathematical Physics, 152(3), 1225-1233 (2007).
- [48] N. Tholozan, Volume and non-existence of compact Clifford-Klein forms. arxiv: 2015
- [49] F. W. Warner, Foundations of differentiable manifolds and Lie groups, Vol. 94, Springer Science, (2013).
- [50] L. Winkelmann, How Frequent Are Discrete Cyclic Subgroups of Semisimple Lie Groups? Documenta Mathematica Vol 6 N. 1 p:31-37 (2001).
- [51] M. Wüstner. On closed abelian subgroups of real Lie groups, Journal of Lie Theory 7: 279-285 (1997).
- [52] S. T. Yau, Remarks on the group of isometries of a Riemannian manifold. Topology, 16(3), 239-247 (1977).